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P R E A M B L E  

 

 

 

 

It is with great sadness that Business & Decision announced, on 1 February 2016, the 
passing of its founder and Chairman and Managing Director, Patrick Bensabat, on 29 
January 2016. 

 

An Ordinary General Meeting was convened and held on 22 March 2016. In the meantime, 
the Group was managed by Christophe Dumoulin, acting in his capacity of Deputy Managing 
Director and member of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
In accordance with statutory provisions, the Ordinary General Meeting of 22 March 2016 
was convened to approve the appointment of new directors to the Board of Directors, which, 
following the death of Patrick Bensabat, only consisted of two directors and thus no longer 
complied with the minimum number of directors required by law. 
 
 
During this Ordinary General Meeting, the Company shareholders approved the 
appointment, as directors, of Tova Bensabat, Christophe Dumoulin (both having resigned 
from their director positions, effective from the date of the next Ordinary General Meeting to 
ensure that all director terms of office had the same duration), Jeremy Bensabat and 
Business & Decision Ingénierie (holding company controlled by the Bensabat family).  
 
 
A Board of Directorsô meeting was held as soon as the General Meeting was over during 
which, Christophe Dumoulin was appointed Business & Decision Chairman and Managing 
Director. He is assisted in his mission by a Group Executive Committee, the composition of 
which remains unchanged, with Vincent Rivière, Ada Sekirin and Ian Huckle each heading 
one of the Groupôs three geographic areas of activity in the world. 
 
 
This reference document for 2015 (1 January to 31 December) presents Business & 
Decision at the end of the financial period. It also contains all information relating to 
management changes decided upon after the 2015 closing date and Patrick Bensabat's 
death.  
 
 
Business & Decision continues to operate with the support and devotion of the Bensabat 
family, under the same conditions and with the same level of commitment towards its 
customers and partners. The Groupôs management team and employees remain fully 
dedicated to their mission. The Groupôs strategy, as well as all associated action plans, have 
been in place for years and are ongoing. Business & Decision draws on its customersô and 
partnersô loyalty and recognition to drive the companyôs growth and provide innovative and 
high-quality services. 
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G R O U P  P R E S E N T A T I O N  

 
 

Financial information ï FINANCIAL COMMUNICATION PROVISIONAL CALENDER 
 
 
28 June 2016:  Shareholdersô General Meeting for the 2015 financial period (Paris, 5:30pm) 
28 July 2016:  2016 H1 turnover after close of market (5:35pm) 
31 August 2016:  2016 Half-Year results, after close of market (5:35pm) 
6 September 2016: Analysts and investors meeting ï 2016 Half-Year results (5:30pm) 
27 October 2016:  Third 2016 quarter turnover after close of market (5:35pm) 
31 January 2017:  2016 financial period annual turnover after close of market (5:35pm) 
 

 
Publications for shareholders 
 
Business & Decision is committed to following AMFôs and Euronext Parisô recommendations as 
regards financial information. Every year, Business & Decision publishes a reference document in 
French, certified by the AMF and available on demand at Company headquarters and on the 
corporate website (www.businessdecision.com). An English version is also provided on the site. 
Business & Decision issues news releases, both in French and English, on its financial results (as 
per the mentioned calendar) and on any other information of a financial nature. These releases 
are widely distributed and relayed by the Company website.  
Statutory financial information is published in the "Bulletin des annonces légales obligatoiresǌ 
(Bulletin of mandatory legal announcements). Business & Decision regularly meets up with 
financial analysts, namely during half-yearly and annual resultsô presentation meetings (SFAF 
meetings). All the elements are available on the website. 
 
 
This reference document includes all the elements of the annual financial report mentioned in 
Article L.451-1-2 of the French monetary and financial code and in Article 222-3 of the AMF 
general regulations, as well as all mandatory information about the Board of Directorsô 
management report to the General Meeting held on 25 June 2015 required as per Articles L.225-
100 and L.225-100-2 of the French Code of Commerce. 
 
 
Business & Decision Group Identity 
 
Business & Decision, international Consulting and Systems Integration Group, is a leader in 
Business Intelligence (BI) and CRM, and a key player in e-Business. The Group assists 
companies in the successful implementation of high value added projects and helps customers 
meet innovation challenges such as Big Data and Digital transformation. Its functional and 
technological expertise is recognised by all of the marketôs key software vendors, with whom it 
has managed to forge partnerships. With a unique level of expertise in its areas of specialisation, 
Business & Decision provides solutions that are specific to activity sectors and business 
departments. Business & Decision operates across 15 countries and currently employs over 
2,500 people in France and worldwide.          
 
All financial information is published according to, and in compliance with the principles of, the 
financial communication calendar on the Groupôs website: www.group.businessdecision.com. 
 
 
 

Business & Decision 
 

EURONEXT Paris, Compartment C 
ISIN: FR 0000078958-BND/Mnemo : BND 

Sector: 9530, Software & Computer Services 
Reuters: BZDK.PA  

Bloomberg: BND:FR 
 

153, rue de Courcelles 
75017 Paris 

 
Tel. +33 (0)1 56 21 21 21 

 
Contact: 

finance@businessdecision.com 
 

http://www.group.businessdecision.com/
mailto:finance@businessdecision.com
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HIGH VALUE ADDED SERVICES 
 
 
Business & Decision is an international Group operating in the digital services company (DSC) 
sector. A Consulting and Systems Integration specialist, the Group was founded in 1992 and is 
recognised as an expert and a leader in all of its chosen areas of specialisation. 
 
 
As a specialist, the Group has managed to deploy, during all the stages of its development, the 
necessary methods, tools and know-how to help its teams bring the latest technological 
innovations to customers.  
Data Management, including all forms of collection, storage, processing, analysis and output, is 
thus at the heart of the Group's activity since its creation and is a constant source of innovation, 
namely through the emergence of Big Data. 
 Associated skills are specifically developed in order to offer services in high-growth potential 
areas such as Social Business, Mobility, Analytics, Cloud Computing and Security of Information 
Systems, together referred to as SMACS. 
 
 
 
CORE AREAS OF EXPERTISE 
 
 
 
BUSINESS INTELLIGENCE  
 
Business Intelligence is the vast decision support IT field that affects all decision support functions 
of a company: finance, procurement, supply chain, production, HR, sales or marketing. The 
ultimate goal is to help clients drive their company through rough economic times. Business & 
Decision is one of the first world leaders included in Gartnerôs BI Magic Quadrant. Business 
Intelligence accounts for 65% of the Groupôs activity and is evolving, through the integration of 
innovative solutions, towards the field now known as Data Management. 
 
 
CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT 
 
Business & Decision draws on its dual tools and business expertise in Customer Relationship 
Management to help enterprises manage Customer data (Analytical CRM) and standardise the 
processes that use this data (Operational CRM). At the heart of the information system, CRM 
helps address a wide scope of needs such as enhancing customer loyalty, segmentation and 
scoring, multichannel marketing campaigns management, 360-degree view and contact centres. 
In 2015, Business & Decision is amongst the world leaders selected by Gartner in its CRM Magic 
Quadrant. CRM accounts for 16% of the Groupôs activity and now includes an Analytics 
dimension due to the need to take account of customer behaviour and actions on social media 
and networks. 
 
 
E-BUSINESS 
 
e-business activity is handled by several main divisions: the Interakting Web agency, Eolas, as 
well as all operational organisations that help customers increase their power of attraction in the 
digital world by putting its creative know-how and information technologies expertise at their 
disposal. Eolas is specialised in 24/7 online managed services and application hosting, and 
outsourcing in fields such as e-commerce, e-administration and e-communication. e-Business 
accounts for 19% of the Groupôs activity with high value-added services in areas dealing with the 
application of new Internet and mobility toolsô uses.    
 
 
 
DEVELOPMENT FOCUSES  
 
In 2015, Business & Decision pursued its specialisation strategy and development by 
consolidating its operational expertise in Big Data implementation. To do so it launched an 
ambitious recruitment plan, namely in the field of Data Science, as well as a new employee 
recruitment plan for all of its operational agencies in France and in other major countries of 
activity. 
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  
A T  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 5  

 
 
 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ï Part 1 
 

úK Notes 2015 2014

Turnover 224,236 204,944

Other income 1,054 813

Total current operating income 1 225,290 205,757

Payroll costs 155,467 141,140

External charges 54,485 49,087

Taxes other than income taxes 4,332 4,277

Depreciation and amortisation expense 5,103 2,433

Total current operating expenses 2 219,387 196,937

Current operating results 5,903 8,820

Percentage of turnover 2.6% 4.3%

Other (operating) income and expenses 3 -1,158 -705

Operating results 4,745 8,115

Percentage of turnover 2.12% 3.96%

Trading revenue (from cash instruments) 68 128

Net financial debt cost -1,659 -1,515

Other (financial) income and expenses -471 -699

Financial results 4 -2,062 -2,086

Tax expense 5 -1,759 -2,003

Net result from continued activities 924 4,026

Discontinued operations 6 -666

Net results 259 4,026

Of which:

- Group Share 987 4,143

- Non-controlling interests 7 -728 -117

(in shares and euros) 2015 2014

Net Income - Group share per share

Weighted average number of shares 8 7,882,975 7,882,975

Net Income (Group share) per share ï continued activities0.2097 0.5256

Net Income (Group share) per share ï discontinued activities-0.0845 0.0000

Diluted weighted average number of shares 8 7,882,975 7,882,975

Diluted net income (Group share) per share ï continued activities0.2097 0.5256

Diluted net income (Group share) per share ï discontinued activities-0.0845 0.0000  
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ï Part 2 
 

 

 
 

Statement of financial position 

(úK)

ASSETS

Goodwill 9 34,297 32,730

Intangible fixed assets 10 5,774 5,601

Tangible fixed assets 10 16,247 16,824

Non-current financial assets 10 3,750 2,862

Deferred tax assets 5 1,584 2,040

Total non-current assets 61,652 60,057

Customers 11 75,419 74,043

Corporate & welfare-scheme receivables and Tax claims11 14,414 14,364

Sundry debtors 11 5,207 5,862

Cash and cash equivalents 12 8,686 12,169

Total current assets 103,726 106,438

TOTAL ASSETS 165,378 166,495

2015 period 2014 periodNotes

 
 
 

(úK)

LIABILITIES

Share capital 13 552 552

Share premiums 13 29,207 29,207

Consolidated reserves 13 31,187 25,329

Profit/loss for the financial year 13 987 3,878

Total shareholders' equity allo. to parent  

cpy.owners 61,933 58,966

Non-controlling interests 13 -172 525

Following the acquisition of shares in Feedback & Co, a change in scope of ú54K was recognised in shareholdersô equity.61,761 59,491

Provisions 14 3,888 3,497

Financial liabilities 15 12,994 16,160

Deferred tax liabilities 5 882 1,169

Total non-current liabilities 17,764 20,826

Trade and accounts payables 16 12,764 11,453

Current taxes 16 1,497 2,255

Financial liabilities 15 4,688 4,345

Current bank loans 12 17,761 20,189

Other current liabilities 16 49,143 47,227

Total current liabilities 85,853 85,469

TOTAL LIABILITIES 165,378 165,784

2015 periodNotes 2014 period* 

 
 
(*) See IV.2  Restatement of 2014 consolidated financial statements in compliance with IAS 8. 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 

úK Note
2015 period 2014 period* 

Cash flow from operating activities

Current Operating income 5,903 8,557

Less non cash or non operating items 3,190 597

+/- Depreciation and provisions 2 5,546 2,035

+/- Financial income and expenses 4 -403 -624

+/- Discontinued operations 6 -666

+/- Gains on disposal of fixed assets -129 -109

+/- Restructuring costs 3 -945 -705

+/- Goodwill depreciation 3 -213

Cash flow 9,093 9,154

- Paid taxes 5 -2,121 -995

Change in working capital from operating activities 544 3,876

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7,516 12,035

Cash flow from investment activities

Acquisition of fixed assets 10 -4,870 -5,981

Transfer of fixed assets 10 249 906

Business combination, net of cash acquired 31 -537

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
-4,590 -5,612

Cash flow from financing activities

Treasury shares repurchase

Transfer of financial items 0 50

Increase in borrowings 15 1,578 2,902

Borrowings repayment 15 -4,694 -5,856

Net financial interests paid (including capital leases) 4 -1,659 -1,513

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -4,775 -4,417

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT -1,852 2,007

Cash and cash equivalents ï beginning of year9,739 9,090

Marketable securities 12 2,300 2,632

Cash and cash equivalents 12 9,852 7,029

Bank loans 12 -2,412 -570

Exchange rate effect -1,356 723

Cash and cash equivalents ï end of year8,215 9,740

Marketable securities 12 2,779 2,300

Cash and cash equivalents 12 5,907 9,852

Bank loans (1) 12 -471 -2,412

Exchange rate effect 329 -1,356

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT -1,852 2,007
 

 
 

(1) On-balance sheet receivables transferred to the factoring company and financed by the latter, amounting to 

ú17,291K (as compared to ú17,776K at 31 December 2014) (See Note 10) 
(*) See IV.2 Restatement of 2014 consolidated financial statements in compliance with IAS 8 
 
The cash flow statementôs layout has changed in order to better highlight the company's operational capacity to 
generate cash, as well as its link to the current operating income. 
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CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERSô EQUITY 
 

úK Capital
Share 

premiums

Concolidated 

reserves

Profit/loss 

for the 

financial 

year

Treasury 

shares/SO

Currency 

translation 

adjustmen

ts

Total 

shareholders

' equity - 

Group share

Non-

controlling 

interests

TOTAL 

SHAREHOL

DERS' 

EQUITY

Shareholders' equity at 

31/12/2013
552 29,283 34,193 -7,219 -503 -622 55,686 638 56,323

Error Correction -112 -507 -618 -618

Restated shareholders' 

equity at 31/12/2013
552 29,283 34,082 -7,725 -503 -622 55,068 638 55,705

Appropriation N-1 -7,725 7,725 0 0

Transactions with minority 

interests
0 0

Merger bonus -76 -76 -76

Error Correction -263 -62 -325 -325

Consolidated profit/loss 

for the financial year
4,142 4,142 -117 4,025

PIDR actuarial gain/loss -105 -105 -105

Gains/Losses directly 

accounted for in 

shareholders' equity

265 265 4 269

Net result and 

gains/losses directly 

accounted for in 

shareholders' equity

0 -76 -7,830 11,604 0 203 3,901 -113 3,788

Restated shareholders' 

equity at 31/12/2014
552 29,207 26,251 3,878 -503 -419 58,966 525 59,492

Appropriation N-1 3,878 -3,878 0 0

Transactions with minority 

interests
0 31 31

Consolidated profit/loss 

for the financial year
987 987 -728 259

PIDR actuarial gain/loss -269 -269 -269

Gains/Losses directly 

accounted for in 

shareholders' equity

2,252 2,252 2,252

Net result and 

gains/losses directly 

accounted for in 

shareholders' equity

0 0 3,609 -2,891 0 2,252 2,970 -697 2,273

Shareholders' equity at 

31/12/2015
552 29,207 29,860 987 -503 1,833 61,935 -172 61,764
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  

A T  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 5  
 
 
 
 

I HIGHLIGHTS OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
Increase in turnover and staff 
 
The turnover increased from ú204.9M at 31 December 2014 to ú224.2M at 31 December 2015. At 
comparable exchange rate, consolidation scope and accounting method, this shows a 5.94% rise when 
compared to the 2014 financial year. 
 
The average workforce in 2015 comprises of 2,554 employees as compared to 2,352 in 2014. 
 
Restructuring and reorganisation operations 
 
During the financial periodôs first Half-Year, the Belgian subsidiary Business & Decision Consult 
acquired the business assets of Uchrony, a digital specialist, for ú193K (2015 turnover: ú816K). 
 
During 2015's second Half-year, Business & Decision UK Ltd was created to develop a Business 
Intelligence activity in the United Kingdom. Business & Decision holds 50% of the companyôs shares, 
with company employees owning the rest. 

 
 
II POST-PERIOD EVENTS 
 
Governance 
On 29 January 2016, the founder and Chairman and Managing Director, Patrick Bensabat, passed 
away. Acting in his capacity of Deputy Managing Director and member of the Board of Directors, 
Christophe Dumoulin managed the Group for an interim period.  
At a shareholdersô General Meeting, held on 22 March, a new Board of Directors was elected, which 
met on the same day and appointed Christophe Dumoulin as Chairman and Managing Director. 
 
Financing 
The Group negotiated with its banks a restructuring of its medium-term debt as follows: 
-  the early repayment on 30 March 2016 of the remaining balance of the syndicated loan granted in 

May 2013 by a pool of banks 
- and the setting up of several medium-term loans amounting to 7.75 million euros, with maturities 

ranging from 2020 to 2022 (contract negotiations currently under way). 
 
Characteristics of the new financing arrangements would be the following: 
- 6.5 million euro-loan from a pool of three banks, to be repaid over 4 years, including a CAPEX line 

of 2.5 million euros for investments$$. 

- 1.25 million granted by the BPI as a growth loan (prêt de croissance) to be repaid over 7 years with 
a 2-year grace period.  

 
These new loans (except for the BPI growth loan) would be secured by a senior pledge of all the shares 
of the Business & Decision France subsidiary, pari passu, in favour of the involved banks. 
 
 
III CONSOLIDATION SCOPE 
 
III.1 The Groupôs companies 
 

Parent company: BUSINESS & DECISION SA 
153, rue de Courcelles 
75817 PARIS Cedex 17 

SIRET number 384 518 114 00036 
 
 

¶ Business & Decision France, 153, rue de Courcelles 75017 PARIS, SIREN number: 480 
893 387 

¶ Business & Decision Interactive Eolas, 8, rue Voltaire 38000 GRENOBLE, SIREN number: 382 
198 794 

¶ Business & Decision Corporate Services, 153 rue de Courcelles, 75017 PARIS, SIREN 
number: 520 079 252 

¶ Business & Decision University, 153 rue de Courcelles 75017 PARIS, SIREN number: 381 
837 764 

¶ Business & Decision Life Sciences, 153 rue de Courcelles 75017 PARIS, SIREN number: 790 
953 384 

¶ Metaphora, 153 rue de Courcelles 75017 PARIS, SIREN number: 397 447 319 

¶ Camondo Consulting, 40, rue de Chateaudun 75009 PARIS, SIREN number: 790 257 729 

¶ Business & Decision Holding France, 153rue de Courcelles 75017 PARIS, SIREN number: 790 
212 351 

¶ CERI Médical, 153 rue de Courcelles 75017 PARIS, SIREN number: 334 689 502 
¶ Herewecan, 153  rue de Courcelles 75017 PARIS, SIREN number: 493 954 770 

¶ SCI Green Mangin, Rue du Général Mangin, 38100 GRENOBLE, SIREN number: 515 280 980 
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¶ Business & Decision Benelux, 141 rue Saint Lambert - B1200 BRUSSELS, BELGIUM 

¶ Business & Decision Life Sciences, 141 rue Saint Lambert - B1200 BRUSSELS, BELGIUM 

¶ Business & Decision Luxembourg, 10B rue des Mérovingiens, L-8070 BERTRANGE - 
LUXEMBOURG 

¶ Business & Decision Netherlands, Arthur Van Schedelstraat 650, 3511 MJ Utrecht, 
NETHERLANDS 

¶ Business & Decision Russie, UlitsaIbragimova, 31 build 50, office 303,105318 Moscow, 
RUSSIA 

¶ Business & Decision (Suisse) SA, New Tech Center, Rue de Lyon 109-111, P.O Box 328, 
1211 GENEVE 13, SWITZERLAND 

¶ Business & Decision Life Sciences AG C/O BDO Ag - Münchensteinerstrasse 43, 4052 Basel, 
SWITZERLAND 

¶ Business & Decision AG,Worblentalstrasse 99, CH-3063 ITTIGEN, SWITZERLAND 

¶ CASMACO Ltd, Cobalt Business Exchange/Park, Newcastle Upon Tyne, NE27 0QJ ï GB 

¶ Business & Decision North America LLC, 301 Pointe Claire, QC H9R 5K4 CANADA 

¶ Business & Decision North America Inc, 900, West Valley Rd, Suite 900, Wayne, PA 19087 ï 
1830 USA 

¶ Business & Decision UK Holding Ltd, 7 Camberwell Way, Doxford International Business Park, 
SR3 3XN, Sunderland, GB 

¶ Business & Decision España, C/Marqués de Valdeiglesias 3,5°, 28004 MADRID, SPAIN  
N° M 283887 

¶ Business & Decision Latam SAC, Avenida la Encalada 1257, Piso 14 Santiago de Surco ï 
LIMA 33, PERU  

¶ Business & Decision Maroc - 265 Bd Zerktouni 2éme étage N° 22  CASABLANCA, MOROCCO 

¶ Business & Decision Mauritius, 2eétage, Bat BG Court, Route St Jean, 4 Bornes, Mauritius  

¶ Business & Decision Tunisie, résidence du Lac 1053, Berges du Lac - TUNIS ï Tunisia 

¶ Business & Decision UK Ltd, Cbx Central, Silver Fox Way, Newcastle Upon Tyne,  
NE27 0QJ, UK 

¶ Creative Probers, 144/1 20th Main Road, 1st Stage 1st cross Btm Layout, Bangalor  
Karnataka 560 06P Bangalore, INDIA 

 

III.2 Consolidated companiesô organisational structure 
 

All Group companies are fully consolidated.  

France

CAMONDO

(100%)

HEREWECAN 

(76%)

BDU

(100%)

EOLAS

(100%)

Metaphora

(100%)

SCI Green 
Mangin 

(66,67%)

B&D  France 

(100%)

B&D  Life 
Sciences 
(100%)

GIE  
Corporate

(100%)

USA

B&D  NA PA 

(100%)

B&D  NA 
Canada 

(100%)

Benelux

B&D  Benelux

(100%)

BD  Life Sces

Belgique

(100%)

Ceri Medical

(100%)

B&D  
Netherlands

(100%)

UK

B&D  Holding 
UK 

(100%)

Casmaco

(90%)

Suisse

B&D Suisse 
AG

(100%)

BD Suisse 
SA

(100%)

Espagne

B&D  
Espagne

(100%)

Reste du 

monde

B&D Maurice

(70%)

B&D Russie

(100%)

B&D Maroc

(100%)

B&D Latam

(90%)

Creative
Probers

(100%)

B&D  Tunisie

(100%)

B&D 
Luxembourg

(100%)

B&D

UK Ltd

(50%)

Business & Decision SA

 
 

 
 
III.3 Exclusion from consolidation 
 
No company for which the controlling percentage exceeded 20% was excluded from the consolidation 
scope. 
 
IV ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, RULES AND METHODS 
 
The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2015 were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 
2016. The statements shall only be considered final after their approval at the shareholders' Ordinary General Meeting. 
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Business & Decision (hereinafter referred to as "the Company") is a company based in France. The consolidated 
financial statements for the financial period ended 31 December 2015 include the company and its subsidiaries (all 
together referred to as "the Group"). Accounts are prepared in Euros, the companyôs functional currency. 
 
 
 
 

IV.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements 
 

Pursuant to European regulation nÁ1606/2002 of 19 July 2002, the Groupôs consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the International accounting Standards, as adopted by the European 
Union at 31 December 2015 and the application of which is mandatory at that time, with a comparison to 2014 
drawn according to the same system of reference. 
These international standards consist of the IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards), IAS 
(International Accounting Standards), IFRS IC (International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretation 
Committee) and SIC (Standard Interpretations Committee) interpretations. 
All the texts adopted by the European Union are available on the European commission website, at the 
following address: http://ec.europa.eu/finance/accounting/ias/index_fr.htm 
 

All new standards and amendments to existing standards, coming into effect on 1 January 2015 and published 
in the Official Journal of the European Union as at closing date, have been applied. 
- The retrospective application of IFRIC 21, which sets out the recognition criteria for liabilities associated with levy 

payments, other than income tax, did not have a material effect on the 2014 and 2015 consolidated income 
statements. The effect of the IFRIC 21 interpretation on the Groupôs equity at 1 January 2014 and at 1 January 
2015 has not been subject to restatement. 

- Amendment to IAS 19 ï Defined benefit plans: employee contributions. 
- Annual improvements to IFRS (2010-2012) ï various standards. 
 

The accounting principles used are consistent with the ones used to prepare the consolidated statements for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2014, except for the following newly adopted standards, with which 
compliance is compulsory for the financial period commencing on or after 1 January 2015, and for which the 
Group had not decided on early application: 

- IFRIC 21- Levies 
- Annual improvements 2011 - 2013 

These texts have no material effect on the Groupôs financial statements. 
 

The Group has not opted for the early application of standards, amendments and interpretations, the 
application of which is not mandatory at 1 January 2015. These texts are the following:  
 

¶ Texts adopted by the European Union: 
- Annual improvements to IFRS, Cycle 2010-2012 (applicable to financial periods commencing on or after 01/02/ 

2015) 

- Amendment to IAS 19 ï Defined benefit plans: employee contributions (applicable to financial periods commencing 
on or after 01/02/ 2015) 

- Amendments to IAS 1 ï Disclosure initiative (applicable to financial periods commencing on or after 01/01/ 2016) 
- Amendments to IFRS 11 ï Accounting for acquisition of interests in joint operations (applicable to financial periods 

commencing on or after 01/01/ 2016) 
- Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 ï Acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation (applicable to financial 

periods commencing on or after 01/01/ 2016) 
- Annual improvements to IFRS - Cycle 2012-2014 (applicable to financial periods commencing on or after 01/01/ 

2016) 
 

¶ Texts not yet adopted by the European Union: 

- IFRS 9 standard ï Financial instruments and amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and IAS 39 ï General hedge 
accounting, the application of which will be mandatory as from 1 January 2018 according to the IASB. This standard 
sets the accounting and financial information principles for financial assets and financial liabilities. These principles 
will replace those currently set out in IAS 39 - Financial instruments. The degree to which it will affect the amount 
and the schedule of recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, as well as income, cannot be reasonably 
evaluated at this stage. 

- IFRS 15 standard ï Revenue from contracts with customers, the application of which will be mandatory as from 1 
January 2018 according to the IASB. This standard defines the revenue recognition model and will replace the IAS 

18 standards ï Revenue and IAS 11 ï Construction contracts. The degree to which it will affect the amount and the 
schedule of recognition of Group revenue cannot be reasonably evaluated at this stage. 

- IFRS 16 standard ï Leases, the application of which will be mandatory as from 1 January 2019 according to the 
IASB. This standard, which will replace the eponymous standard IAS 17, sets out the principles for the recognition of 
leases and will lead to the recording of most leases in the lessee's balance sheet according to a unique model 
(lessees will no longer have to classify leases as operating leases or financial leases). Its impact cannot be 
reasonably estimated at this stage. 

- Amendments to IAS 12 ï Recognition of deferred taxes for unrealised losses (the application of which will be 
mandatory as from 1 January 2017 according to the IASB). 

- Amendments to IAS 7 ï Disclosure initiative (the application of which will be mandatory as from 1 January 2017 
according to the IASB). 

 

The potential impact of these texts on the consolidated accounts is currently being evaluated. 
 

IV.2 Restatement of 2014 consolidated financial statements in compliance with IAS 8 
 

During the 2015 financial period, an error was detected with respect to the Peruvian subsidiary, B&D Latam. 
This error was due to omissions and accounting mistakes made during financial periods 2013 and 2014.  
Balance sheet items that had been corrected at 1 January 2014 and 31 December 2014, are presented in the 
table below: 
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Balance sheet items in PENK in úK (31/12/14 rate)

Trade receivables -1,931 -542

Tax claims -205 -58

Other assets -335 -94

Cash and cash equivalent -57 -16

Total Assets -2,528 -710

Consolidated reserves (2013 correction) -2,419 -680

Trade payables 828 233

Total Liabilities -1,591 -447

Total 2014 correction -937 -263  
Since this error did not have a material effect on the income at 31 December 2014, the 2014 income statement 
was not restated. Consequently, basic and diluted earnings per share for the presented periods are not 
modified.  
Adequate measures have been taken, right from the 1st 2015 Half-year, to strengthen the reliability of B&D 
Latamôs accounts and to adapt internal control systems accordingly. 

 
IV.3 Use of estimates and judgments 
 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires, on behalf of management, the use of 
judgments, estimates and assumptions likely to have an impact on the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenditure and on the financial information contained in the notes to the accounts pertaining to 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. The estimates and assumptions that 
may result in a significant adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are essentially related to: 
- Estimation of the recoverable amount for goodwill, which is tested for impairment at least once a year 
- Recognition of the turnover and related costs associated with long-term contracts whose production volumes are 

based on operational assumptions 
- Provisions and retirement commitments estimates 
- Recognition of deferred tax assets 
 

Assumptions, estimates or assessments are based on existing information or situations at the time at which the 
accounts are drawn which may, in the future, turn out to be somewhat different.   
The Group has accounted for the economic and financial crisis context in its estimates, namely whilst preparing 
its business plans and in the various discount rates used both for impairment tests and provisions calculation. 

 
IV.4 Presentation of financial statements 
 

In compliance with IFRS requirements, the consolidated financial statements of Business & Decision Group are 
prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for some financial assets and liabilities that are appraised and 
recorded at fair value. 
 

Current and non-current assets and liabilities: 
 

Assets intended to be disposed of or consumed during the Groupôs normal course of operations, assets held 
with a view to being sold in the twelve months following the year-end as well as cash and cash equivalents are 
considered current. All other assets are considered non-current.  
Liabilities falling due during the Groupôs normal course of operations or in the twelve months following the year-
end are considered current. All other liabilities are considered non-current.  
 
IV.5 Consolidation methods 
 

A subsidiary is an entity directly or indirectly controlled by the Group. Control is deemed present when the 
Group has power over an entity, is exposed or has the right to variable returns due to its involvement in the 
entity and when it can use this power over the entity to influence the amount of these returns. To determine 
whether control is present, the Group takes into account all relevant facts and circumstances to evaluate its 
control over a given entity, such as rights stemming from contractual agreements or potential voting rights held 
by the Group if they are significant. 
As regards subsidiaries acquired during the financial period, only post-acquisition results are included in the 
consolidated statement of income. For subsidiaries transferred during the financial period or over which control 
is no longer present, only pre-transfer results are included in the consolidated statement of income. 
Inter-subsidiary transactions as well as assets and liabilities are eliminated. 
 
IV.6 Length of financial year 
 

Financial statements cover a 12-month period. 
31 December is the financial year closing date for Business & Decision company, as well as its subsidiaries, 
except for the CreativeProbers company (31 March). 

 
IV.7 Segment reporting 
 

The IFRS 8 standard ï Operating segments requires presentation of information associated with the Groupôs 
operating segments, obtained from internal reporting and used by management to make investment decisions 
and assess performance. The Group's operating segments are divided into geographical areas: 
France, Benelux (Belgium, Luxembourg, the Netherlands), United Kingdom, Switzerland, North America (USA 
and Canada), Rest of the world (Mauritius, Spain, Russia, Peru, Tunisia, Morocco, India). 

 
IV.8 Principles and Evaluation methods 
 

IV.8.1 Business combination 
 

¶ Business combinations as from 1 January 2010 
 

Business combinations are recognised using the acquisition method in compliance with revised IFRS 3.  
 

Acquisition cost is equal to the transferred consideration (including contingent payment), measured at fair value 
on the day of acquisition, plus the amount of any non-controlling interest and, where applicable, the amount of 
any previously-held equity interest at fair value.  
 

For every business combination, the acquirer may choose to measure non-controlling interests either at fair 
value (full goodwill method) or as their proportionate share of the acquired entityôs net assets at fair value. 
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All borne acquisition-related costs are accounted for as expenses in the financial period during which 
corresponding services are delivered. 
 

When the Group acquires a company, acquired assets and liabilities are measured at acquisition-date fair 
value. This fair value is the entry value of acquired assets and liabilities, which are then valued according to the 
various standards which are applicable to them.  
Goodwill is calculated as the difference between acquisition cost, as defined above, and acquired assetsô and 
liabilitiesô fair value. 
 

When business combination takes place in stages, investment held by the acquirer prior to obtaining control is 
measured at acquisitionïdate fair value and any gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss for the difference 
between the fair value and the carrying amount of the previously held equity interest in the acquiree. 
 
Contingent payments are recorded at acquisition-date fair value. Any post-acquisition adjustments to these 
contingent payments is recognised in the income statement for the period, unless it occurs within the 
measurement period (i.e. one year from acquisition date) and results from new information allowing a more 
accurate estimate than the one calculated at the time of take over. In which case, the adjustment is recorded 
against goodwill. 
 

¶ Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 
 

These business combinations were recognised under the previous version of IFRS 3. The main differences 
between the old and new version of IFRS 3, in terms of application, are listed hereafter: 
- Transaction costs directly related to the acquisition were included in acquisition cost. 
- Non-controlling interests were measured as their proportionate share of the acquired entityôs net assets, measured 

at fair value. 

- Business combinations taking place in several stages were accounted for as such. Any additional share acquired did 
not affect previously recognised goodwill. 

- Contingent payments were recognised, if and only if, the Group had a present obligation likely to be settled, for 
which the value could be reliably determined. Changes to acquisition price adjustment estimates systematically 
impacted goodwill, without any time limitations. These clauses relating to acquisition cost post-adjustments remain 
applicable for business combinations recognised under the previous version of IFRS 3, i.e. that occurred before 1 
January 2010. 

 

¶ Goodwill 
 

The identification and final valuation operations for assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an acquired 
entity should be complete within 12 months from the acquisition date. Beyond this period, fair value 
adjustments are recorded in the results. 
 

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least once a year and as soon as there are indications of a loss in carrying 
value.  
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity and any fair adjustment to the accounting value of 
assets and liabilities resulting from this acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
converted at financial year end. 
If the business combination was performed in favourable conditions, negative goodwill is recognised. It is also 
known as "badwill" and is recorded as income on the acquisition date. 
 

¶ Options chosen during transition to IFRS 
 

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2004 have not been restated in accordance with the option provided 
by IFRS 1 "First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards." 
 

IV.8.2 Intangible fixed assets 
 

Intangible fixed assets are valued at acquisition cost (intangible fixed assets purchased from a third party) or 
production cost (internally generated fixed assets) in accordance with IAS 38 and amortised over 12 months 
(current software packages), or 3, or 5 years (in-house software and ASP licences) on a straight-line basis. 
 

Expenses related to software development activities are recorded as assets in the balance sheet when the 
following conditions are met: 
- Technical feasibility required after project completion to implement or sell it 
- Companyôs project completion intent 
- Companyôs ability to use or sell the product resulting from the development project 
- Existence of probable future economic advantages and of a market for the product resulting from the project 
- Availability of technical, financial and other appropriate resources to complete the development process and use or 

sell the product resulting from the development project 
- Companyôs ability to reliably measure the expenses that are attributable to the development project 
 

Expenses recorded as assets comprise of indirect and direct labour costs which vary according to the number 
of days spent on the project.  

 

IV.8.3 Tangible fixed assets 
 

¶ Valuation 
Tangible fixed assets are valued at acquisition cost and in accordance with the conditions specified in IAS 16. 
Maintenance and repair costs are recognised as expenses in the financial statements of the year in which they 
are incurred. 
 

¶ Amortisation 
Depreciations are calculated according to the straight-line or diminishing balance method and on the basis of 
the estimated useful life. As provided for by IAS 16, each part of a tangible fixed asset item carrying a cost that 
is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately (so-called ñcomponent 
depreciationò). 
- Air conditioning     : straight-line over 20 years 
- Façade     : straight-line over 25 years 
- Building shell     : straight-line over 50 years 
- Fixtures and Fittings    : straight-line over 3 to 10 years 
- Used transport equipment    : straight-line over 3 years 
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- Office and IT equipment  : straight-line over 3 to 5 years or diminishing 
balance over 5 years 

- Furniture     : straight-line over 3 to 5 years 
 
IV.8.4 Leases 
 

In compliance with IAS 17, rental agreements in which the lessor holds a significant part of risks and benefits 
related to ownership are classified as operating lease. Such lease payments are recorded as expenses for the 
period in the Income statement. 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
benefits of ownership to the lessee. Finance leases are recognised as assets at their fair value or, if lower, at 
the present value of the minimum lease payments and the corresponding liability is recorded as a debt. 
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding 
liability. For each accounting period, the lease produces a depreciation cost for the depreciable asset as well 
as a finance charge. 
IV.8.5 Impairment of assets 
 

The book value of assets (with a finite or infinite useful life) are restated at each financial year end so as to 
identify any loss in value. If there is an indication of loss in value, an impairment test is carried out. 
In accordance with IAS 36, a loss in value is recognised as soon as the net carrying amount of the asset or the 
cash-generating unit (CGU) to which it belongs exceeds the recoverable amount. 
 

¶ Recoverable amount 
The recoverable amount of an individual asset cannot always be determined, namely when the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are independent from those of other assets. In such cases, it is the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs that is determined. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of the assetôs or cash generating unitôs fair value, less costs of disposal 
and its value in use. 
 

Value in use is based on future cash flows generated by the asset or cash generating unit, determined by a 
five-year business plan established by top management and discounted according to a pre-tax growth rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and specific risks for the tested asset or 
activity. Cash flows associated with short-term recoverable amounts are not discounted. 
 

¶ Impairment loss 
Impairment losses reduce the income of the financial period in which they are recognised. 
Impairment losses recorded in the previous years are recovered when a change is observed in the estimates 
used.  
The book value of an asset increased by a reversal of write down never exceeds the book value which would 
have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) if no loss in value had been recorded for the said 
asset during the previous years. 
Any impairment loss entered for goodwill is considered definitive. 
 

IV.8.6 Financial assets 
 

Investments and other deposits and guarantees due in more than a year and that the Group intends and is 
able to hold until maturity are classified as non-current assets. Equity investments in non-consolidated 
companies are analysed as available-for-sale financial assets. They are recognised at their acquisition cost 
where there is no market value in an active market to help reliably determine their fair value. If there is a 
significant or sustainable decrease of their value in use, impairment is then recognised. Value in use is 
determined based on the financial criteria that are best suited to each companyôs situation. The usual criteria 
are share of equity and expected return. 
 

IV.8.7 Trade and other receivables 
 

Trade receivables mainly comprise of customer receivables that correspond to the equivalent outstanding 
amount. Receivablesô initial face value is reduced, if appropriate, by the loss value associated with the risk of 
partial or total non-collectability of the receivables. 
 

IV.8.8 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

The "Cash and cash equivalents" item includes readily-available monetary liquidities and investments which 
are not subject to any significant change in value. Monetary investments are stated at their market value at 
closing date and changes in their value are recorded as ñcash inflowsò. The net cash flow appearing in the 
financial cash flow statement also includes bank overdrafts and liquid resources items. 
 

IV.8.9 Conversion methods 
 

¶ Transactions denominated in foreign currencies 
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into euros using the exchange rate in effect at the time of 
transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at closing date are converted 
into the functional currency using the exchange rate in effect at closing date. The discrepancies resulting from 
these conversions are recorded as income or expenditure. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recorded and maintained using the historical exchange rate in effect at the date of 
transaction. 
 

¶ Net investment in a foreign operation 
Outstanding receivables or debts payable that are related to foreign operations and are not expected or likely 
to be settled in a foreseeable future constitute, in substance, part of the entityôs net investment in this 
operation; associated foreign currency translation adjustments are initially recognised in equity until the 
disposal of the investment, at which time they are recorded as income/expense. 

 

¶ Financial statements denominated in foreign currencies 
The assets and liabilities of companies included in the consolidation scope and expressed in foreign currencies 
are converted into euros using the exchange rate in effect at the accountsô closing date. The income and 
expenditure of these companies are converted into euros using the average exchange rate for the period. 
Discrepancies resulting from these conversion operations are directly recorded in shareholdersô equity and will 
be reclassified as income on disposal of the subsidiary. 
 
IV.8.10 Shareholdersô equity 
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Ordinary shares are classified as shareholdersô equity instruments. Soft costs directly attributable to the 
issue of ordinary shares and stock options are deducted from shareholdersô equity net of tax. 
 

¶ Treasury shares  
The value of treasury shares, held within the context of share repurchase programmes, is recorded as a 
decrease in shareholdersô equity. Any income resulting from the transfer of treasury shares is reported directly 
in shareholdersô equity. 
 

¶ Dividends  
Dividends are only recognised as liabilities after their distribution has been approved at the General meeting. 
 

IV.8.11 Borrowings 
 

Interest bearing borrowings are recorded at initial fair value, corresponding to face value less associated 
transaction costs. For all subsequent estimations, these borrowings are recorded at amortised cost and based 
on the interest rate in effect during the loan period. 
 
IV.8.12 Deferred taxes 
 

Deferred taxes are calculated and taken into account for each fiscal entity, for the temporary differences 
between the book value of assets and liabilities recognised and their tax base, as well as for tax losses 
following the accrual method. The tax base depends on the tax rules in force in each of the countries 
concerned.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are valued at the tax rate which is to be applied for the period during which 
the asset will be realised or the liability paid off, on the basis of tax rates that have been adopted or almost 
adopted at year-end. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised only when it seems probable that the Group will have future taxable profits 
against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. Tax assets are usually not recorded for companies having 
reported tax losses during the previous years. This can be done however in cases where the probability of 
recovery is deemed sufficient. 
In compliance with IAS 12, tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
 

The Group considers that the contribution for enterprise added value (CVAE), with which all French companies 
have to comply as from 1 January 2010, matches the income tax definition laid out in IAS 12.  
 

IV.8.13 Research tax credit 
 

Research Tax Credit is thought to fall within the scope of the IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and 
Disclosure of Government Assistance standard. The research tax credit proportion that can be imputed to the 
development expenses item as intangible fixed asset is recorded as an impairment of the asset.  
Any research tax credit product that relates to research expenses and possibly development costs and does 
not satisfy the activation criteria is recorded as and when expenses are made as a reduction in costs (mainly 
payroll and external charges).  
 
IV.8.14 Retirement Commitment (IAS 19) 
 

Defined contribution plans are benefit plans subsequent to employment in respect of which the Business & 
Decision Group pays defined contributions to an external insurance company or pension fund. The 
contributions are paid as a compensation for services rendered by employees. They are recorded as expenses 
when incurred in the same way as, for example, wages and salaries. Defined contribution plans do not hold 
any future commitment for the Group. Therefore, they do not give rise to any provisions. 
Defined benefit plans concern benefits subsequent to employment that guarantee additional resources to 
certain categories of employees to which the Business & Decision Group is committed. Such commitments are 
subject to a provision calculated by estimating the total of benefits that employees will have accumulated in 
return for services rendered, using the projected unit credit method.  
Within the Group, defined benefit plans correspond to retirement benefits. Retirement benefits are directly 
linked to the application of the collective agreement. They deal with to the compensation to be given to 
employees in cases of voluntary redundancy or retirement. Benefits thus calculated are discounted and 
recognised in the balance sheet. 
 

The amount of retirement commitments calculated using the projected unit credit method, net of the amount of 
plan assets, is shown on the liability side of the balance sheet. In the Business & Decision Group, only the 
French companies are concerned. 
Any actuarial gains or losses on the commitments or assets of the plan are recognised in the Groupôs 
shareholderôs equity. 

 
IV.8.15 Financial instruments 
 

¶ Accounting for non-hedging derivatives  
Non-hedging derivatives are initially and subsequently stated at fair value. This is the case for two swaps: the 
NSM swap and the Barclays swap (see paragraph VII.4. Financial risk management). 
Changes in fair value are recorded under "Other financial income" or "Other financial expenses" in the income 
statement. 

 
IV.8.16 Operative event for the turnover 
 

The recording of income generated by cost plus and lump sum contracts is done according to the following 
principles: 
- For cost plus contracts, turnover is equal to invoicing which is done manually for each project according to 

the time spent on a day-to-day basis, negotiated with respect to the supplier profile. 
- For lump sum contracts, revenue is generated based on the percentage of completion calculated from 

expenses. 
 

IV.8.17 Other (operating) income and expenses 
 

Other "operating income and expenses" refer to any income or expenditure that is unusual, unexpected or 
rarely incurred, of a significant amount that the Group presents in a distinct manner for a clearer understanding 

of the current operational performance. These elements are presented according to the ANCôs (French 
National Accounting Standards) 2015-03 recommendation. 
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IV.8.18 Earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share are obtained by dividing the net income (Group share) by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the period, excluding the average number of ordinary shares purchased 
and held as treasury shares. Diluted earnings per share are calculated by retaining all instruments giving 
deferred access to the consolidating companyôs capital, whether these are issued by the latter or by one of its 
subsidiaries. The dilution is determined instrument by instrument, taking into account the existing conditions at 
closing date. Funds are taken into account on a pro-rata basis during the year of issue of the dilutive 
instruments and on the first day of the financial year for subsequent years. 
 
IV.8.19 Factoring agreement 
 

The transfer of trade receivables within the context of the factoring agreement must be analysed with reference 
to IAS 39 which provides for analysis of the essence of the agreement, based on three main financial asset 
derecognition criteria applicable namely at the time of debt transfer: 
- Expiry or transfer of contractual rights to asset-related cash flows 
- Transfer of nearly all asset ownership risks and benefits  
- Loss of control over asset 
 

Since the Groupôs factoring agreements do not entail transfer of nearly all associated risks, they are restated 
as follows: 
- Maintained recognition of Trade receivables transferred to the factoring company and not yet paid in current 

assets, and reporting of the financed amount as financial liability 
- Reclassification of deposits and guarantee retentions under Trade receivables 

 
IV.8.20 Advanced payment partial exemption (aid scheme for R&D in Belgium) 
 

The advanced payment partial exemption on salaries of Belgian subsidiary consultants assigned to R&D tasks 
is considered as falling within the scope of the IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 
Government Assistance standard. Consequently, this exemption reduces staff expenditure. 
 
IV.8.21 Error Correction 

 

Pursuant to IAS 8, the entity retrospectively corrects significant past mistakes in financial statements by 
restating assets, liabilities and shareholders' equity opening positions for the earliest reported period.  
Prior period error is an omission from, and misstatement in, the entityôs financial statements for one or more 
past periods arising from a failure to use, or the misuse of, reliable information: 
- that was available at the time at which the publication of these periodsô financial statements was authorised, 

and 
- which we could reasonably expect to have been obtained and taken into consideration during the drawing up 

and presentation of these financial statements. 

 
 
V NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
NOTE 1: TURNOVER AND CURRENT OPERATING INCOME 

 
The 2015 turnover amounts to ú224.2M as compared to ú204.9 in 2014. The Group sold ú7.5Mú worth 
of licences during 2015 as compared to ú9.2M in 2014. 
 

Consolidated turnover grew by 5.9% in 2015, at comparable consolidation scope and exchange rate. 
The Groupôs growth rate is thus one of the highest in the sector.  
Business Intelligence, which represents 65% of the Groupôs total turnover, is up 11.1% on 2014. CRM 
turnover which represents 16% of the Groupôs turnover is up 4.8% on the previous year. The e-Business 
activity which represents 19% of the Groupôs total turnover is up 7.9% on the previous financial period.  
Additional income$$ includes subsidies received for innovative projects and capitalised production. 

úK 2015 2014

Additional income 1,054 813

All other current operating income 1,054 813  
 
NOTE 2: CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES   

In thousand euros 2015
as a % of 

turnover
2014

as a % of 

turnover

Payroll costs (1) 155,467 69.3% 141,140 68.9%

External charges 54,485 24.3% 49,087 24.0%

Taxes other than income taxes 4,332 1.9% 4,277 2.1%

Depreciation and amortisation expense (2) 5,103 2.3% 2,433 1.2%

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 219,387 97.8% 196,937 96.1%  
 
Pursuant to IAS 20, operating subsidies granted within the context of research tax credit (French 
subsidiaries) and advanced payment partial exemption (Belgian subsidiaries) have been recognised as 
a reduction in external and payroll charges 
 

Research tax credit amount in úK2,015          2,014          

TOTAL 5,402          4,286          

Share of external charges 1,801          1,429          

Share of payroll costs 3,601          2,857           
 
Average workforce for the period is 2,554 as compared to 2,352 in 2014. At the end of the reporting 
period, the workforce comprises of 2,578 people as compared to 2,382 people at 31 December 2014. 
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At the end of the year, the workforce is thus constituted: 

2015 2014

Partners 6 6

Directors 101 106

Project leaders/Managers 448 339

Experts 40 21

Consultants 1,704 1,642

Administration staff 189 156

Sales reps. 82 88

Assistants 6 2

Trainees 2 22

Total 2,578 2,382  
 
(1) Payroll costs  

úK 2015 2014

Wages and social security expenses 155,202 141,049

Other employee benefits 154 24

Provision for retirement benefits 111 67

Total 155,467 141,140  
 

(2) Depreciation and amortisation expense  

úK 2015 2014

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible fixed assets 1,612 1,403

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible fixed assets 3,256 2,909

Provisions for liabilities and charges 1,367 1,390

Provisions for doubtful debts 586 558

Provisions total 6,820 6,260

Write-back of provisions for liabilities and charges 1,378 3,649

Write-back of provisions for doubtful debts 339 179

Write-back total 1,717 3,827

TOTAL 5,103 2,433  
 
NOTE 3: OTHER (OPERATING) INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 

As recommended by the ANC 2015-03 recommendation, the Group chose to isolate some non-current 
expenses.  
 

Other operating income and expenses mainly comprise of: 
- Costs associated with directorsô and managersô departures amounting in total to ú945K, mainly in 

France (ú690K) and in the USA (ú255K) 
- Herewecan goodwill impairment amounting to ú213K (see Note 9) 

In thousand euros 2015 2014

Goodwill depreciation -213 

Departure costs -945 -705 

Total -1,158 -705 

 
NOTE 4: FINANCIAL INCOME/LOSS 

úK 2015 2014

Bank loans and factoring interest charges -744 -802

Trading revenue (from cash instruments) 68 128

Interest on loans -1,052 -970

Leasing restatement interests -607 -535

Adjustment of rate swaps at fair value 74

Currency exchange gains/losses 229 337

Other (financial) income and expenses -29 -242

Financial results -2,062 -2,086  
 
NOTE 5: TAX EXPENSE 
 

The financial year for the Group resulted in earnings before tax of ú2,683K. The corporate tax rate in 
France is 34.33 %.  

Base Tax Base Tax
Theoretical tax expense Rate of 34.33% 2 683 894 6 028 2 009

Unrecognised tax assets 3 018 421

CVAE restatement 1 692 940

Net RTC provisions -3 799 -1 854

Goodwill depreciation 71

Permanent differences and other elements -276 362

Consolidation gain

Effect of foreign tax rates differences 158 124

Effective tax expense 1 759 2 003
Effective rate 65,57% 33,23%

2015 2014
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31/12/14 Change in scope

+ Increase / - 

decrease for the 

period

31/12/15

Deferred tax assets 2 040 0 -456 1 584

- Reportable loss 1 830 -200 1 630

- Temporary differences 211 -256 -45 

Deferred tax liabilities -1 169 287 -882 

Net deferred taxes 871 0 -169 702  
Tax losses carried forward not recognised in France at 31 December 2015 amount to ú17,912K as 
compared to ú14,011K at 31 December 2014.  
 
NOTE 6: DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 

Due to the progress achieved with regards to the liquidation of the B&D Deutschland subsidiary (activity 
discontinued in 2013), this subsidiary finds itself unable to fully settle its current account with Business & 
Decision SA. The Group recognised a loss of ú666K in compliance with IFRS 5. 
 
NOTE 7: NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
 

Minority interests in the statement of income amount to ú(728)K and are mainly associated with the 
Métaphora, Herewecan, SCI Green Mangin, CASMACO, B&D UK Ltd, B&D Latam and B&D Mauritius 
companies. 
 
NOTE 8: EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

The Group applies the earnings per share calculation rules set out in IAS 33. 
ú 2015 2014

Net Income ï Group Share in úK                                          (a) 988 4 142

Weighted average number of shares outstanding                 (b) 7 882 975 7 882 975

Dilutive instrumentsô impact                              (c ) 0 0

Diluted weighted average number of shares             (d) =( c)+(b) 7 882 975 7 882 975

Earnings per share in euros                            (a)/(b) 0,125 0,525  
 
Business & Decision Group has not issued any dilutive instruments. 
 
NOTE 9: GOODWILL 
 
Goodwill is assigned to cash generating units (CGU) of all countries, except for France, where cash 
generating units are associated with operating legal entities. 
 
Changes in Goodwill ï Gross value 
 

Goodwill 

31/12/14 

Gross

Currency 

translation 

adjustment

Merger
New 

adjustment
Decrease

Goodwill 

31/12/15 

Gross

Goodwill 

31/12/15 

Net

Goodwill 

31/12/14 

Net

BD France 8,048 8,048 7,272 7,272

METAPHORA 1,155 1,155 1,155 1,155

BDU 435 435 310 310

CERI MEDICAL 257 257 257 257

HEREWECAN 213 213 0 213

EOLAS 326 326 300 300

BD BENELUX 5,850 5,850 5,146 5,146

BD NETHERLANDS 100 100 100 100

BD Luxembourg 280 280 280 280

BD RUSSIA 214 -31 182 184 214

BD SUISSE SA 4,727 523 5,250 4,584 4,127

BD SUISSE AG 3,533 391 3,924 3,924 3,533

Creative Probers 7 7 7 7

BD Spain 451 451 351 351

BD TUNISIA 1,075 19 1,094 1,094 1,075

BD NA PA 10,092 1,134 11,227 9,333 8,390

TOTAL 36,763 2,037 0 0 0 38,800 34,298 32,731
 

 
Goodwill impairment tests 

Depreciation

Goodwill 31/12/4

Currency 

translation 

adjustment

Provision

Depreciation

Goodwill 

31/12/15 

BD France 776 776

HEREWECAN 0 213 213

BDU 125 125

EOLAS 26 26

BD BENELUX 704 704

BD Spain 100 100

BD SUISSE SA 600 66 667

BD NA PA 1,702 191 1,893

TOTAL 4,033 258 4,291
 

 
Given the results of the Herewecan company, the Group recognised ú213K of goodwill impairment. 
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Changes in Goodwill ï Net value 
 
The recoverable amount for a cash generating unit is calculated based on the value in use. Estimates of 
discounted future cash flows were measured using 5-year projections for each cash generating unit and 
a discount rate that is calculated according to geographical region as shown in the table below and an 
infinite growth rate of 1.5%. 
The following table describes the main estimates used to perform impairment test calculations for each 
CGU group for the financial period. 

Net 

Goodwill 

(úK)

Turnover AAGR* 

2016 - 2020

Perpetuity 

growth rate
Discount rate**

Net Goodwill 

(úK)

Turnover 

AAGR* 2015 - 

2019

Perpetuity 

growth rate

Discount 

rate**

BD France 7,272 4.4% 1.5% 6.50% 7,272 4.1% 1.5% 7.60%

METAPHORA 1,155 (0.5%) 1.5% 6.50% 1,155 9.2% 1.5% 7.60%

BDU 310 2.4% 1.5% 6.50% 310 0.1% 1.5% 7.60%

HEREWECAN 0 1.4% 1.5% 6.50% 213

CERI Medical 257 (5.6%) 1.5% 6.50% 257

EOLAS 300 3.6% 1.5% 6.50% 300 3.2% 1.5% 7.60%

BD BENELUX 5,146 2.4% 1.5% 7.80% 5,146 -0.2% 1.5% 8.20%

BD NETHERLANDS 100 7.1% 1.5% 7.10% 100 5.6% 1.5% 7.30%

BD LUXEMBOURG 280 3.3% 1.5% 7.00% 280 0.5% 1.5% 7.40%

BD RUSSIA 181 3.0% 1.5% 10.70% 214 0.5% 1.5% 15.50%

BD SUISSE SA 4,584 18.9% 1.5% 7.00% 4,127 4.2% 1.5% 6.50%

BD SUISSE AG 3,924 (3.0%) 1.5% 7.00% 3,533 -1.7% 1.5% 6.50%

BD Spain 351 2.0% 1.5% 6.90% 351 8.1% 1.5% 10.10%

BD TUNISIA 1,094 7.5% 1.5% 12.20% 1,075 2.0% 1.5% 13.00%

Creative Probers 7 7

BD NA PA 9,333 4.7% 1.5% 6.90% 8,390 2.0% 1.5% 7.60%

2015 2014

 
* Average annual turnover growth rate on the plan 
** Discount rate, net of tax effect 

 
The estimates of growth and discount rates used for the valuation of all cash generating units have 
been revised to be consistent with global market data evolution. 
 
As regards operating assumptions, the Group uses a 4 to 8% normalised EBIT rate. 
 
The Group presents a sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions made regarding the discount rate, the 
infinite growth rate, the average annual turnover growth rate and the normalised EBIT rate. The table 
below shows Goodwill depreciation after this analysis has been carried out. 

In thousand euros Net Goodwill

Room for 

manoeuvre

****

Discount rate 

+ 1 point *

Perpetuity 

growth rate of 

0.5% **

Turnover AAGR 

-2 points ***

Normative EBIT 

rate 

-1 point ***

BD France 7,272 101,891

METAPHORA 1,155 116 -206 -160 -103

BDU 310 264

HEREWECAN 0 -165 -360

CERI Medical 257 558

EOLAS 300 11,277

BD BENELUX 5,146 13,822

BD NETHERLANDS 100 2,257

BD LUXEMBOURG 280 3,006

BD RUSSIA 184 87

BD SUISSE SA 4,584 -8 -931 -748 -282 -863

BD SUISSE AG 3,924 3,074

BD SPAIN 351 1,239

BD TUNISIA 1,094 1,501

Creative Probers 7

BD NA PA 9,333 5,824

2015

 
* At constant growth rate 
** At constant discount rate 
*** At constant growth and discount rate 
**** Room for manoeuvre = Value in use ï Consolidation value of CGUs 

 
NOTE 10: FIXED ASSETS 
 

¶ Intangible fixed assets 

Gross 

31/12/14

Currency 

translation 

adjustment

s

Acquisitio

n
Decrease

Gross 

31/12/15

Amort. 

31/12/15

Net 

31/12/15

Net 

31/12/14

Software & Others* 

(**)
    10,514             195      1,510       1,676        10,543         4,768         5,775         5,601   

TOTAL     10,514             195      1,510       1,676        10,543         4,768         5,775         5,601    
*   Including ú7,298K of development costs 
**  Including leasing and  financial leases 

Gross 

31/12/14

Reclassific

ation

Acquisitio

n
Decrease

Gross 

31/12/15

Amort. 

31/12/15
Net 31/12/15 Net 31/12/14

Software & Others          684          44   
728          442      285           

           395   

TOTAL          684   0        44   -       728          442      285                      395    
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¶ Tangible fixed assets 

Gross 

31/12/14

Reclassifi

cation
Scope Entry

Currency 

translation 

adjustment

Acquisition Decrease
Gross 

31/12/15

Amort. 

31/12/15
Net 31/12/15

Net 

31/12/14

Land/Constructions** 9506 2 10 9,518 2,355 7,163 7,076

Fittings** 7,993 -8 120 888 746 8,247 4,150 4,098 4,718

Vehicles 266 6 227 145 355 137 217 169

Computer hardware** 17,411 721 1,179 366 18,944 14,613 4,331 4,498

Furniture 686 6 214 53 853 414 439 364

TOTAL 35,863 -8 0 854 2,518 1,310 37,917 21,669 16,248 16,824 *
* Including leasing and financial leases 
 

Gross 

31/12/14

Reclassificat

ion
Acquisition Decrease

Gross 

31/12/15

Amort. 

31/12/15

Net 

31/12/15

Net 

31/12/14

Land/Constructions 5,151 193 5,344 1,380 3,964 3,932

Fittings 2,999 -192 63 2,870 1,275 1,595 2,114

Furniture 336 42 128 506 206 300 198

Computer hardware 11,154 313 851 12,317 8,095 4,222 1,208

TOTAL 19,640 355 1,042 0 21,037 10,956 10,081 7,452  
 

¶ Amortisation 

Allowance distribution Amortisation Amortisation 

úK 12/31/2014 12/31/2015

Software & other intangible 

assets 4,913 -157 77 1,612 1,676 4,768

Including capital lease 289 158 448

Tangible fixed assets 19,038 -8 575 3,256 1,191 21,669

Including capital lease 8,848 1,026 9,873

Total 23,951 -165 0 651 4,867 2,867 26,437

Change in 

scope

Currency 

translation 

adjustment

Allowance

s

Write-

backs

Reclass

ification

 
 

¶ Non-current financial assets 

Gross 

31/12/14

Currency 

translatio

n adj.

Change in 

scope

Acquisiti

on

Decreas

e

Gross 

31/12/15

Amort 

31/12/15

Net 

31/12/15

Net 

31/12/14

Other assets 1,546 33 487 167 1,899 69 1,829 1,474

Participating interests & receivables 1,632 1 602 70 2,165 240 1,924 1,388

TOTAL 3,178 34 0 1,088 237 4,063 310 3,754 2,862  
 
Information on participating interests and shares: 

Shareholding 

companies

Participating 

interests & 

shares

% held

Share of 

equity 

held

Gross 

amount 

at 

31/12/14

Currenc

y 

translati

on adj.

Increase Decrease

Gross 

amount at 

31/12/15

Prov. at 

31/12/15

Net 

amount at 

31/12/15

Net 

amount at 

31/12/14

B&D Altice Media 1% N/A 1 201 1 201 1 201 0

B&D Presse Media 3% N/A 600 600 1 201 0 0 600

B&D Teads 0% N/A 470 470 470 470

B&D POCKETVOX 4% N/A 100 100 100 0 0

B&D IMAGIIN 2% N/A 100 100 100 0 0

B&D NGC 5% N/A 80 80 80 80

B&D Beezen 19% N/A 55 55 55 55

B&D Sugar Price 7% N/A 65 65 0 0 0 65

B&D Eloue 2% N/A 83 83 83 83

B&D EPTICA 14% N/A 22 22 22 22

B&D Infact GmbH N/A 7 7 7 7

B&D FROGCAST 19% N/A 2 2 2 2

B&D Mobiles Health N/A 5 5 0 0 0 0

B&D Headings  N/A 1 1 1 1

B&D Tunisie Headings  N/A 42 1 43 40 3 3
TOTAL 1 633 1 1 801 1 271 2 164 240 1 924 1 388  

 

These are minority interest shares held in companies that have a business relationship with Business & 
Decision. These companies are not included in the consolidation scope as the percentage of shares 
held by Business & Decision is insufficient for the Group to have significant influence over their 
management. 
 

At 30 December 2015, all Presse Média Participation company (holding company of the French daily 
newspaper "Libération") shares had been exchanged for shares of the Altice Média Group SARL 
(Luxembourg-based company) which groups all media and communications interests of Altice Group. 
 
NOTE 11: TRADE RECEIVABLES, TAXES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

In thousand euros 31/12/2015 Restated 31/12/2014* 

Trade receivables 75 419 73 501

Tax claims* 14 414 14 306

Other current assets 5 207 5 768

      Pre-paid expenses 2 831 2 734

      Corporate & welfare-scheme receivables and Tax claims1 855 1 937

      Other receivables 521 1 191

TOTAL 95 040 93 575  
 

*  The tax claims item includes ú12,345K of research tax credit calculated over the French subsidiaries and ú719K of 
tax credits for competitiveness and employment. 
 

For the period ended 31 December 2015, the company recognised a tax credits for competitiveness and 
employment amount of ú1.8M as a reduction in payroll charges. The yearôs tax credits for 
competitiveness and employment must be looked at against efforts made during 2015 in terms of: 
- Investment in software development amounting to ú0.9M 
- Recruitment of some hundred consultants 
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Since 2009, a factoring agreement for trade receivables has been agreed upon. The financing amount 
was increased to ú22M during the second 2014 Half-year. 
 

Considering the application of IAS 39 (see IV.7.19) and after analysis of the factoring agreement, it is 
observed that client risks are not fully transferred. 
 

Consequently:  
- The factoring companyôs guarantee deposits and reserves have been restated as trade receivables for 
an amount of ú2,475K (as compared to ú2,418K at 31 December 2014) 
- The share of receivables transferred to the factoring company, and financed by the latter but not yet 
settled, has been reinstated as trade receivables of ú17,291K, in return for an increase in current bank 
loans (as compared to ú17,776K at 31 December 2014) 
 

Receivables due date: 

Scheduled payments 
less than 1 

month

Between 1 

month and 6 

months

Between 6 

months and 12 

months

Between 1 

and 3 years
Total

Trade receivables 73 677 608 1 134 0 75 419

Tax claims ï Corporation tax3 420 10 994 14 414

Pre-paid expenses 1 416 1 416 2 831

Corporate & welfare-scheme receivables 928 928 1 855

Other receivables 261 261 521

Total 76 280 6 631 1 134 10 994 95 040  
 
The provision for impairment of trade receivables at 31 December 2015 amounts to ú2.0M for all of the 
Groupôs entities. The share of umimpaired trade receivables older than 180 days amounts to ú1.1M for 
the whole Group. The Group deems that there is no non-recovery risk for these receivables.  
 
NOTE 12: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

¶ Cash assets 
Gross amount at 

31/12/15
Provisions

Net book value at 

31/12/15

Net book value at 

31/12/14
Market value

Shares 36 36 36 36

Other marketable securities 2 779 2 779 2 300 2 779

Cash and cash equivalents 5 871 5 871 9 833 5 871

Item total 8 686 0 8 686 12 169 8 686  
 

¶ Current bank loans and factoring 
Value at 31/12/15 Value at 31/12/14

 Current bank loans and factoring 17 761 20 189

Item total 17 761 20 189  
This item includes mainly receivables not yet matured, transferred to the factoring company, i.e. 
ú17,291K (see Note 10). 
 
NOTE 13: SHAREHOLDERSô EQUITY 
 

At 31 December 2015, Business & Decisionôs capital was fully paid-up and made up of 7,882,975 
shares amounting to ú551,808.25 (no change as compared to 31 December 2014). 

 
Number of 

shares

Nominal value 

(ú)
Value (ú)

Share premium 

in úK

Share capital and premiums at 31/12/2015 7 882 975 0,07 551 808 29 207

TOTAL 7 882 975 0,07 551 808 29 207  
 

Number of treasury shares at 31/12/2014 736

Number of treasury shares purchased between 01/01/15 and 31/12/15 0

Number of treasury shares cancelled between 01/01/15 and 31/12/15 0

Number of shares at 31/12/15 736  
The number of treasury shares held by Business & Decision at 31 December 2015 is 736. 
 

¶ Non-controlling interests 
 

The share of consolidated shareholdersô equity attributable to non-controlling interests amounts to 
ú(165)K.  
 
 
NOTE 14: PROVISIONS 
 

¶ Non-current provisions 

Used Unused
Provision for industrial disputes 832 -300 3 200 35 173 526

Provision for business disputes 0 0

Other liability provisions 1 234 678 1 147 765

Provision for loss to completion 35 3 10 23 24

Provision for social security expenses 732 300 480 1 512

Provisions foll. associated undertaking -3 3 0
TOTAL 2 830 6 3 1 367 35 1 343 2 828

Write-back of Provisions 

at 31/12/15

Provisions statement (in thousand 

euros)

Provisions at 

31/12/14

Reclassific

ation

Provision 

allowance

Currency 

translation 

 
 
Business & Decision France company was subject to a tax audit covering the 1 January 2012 to 31 
December 2014 financial periods, including RTC (research tax credit) declared for years 2011 to 2014. 
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In this context, the tax authorities called upon the expertise of the Ministry of Higher Education and 
Research to obtain an opinion on the RTC-eligibility of projects included by the Group in the annual 
RTC valuation.  The expert concluded that almost all projects declared under RTC were eligible, whilst 
judging that the time spent working on these projects by the Groupôs employees could not have 
exceeded 75% of their annual working time. 
 
In February 2016, and following the conclusions of the MHER expert, the tax authorities suggested an 
adjustment to RTC for the years under review (namely from 2011 to 2014) of approximately ú420K. 
 
The Company intends to formally reject the conclusions of the tax authorities as regards the arbitrary 
and fixed-time limitation of time spent working on RTC projects by Group employees. 
However, the Group has decided to include in its accounts a ú300K risk provision, to cover namely any 
risk of this tax authorities position being extended to other Group companies whose RTC has not yet 
been audited.  
 
 

¶ Provisions for employee benefits and pensions 

Provisions statement (in 

thousand euros)

Provisions at 

31/12/14

Reclassific

ation

Financial 

costs

Actuarial 

gain/loss

Provision 

allowance

Write-back of 

provisions 

Provisions at 

31/12/15

Retirement commitment 666 14 269 111 1,061

TOTAL 666 0 14 269 111 0 1,061  
 
 
The main estimates used to evaluate long-term commitments to the staff are the following: 
 

 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 

Retirement age 67 yrs 67 yrs 

Turnover rate [16-34 yrs]: 19.9%; [35-44 yrs]: 16.7%; 
[45-54 yrs]: 20.7%; [over 55 yrs]:0% 

[16-34 yrs]: 19.9%; [35-44 yrs]: 
16.7%; [45-54 yrs]: 20.7%; [over 

55 yrs]: 2.0% 

Discount rate 2,16% 2,00% 

Salary progression rate 2% 2% 

Rate of social charges 46% 46% 

 
 
 

Evolution of the obligations present value for defined services

úK 2015 2014

obligations present value at 1 January 666 477

services rendered plan

Restatements 7

services rendered cost and financial cost 126 77

actuarial losses (gains) 269 105

commitment at closing date 1,061 666

Present value of plan's assets none none

Expenses stated in the income statement

(EUR thousands) 2015 2014

Services rendered costs 111 67

Actuarial gains/losses 269 105

financial cost 14 10

Expected return from the plan's assets none none

 
 
 
NOTE 15: FINANCIAL DEBTS 

  
** Including ú1,046K associated with leasing and financial leases restatement. 
 
 

Breakdown of loans: 
 

In thousand euros TOTAL
Current (less 

than one year)

Non-current (1 to 

5 yrs)

Lease and capital lease France 5,737 628 5,110

Syndicated credit 2,023 1,625 398

Micado bond loan 3,500 3,500

Loans contracted for French and international investments 6,419 2,435 3,984

TOTAL 17,681 4,688 12,992  
 
The Groupôs external growth was mostly financed by way of medium-term bank borrowings. 
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The loan agreement signed on 24 May 2013 with a bank pool, defines three covenants as shown in the 
following table: 
 
Ratio R1: Net financial debt/Shareholdersô equity 
Ratio R2: Net financial debt/EBITDA 
Ratio R3: EBITDA/Consolidated net financial interest expense 
 

 
Negotiated values per covenant 
R1 < than R2 < than R3 > than 

2015 0.70 2.80 4.00 

2016 0.70 2.80 4.00 

2017 0.70 2.80 4.00 

 
At 31 December 2015, all covenants were met according to the table below: 

2015 2014*

R1 0.43 0.48

R2 2.66 2.69

R3 4.88 4.38  
 
At 31 December 2015, values used to calculate bank covenants are as follows: 

úK 2015 2014*

Net Financial Debt 26,757 28,542

Total of shareholders' funds 61,761 59,491

EBITDA 10,062 10,615

Consolidated financial expense 2,063 2,424  
* See IV.2 Restatement of 2014 consolidated financial statements in compliance with IAS 8 

 
 
NOTE 16: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 
 

 

A - 1yr A +1 yr A - 1yr A +1 yr

Personnel 2,051 1,626

Social organisations 10,818 10,692

Government - VAT 10,078 9,194

Paid holidays provision 14,610 10,446

Government, Taxes 1,201 2,637

Government, Corporation Tax 303 2,255

TOTAL 39,060 0 36,851 0

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

 
 
 
VI NOTE ON OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS 
 
VI.1 Guarantees issued 
 

These guarantees were only issued within the context of corporate financing. 
 

Guarantees issued to banks 
 

¶ Within the context of a ú6.5M loan from a bank pool (24 May 2013)  
Senior pledge of 81,520 Business & Decision France shares as payment guarantee over the whole loan 
duration (48 months). 
 

This pledge was released after early repayment of this loan on 31 March 2016. 
A new similar pledge arrangement was set up in favour of all involved banks in the Groupôs new 
financing programme (see Note II). 

 . 

¶ Overdraft facilities granted by the Société Générale. 
BD SA acted as a guarantor for the Société Générale to grant a GBP 65K overdraft facility to 
CASMACO and a USD 1 million overdraft facility to BD NAPA. 
 

¶ Loan granted by BNP 
BD SA stood surety for a ú1,000,000 loan granted to its Business & Decision Interactive Eolas by the 
BNP within the context of an investment programme for the extension of its Grenoble-based Datacentre. 
The principal balance amounts to ú474K at 31 December 2015. 
 

¶ Loan granted by the CIC 
BD SA stood surety for a ú200,000 loan granted to the Business & Decision Interactive Eolas by the 
CIC Lyonnaise de Banque to finance the Research and Development programme. The principal 
balance amounts to ú173K at 31 December 2015. 
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¶ Loan granted by Caisse dôEpargne Rh¹ne Alpes 
The Caisse dôEpargne Rh¹ne Alpes granted two real-estate loans to SCI Green Mangin, a subsidiary in 
which Business & Decision SA owns 66.67% of shares, the principal balances of which amount to 
ú1,696K and ú358K respectively at 31 December 2015. These loans are guaranteed respectively by a 
first-rank and second-rank mortgage on the Grenoble Datacentre building used by the Business & 
Decision Interactive Eolas subsidiary. 
 

¶ Foreign payment guarantee of USD150K  
Foreign payment guarantee of USD150K by CM-CIC Banques to Banco International del Peru in favour 
of BD Latam. 
 

¶ Performance bond and account pledge  
Arizona Stateôs Department of Corrections has chosen Business & decision and its technological 
platform, Mi-Case, to replace the information system dedicated to adult inmate management (Adult 
Inmate Management System, AIMS). Within this context, a $16M Performance bond was issued in 
favour of Arizona State by an American insurance company on behalf of the Business & Decision North 
America subsidiary and for a time period ending on 30 November 2017. BNP Paribas, acting on behalf 
Business & Decision Groupôs bank pool, has issued a counter guarantee in the form of a standby letter 
of credit, providing for the payment of $8M and for a period ending on the 30 November 2017, payable 
on first demand to the issuer of the "performance bond."  
As a hedge for this operation, Business & Decision SA pledged, in favour of BNP Paribas still acting on 
behalf of the bank pool, a securities account as a guarantee for the principal sum of $3M until 30 
November 2017.  
 
VI.2 Acquisitions and Equity investments contingent payments clauses 
 

CERI MEDICAL 
The CERI MEDICAL company's acquisition deed provides for contingent payments calculated based on 
EBIT over four years: 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017. Provision was made for a maximum contingent 
payment of ú225K to be equally spread over the four years. 
At 31 December 2015, no contingent payment has been considered since performance objectives 
contractually agreed upon have not been met. 
 
 

VI.3 Other commitments 
Pledging of a Business & Decision term account, amounting to ú107K, by the CM-CIC in favour of the 
Bank of Central African States (CEMAC). 
 
 

VI.4 Guarantees received 
None. 
 
 

VI.5 Claw-back provisions 
A debt write-off with a claw-back provision amounting to ú1,271,994 in favour of the Business & 
Decision Israël company had been authorised by Business & Decision SA in 2011. 
 

At 31 December 2015, the conditions set for debt write-off claw-back provisions are not met. 
 
VII OTHER INFORMATION 

 
VII.1 Statutory auditorsô professional fees 

 
 
 
VII.2 Contingent liabilities 
 

Business & Decision was taken to court by employees demanding payment of sums associated with 
mandatory profit-sharing. Since Business & Decision deems this to be, currently, neither a likely nor a 
quantifiable risk, no provision was recognised. 
 
VII.3 Affiliated companies transactions 
 

Transactions between Business & Decision and its subsidiaries that are affiliates of the Group have 
been excluded from consolidation and are not detailed in the present note. 
 
 
 
 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
Audit 
Statutory audit, certification, review of company  
and consolidated accounts 303  

             276  
             96% 100% 126  

             122  
             97% 95% 

Issuer 108  
           105  

           34% 38% 108  
           104  

           83% 81% 
Fully consolidated subsidiaries 196  

           171  
           62% 62% 18  

             18  
             14% 14% 

Other tasks and services directly connected to the  
{ǘŀǘǳǘƻǊȅ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ Ƴƛǎǎƛƻƴ 14  

                - 
                4% 0% 4  

                  7  
                  3% 5% 

Issuer 14  
             4% 0% 3  

               7  
               2% 5% 

Fully consolidated subsidiaries 1  
               

Subtotal  317  
             276  

             100% 100% 130  
             129  

             100% 100% 
hǘƘŜǊ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜǎ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊǎΩ ƴŜǘǿƻǊƪǎ  
to fully consolidated subsidiaries 20  

                8  
                  0% 0% - 

                - 
                0% 0% 

Legal, tax-specific, social 20  
             8  

               6% 3% 
Other 

Subtotal 20  
                8  

                  0% 0% - 
                - 

                0% 0% 

TOTAL 338  
              284  

              100% 100% 130  
              129  

              100% 100% 

MAZARS ADN PARIS 
Amt (euroK before tax) Amount (%) Amt (euroK before tax) 

 
Amount (%) 
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Transactions with non consolidated companies for which the director is linked to the Group:  

Supply of business premises

Type 2015 2014

Rents and charges 498 602

Guarantee deposits 80 97Compte créditeur

BEEZEN services

Type 2015 2014

Subcontracting charges 17 101

Management costs 12 24

Account payable 17 12  
 

Directors' remuneration 
 

Executive Directors at 31 December 2015: 
Patrick BENSABAT, Chairman and Managing Director 
Mr. Christophe DUMOULIN, Deputy Managing Director and Director 

úK 2015 2014

Salaries and other short-term benefits (including social security) 869 852

Post-employment benefits 26 54

TOTAL 895 906  
 
The remuneration amount allocated to directors is ú687K (excluding social security, retirement 
commitments and fringe benefits). 
 

Management considers that only those persons mentioned above satisfy the director notion, such as it 
is expressed in IAS 24. 
 
 
VII.4 Financial risk management 
 

Through its operations, the Group is exposed to different types of financial risks: liquidity risk, credit risk, 
currency risk and interest rate risk. Financial risk management is performed by the Groupôs treasury 
department and refers to minimising the potentially unfavourable effects of these risks on the Groupôs 
financial performance. 
 
Liquidity risk and credit risk  
 
Liquidity risk management involves maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the 
availability of funding to meet the Groupôs needs through an adequate amount of credit facilities. 
Medium-term credit facilities are subject to financial covenants. At 31 December 2015, all covenants 
were met (see note 15).  
 

The financial assets that could expose the Group to credit risk are trade receivables. At 31 December 
2015, they amount to ú75,431K as compared to ú73,594K at 31 December 2014. The biggest client 
accounts for approximately 6% of the Groupôs turnover. Exposure to credit risk due to other customers 
is limited because of high diversification. 
 

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The client selection process and related 
credit risk analysis are fully integrated within the global risk assessment process that takes place 
throughout the life cycle of a contract.  
 
In order to meet its short-term financing needs in France, the Group has set up a factoring agreement 
involving approximately 90% of its French portfolio.  
 

Short-term authorisations and factoring agreement: 

Authorised Used-up Authorised Used-up

Short-term credit lines France 4.5 4.5

Short-term credit lines International 1.5 1.5

Factoring agreement 22 17.3 22 17.7

2015 2014
(EUR millions)

 
 

Cash transactions are limited to high-credit quality financial institutions. 
 
Currency risk 
 
The Groupôs financial performance is materially influenced by fluctuations in the exchange rate since a 
significant portion of business activities takes place outside of the euro zone. The main residual 
exposures are primarily in UK pounds, US dollars and Swiss Francs.  
The sensitivity of euro fluctuations of +/- 10% vis-à-vis the above-mentioned currencies does not impact 
in any significant way on the current operating income level at 31 December 2015. 
The company has thus no foreign exchange hedging arrangements in place. 
 
Exposure to operating and financial exchange rate risks. 

The Groupôs exposure to currency risks, due to Group subsidiaries recognising internal and external 
operations at 31 December 2015 in currencies that differ from their respective functional currencies, is 
as follows: 
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Keuros Asset (a) Liabilities (b)

Commitments in 

foreign currency 

(c)

Net position before 

hedging (d) = (a) -

(b) +/-  (c)

Hedging financial 

instruments ú

Net position after 

hedging (f) = (d) - 

(e)

Euro 200,738              137,011              63,728                63,728                

USD 24,501                21,891                2,610                  2,610                  

CHF 10,469                9,715                  753                     753                     

UK Pound 5,254                  5,014                  240                     240                     

Other 6,841                  7,700                  860 -                    860 -                     
 
The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of the major USD, GBP and CHF currency fluctuations 
for 2015. 
 
A 10 % increase or reduction of the Euro compared to the following currencies at 31 December 2015 
would result in an increase or reduction in the current operating income by the amounts below indicated. 
Note that the current operating income at 31 December 2015 is ú5,903K. 

úK 10% increase 10% decrease

Benchmark current operating income/loss 5,903 5,903

Current operating income/loss after exchange rate 

effect
6,243 5,489

 
Interest rate risk: 
Most of Business & Decision Groupôs medium-term bank loan is at fixed rate. The company has set up a 
hedging arrangement for its medium-term syndicated loan to ensure a fixed rate. The outstanding credit 
amount involved is 2 million euros. Apart from this hedging arrangement, the Group has never resorted 
to derivative financial instruments. 
 

Banking Subject

Initial 

amount in 

úK

Start Date
Guarantees 

issued

Amounts 

owed in úK 

31/12/2015

Hedging 

Arrangemen

ts

Rates type

Syndicated 

credit

Subsidiaries' 

acquisitions
        6,500   24/05/13

 Pledging of BD 

Provinces 

shares 

       2,023   Rate swap
Euribor 3 

months + 

1.7%

Micado
Micado France 2018 

bond loan
        3,500   16/10/12  N/A        3,500   None Fixed Rate

Other
Foreign subsidiaries' 

borrowings
 N/A N/A  N/A        2,574   None Fixed Rate

Other
Investment 

borrowings
 N/A N/A  N/A        3,848   None Fixed Rate

Other Leasing  N/A N/A  N/A        5,737   None Fixed Rate

Total financial 

liability
      10,000        17,682   

 
 
 
VII.5 Segment reporting 
 

The Group is organised by major geographical region for operations management purposes and by 
country for internal reporting purposes. 
Transfers and transactions between the various segments take place under normal business conditions 
which are the same ones that would be applied if dealing with an unrelated third party. 
 

¶ Information per geographic sector 
Information by geographical area, at 31 December 2015, is thus constituted: 
Inter-segment flows have been kept but intra-segment flows have been excluded. 
 
 

Income statement at 31 December 2015 

France Switzerland UK BENELUX US

REST OF 

THE 

WORLD

Elimin. Total

Turnover 134,720 11,571 3,746 41,641 30,510 12,695 -10,647 224,236

Total operating 

expenses
131,197 11,057 5,053 39,874 30,272 12,547 -10,611 219,387

Payroll costs 94,864 7,774 2,991 23,087 19,143 7,609 155,468

Current operating 

results
3,820 599 -1,307 2,385 238 203 -36 5,903

2.84% 5.18% -34.89% 5.73% 0.78% 1.60% 2.63%

Operating expenses -903 0 0 0 -255 0 -1,158

Operating results 2,917 599 -1,307 2,385 -17 203 -36 4,745

Financial results -2,062

Tax expense 1,759

Net Income/Loss after taxes 924

Discontinued operations -666

Net Income/Loss after discontinued operations and applied equity method 259

  - Group Share 987

  - Non-controlling interests -728
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Income statement at 31 December 2014 

 

France Switzerland UK BENELUX US

REST OF 

THE 

WORLD

Elimin. Total

Turnover 123,737 12,166 3,858 39,191 27,430 11,194 -12,633 204,944

Total operating 

expenses
119,311 11,248 3,564 36,789 27,625 10,989 -12,590 196,936

Payroll costs 88,082 7,195 1,754 21,066 16,180 6,862 141,139

Current operating 

results
4,796 917 294 2,756 -196 293 -42 8,820

3.88% 7.54% 7.62% 7.03% -0.71% 2.62% 4.30%

Operating expenses -505 0 0 0 -200 0 -705

Operating results 4,291 917 294 2,756 -396 293 -42 8,113

Financial results -2,087

Tax expense 2,003

Net Income/Loss after taxes 4,025

Discontinued operations 0

Net Income/Loss after discontinued operations and applied equity method 4,025

  - Group Share 4,142

  - Non-controlling interests -117

 
 

Balance sheet information as at 31 December 2015 

TOTAL France
Switzerl

and
UK Benelux US

Rest of 

the World

Net change in Goodwill 1,568 -213 848 943 -12

Increase in intangible fixed assets 1,510 990 281 237 2

Decrease in intangible fixed assets -1,676 -1,676

Currency trans. adj./Reclass./Equ. Inv. variation 280 274 6 0

Provisions/Reversals on amortisations 71 769 -529 -97 -69 -3

Intangible fixed assets variation 185 83 0 27 139 -63 -1

Increase in tangible fixed assets 2,519 1,567 151 105 333 193 170

Decrease in tangible fixed assets -1,310 -832 -16 -146 -305 -12

Currency trans. adj./Reclass./Equ. Inv. variation 280 3 1 268 8

Provisions/Reversals on amortisations -2,058 -900 -54 -15 -193 -717 -179

Tangible fixed assets variation -569 -166 101 74 -6 -561 -13

 
 

 
Balance sheet information as at 31 December 2014 

 

TOTAL France
Switzerl

and
UK Benelux US

Rest of 

the World

Net change in Goodwill 1,511 470 156 0 0 982 -99

Increase in intangible fixed assets 2,171 1,963 43 163 2

Decrease in intangible fixed assets -669 -669

Currency trans. adj./Reclass./Equ. Inv. variation 152 13 128 12

Provisions/Reversals on amortisations -1,415 -812 -458 -30 -116

Intangible fixed assets variation 238 495 0 -287 133 -104 2

Increase in tangible fixed assets 3,976 2,325 35 5 593 721 296

Decrease in tangible fixed assets -2,173 -1,666 -157 -175 -161 -15

Currency trans. adj./Reclass./Equ. Inv. variation 433 122 1 -2 297 15

Provisions/Reversals on amortisations -1,828 -962 151 -7 -208 -704 -99

Tangible fixed assets variation 408 -181 29 -3 210 153 198
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¶ Other information by business activity 
 
The Groupôs turnover can be thus broken down: 
- Business Intelligence 65 % 
- C.R.M. 16% 
- E-business 19 % 
 
Business Intelligence: Information systems that aim at providing coherent and reliable data to all users 
in a company to provide decision support through data analysis by business functions, products and 
customers and that is supported by a common business repository. 
 
CRM: Customer Relationship Management ï technologically tracks the whole customer relationship 
process, from new products creation to customer service optimisation. 
 
E-business: Electronic commerce ï the use of Internet techniques to facilitate electronic commerce 
relationships and value chain optimization between the various involved players. 
 
 

Income statement information as at 31 December 2015 

 

BI EBUS CRM Elim. TOTAL

Turnover 160,369 154,486 38,659 -129,279 224,236

Total operating expenses 157,106 151,767 39,756 -129,243 219,387

Payroll costs 35,200 108,852 11,415 155,466

Current operating results 3,978 3,041 -1,080 -36 5,903

Non-current operating expenses -187 -834 -136 -1,158

Operating results 3,791 2,207 -1,216 -36 4,745

Financial results -2,062

Tax expense 1,759

Net Income/Loss after taxes 924

Discontinued operations -666

Net Income/Loss after discontinued operations and applied equity method 259

  - Group Share 987

  - Non-controlling interests -728

 
 
 
 

Income statement information as at 31 December 2014 
 

BI EBUS CRM Elim. TOTAL

Turnover 148,123 142,554 36,231 -121,964 204,944

Total operating expenses 141,924 141,219 35,715 -121,921 196,937

Payroll costs 32,311 99,786 9,043 141,139

Current operating results 6,642 1,705 516 -43 8,820

Non-current operating expenses -30 -595 -80 -705

Operating results 6,612 1,110 436 -43 8,115

Financial results -2,087

Tax expense 2,003

Net Income/Loss after taxes 4,025

Discontinued operations

Net Income/Loss after discontinued operations and applied equity method 4,025

  - Group Share 4,142

  - Non-controlling interests -117

 
 
No external customer single-handedly represents more than 7 % of the consolidated turnover. 
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A N N U A L  A C C O U N T S                                              

A S  O F  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 1 5  

 

Assets 2014 period

Items Net Net

Licences, patents and similar rights 0 2 500

Goodwill 8 644 064 8 624 064

Other intangible fixed assets 2 056 283 1 867 668

Advance payments on intangible assets 0

Total intangible assets 10 700 347 10 494 232

Other tangible fixed assets 946 105 615 012

Total tangible fixed assets 946 105 615 012

Other equity investments 30 693 703 30 455 225

Receivables linked to equity investment 6 992 311 4 835 186

Loans 0

Other financial assets 937 563 865 809

Total financial assets 38 623 577 36 156 220

FIXED ASSETS 50 270 029 47 265 464

Advance payments to suppliers 245 860 279 148

Trade and accounts receivable 6 083 083 6 901 134

Other receivables 19 009 026 16 449 131

Total receivables 25 337 969 23 629 413

Marketable securities 2 336 098 2 336 098

Cash and cash equivalents 219 380 497 937

Pre-paid expenses 283 255 284 495

Total cash and cash equivalents 2 838 733 3 118 530

CURRENT ASSETS 28 176 702 26 747 943

Unrealised exchange losses 478 450 670 530

GENERAL TOTAL 78 925 181 74 683 937

2015 period

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Liabilities

Items

Share capital 551 808 551 808

Share premiums 35 515 229 35 515 229

Legal reserve 61 067 61 067

Retained profit or loss brought forward 2 953 507 -494 677

Profit/loss for the financial year 1 095 460 3 448 184

Total equity 40 177 071 39 081 611

SHAREHOLDERSô EQUITY 40 177 071 39 081 611

Provisions for risks 478 450 670 530

Provisions for charges 30 000 68 455

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 508 450 738 985

Convertible debt 3 500 000 3 500 000

Loans and debts - lending institutions 3 344 976 10 057 456

Borrowings and other financial debts 26 297 552 17 593 820

Total financial debts 33 142 528 31 151 276

Trade and accounts payables 3 362 191 3 163 869

Tax and social security payables 417 883 470 879

Payables to fixed assets supppliers 66 360

Other payables 37 503

Total misc. debts 3 846 434 3 672 251

LIABILITIES 36 988 962 34 823 527

Unrealised exchange gains 1 250 696 39 811

GENERAL TOTAL 78 925 181 74 683 937

2015 period 2014 period
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2015 INCOME STATEMENT 
 

2015 period 2014 period

12 months 12 months

OPERATING INCOME

Merchandise sales 499

Sale of products (Goods)

Sale of products (Services) 11,672,303 8,954,691

NET TURNOVER 11,672,802 8,954,691

Production left in stock

Capitalised production 685,000 640,500

Operating subsidies received 47,259 134,453

Write-back of provisions and depreciations, transfer of 

expenses

370,713 2,659,215

Other revenues (sale deliveries)

TOTAL (1) 12,775,774 12,388,859

OPERATING EXPENSES

Merchandise purchases 21,200

Service purchases

Changes in stocks (merchandise)

Purchases of raw materials and other supplies

Changes in stocks (Raw materials)

Other purchases and external charges 11,889,487 10,181,854

Taxes (other than income taxes) 283,115 257,868

Payroll costs

Social security expenses 564,377 660,066

Depreciation and amortisation of assets 725,740 528,166

Provisions for assets

Provisions for current assets 65,000 393,216

Provisions Risks and charges

Other charges 112,816 40,238

TOTAL (2) 13,661,735 12,061,408

OPERATING INCOME (1-2) -885,961 327,451

JOINT VENTURES

Joint ventures (+)

Joint ventures (-) 1,676

FINANCIAL INCOME

Financial income from investments 4,468,373 5,340,327

Income from other investments

Other interest receivable and similar income 31,930 1,149,069

Write-back of provisions 1,348,562 2,285,150

Realised exchange gains 302 2,171

Gains from sales of marketable securities 1,524 7,160

TOTAL (3) 5,850,691 8,783,877

FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Financial depreciation and amortisation expense 2,136,650 3,415,959

Interest payable and similar charges 1,872,642 1,096,213

Investment debt losses 21,619 1,230,434

Realised exchange losses

Net transfer charges 

TOTAL (4) 4,030,912 5,742,607

FINANCIAL RESULT (3-4) 1,819,779 3,041,270

CURRENT RESULT (1-2+3-4) 933,818 3,367,045

EXCEPTIONAL REVENUES

Exceptional revenues from operations

Exceptional revenues from capital transactions 631,983 692,342

Write-back of provisions 68,455 68,455

TOTAL (5) 700,438 760,797

EXCEPTIONAL EXPENSES

Exceptional expenses from operations 7,822 2,901

Exceptional expenses from capital transactions 694,368 676,758

Exceptional amortisation and provisions 30,000

TOTAL (6) 732,190 679,659

EXCEPTIONAL RESULT (5-6) -31,752 81,138

Employee profit-sharing: -7

Income tax -8 -193,392

TOTAL INCOME (1+3+5) 19,326,903 21,933,533

TOTAL EXPENSES (2+4+6+7+

8)
18,231,445 18,485,350

PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 1,095,460 3,448,184
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I. HIGHLIGHTS OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
Business & Decision SA's core activities consist of lease management for most of its activities in 
France, holding of the Groupôs shares, centralisation of all financial operations and premises and 
equipment management for its French subsidiaries. 
 

Turnover has increased from ú8,954,691 at 31 December 2014 to ú11,672,803 at 31 December 2015. It 
corresponds to fixed costs re-invoicing (leases, rents, equipment) entirely borne by BUSINESS & 
DECISION and to lease management fees.  
 

Restructuring and reorganisation operations: 
 

- During the financial periodôs first Half-Year, the Belgian subsidiary Business & Decision Consult 
acquired the business assets of Uchrony, a digital specialist, for ú193K (2015 turnover: ú816K) 

 

- During 2015's second Half-year, Business & Decision UK Ltd was created to develop a Business 
Intelligence activity in the United Kingdom. Business & Decision holds 50% of the companyôs shares, 
with company employees owning the rest. 

 

 

II. POST-PERIOD EVENTS 
 
Governance: 
On 29 January 2016, the founder and Chairman and Managing Director, Patrick Bensabat, passed 
away. Acting in his capacity of Deputy Managing Director and member of the Board of Directors, 
Christophe Dumoulin managed the Group for an interim period.  
At a shareholdersô General Meeting, held on 22 March, a new Board of Directors was elected, which 
met on the same day and appointed Christophe Dumoulin as Chairman and Managing Director. 
 

Financing: 
The Group negotiated with its banks a restructuring of its medium-term debt as follows: 
- the early repayment on 30 March 2016 of the remaining balance of the syndicated loan granted in 

May 2013 by a pool of banks 
- and the setting up of several medium-term loans amounting to 7.75 million euros, with maturities 

ranging from 2020 to 2022 (contract negotiations currently under way). 
 
The details of these new financing arrangements are described below: 
- 6.5 million euro-loan from a pool of three banks, to be repaid over 4 years, including a CAPEX line of 

2.5 million euros for investments$$. 

- 1.25 million granted by the BPI as a growth loan (prêt de croissance) to be repaid over 7 years with a 
2-year grace period.  

 
These new loans (except for the BPI growth loan) would be secured by a senior pledge of all the shares 
of the Business & Decision France subsidiary, pari passu, in favour of the involved banks. 
 

III. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, RULES AND METHODS 
 

General accounting conventions have been applied (regulation 99-03) to respect the prudence principle and in 
accordance with the following basic assumptions: 

- Continuity of operations 
- Permanence of accounting methods from one period to another 
- Independence of each financial year 

and in accordance with general rules for drawing up and presenting accounts. 
 

The historical cost method is the basic method used for the valuation of items included in the accounts. 
 

Business and Decisionôs annual accounts have been drawn up in full consideration of the crisis context, namely as 
regards assets valuation. Intangible and financial assets are stated based on assumptions arrived at using existing 
market data at closing date. 
The annual accounts are presented in Euros and have been approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2013. 
 

III.1 Intangible fixed assets 

 
III .1.1 Goodwill 
Goodwill is valued at acquisition or at feeder value. 
Merger losses correspond to the negative difference between net assets received by the merging entity for an amount 
equivalent to its equity investment in the merged entity, and the latter's net book value. These losses are capitalised if 
they are capital losses (mali techniques). 
At the end of the financial period, goodwill is valued in order to ensure that the value in use is not less than net book 
value. 
 

Valuation is done namely by applying the discounted future cash flow method, calculated using the cash generating 
units to which these goodwill are associated. 
Assumptions, estimates or assessments are based on existing information or situations at the time at which the 
accounts are drawn which can, in the future, turn out to be somewhat different.  
A provision for depreciation is created if the value in use is less than the net book value. 
 

III.1.2 Other intangible fixed assets 
 

¶ Valuation 
Other intangible fixed assets, purchased or developed software, are valued at acquisition cost or at production cost. 
 

¶ Software amortisation 
Depreciations are calculated on a straight-line basis over 12 months for frequently used software and three years for 
ASP licences and in-house developments. 
 

III.2 Tangible fixed assets 
 

¶ Valuation 
Tangible fixed assets are valued at acquisition or production cost. 
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¶ Amortisation 
Amortisation is calculated according to the straight-line or diminishing balance method and on the basis of the useful 
life. 

- Fixtures and Fittings  : straight-line over 3 years 
- Office and IT equipment  : straight-line over 3 to 5 years or diminishing balance over 5 years 
- Transport equipment  : straight-line over 3 years 
 

III.3 Financial assets 
 
III.3.1 Participating interests & shares  
 
Equity investments are valued at acquisition or at feeder value. Accelerated depreciation is applied to the shares 
acquisition costs shown in the asset side of the balance sheet as equity investment. This depreciation is applied over 5 
years prorata temporis. The company has chosen to include transfer rights, servicing fees, fees payable and deed fees 
in shares acquisition costs. When contingent payments are provided for contractually, they are accounted for as soon 
as their application is probable and that the amount can be reliably measured. 
At closing date, this value is reconciled to an estimate of the value in use. 
The latter is assessed by taking into account the following: 
- Shareholdersô equity 
- Unrealised capital gains 
- Profitability 
- Forecasts 
- Usefulness to the company 
 

The company applies namely the discounted future cash flow method. 
Assumptions, estimates or assessments are based on existing information or situations at the time at which the 
accounts are drawn which can, in the future, turn out to be somewhat different.   
When value in use thus determined is lower than acquisition cost, a provision is made for the difference. 
 

III.3.2 Other financial assets 
 
They are valued at acquisition cost and if necessary, depreciated by means of provisions in order to account for any 
decrease in value noted at year-end. 
 

¶ Treasury shares  
Treasury shares are valued as an average of the last 20 market prices prevailing before closing date. When net asset 
value thus determined is lower than acquisition cost, a provision is made for the difference. 
 

III.4 Receivables 
 

¶ Valuation 
Receivables are stated at par value. 
 

¶ Depreciation 
Receivables are, if necessary, depreciated by means of provisions in order to account for collection issues that they 
may give rise to. 
 

III.5 Marketable securities 
 

¶ Valuation principle 
Marketable securities are valued using the First in, First out method. 
They are, if necessary, depreciated by means of provisions in order to account for any decrease in share value noted 
at year-end. The value of treasury shares held with regards to a market-making agreement is calculated as an average 
of the last 20 market prices prevailing in December and a provision is made if necessary. 
 

III.6 Liabilities, receivables and cash on hand in foreign currencies 
 

The exchange value of debts and receivables in foreign currencies is presented in the balance sheet; unrealised 
exchange losses are included in a provision for unrealised losses. Cash on hand denominated in foreign currency is 
converted using the rate of exchange prevailing at closing date and resulting foreign currency translation adjustments 
are included in the financial results. 
 

III.7 Provisions for liabilities and charges 
 

Liabilities whose settlement date or amount are not precisely determined and that lead, at the end of the financial 
period, to a commitment to a third-party, which will probably represent an outflow of funds to said third party without 
equivalent compensation, will lead to the creation of a provision for liabilities and charges. 
 
 

IV. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON BALANCE SHEET ASSETS 
 
IV.1 Movements that affected fixed asset items 
 
IV.1 .1 Intangible fixed assets 

Gross 

01/01/15
Acquisition Reclass.

Transfers, 

scrapping, 

others

Gross 

31/12/15

Amort. 

31/12/15
Net 31/12/15 Net 31/12/14

Licences, rights       273,209         243,324            29,885       29,884                       0                  2,500   

Goodwill 8,624,064        20,000       8,644,064         8,644,063   8,624,063

Software 1,904,118        36,819      1,469,330          471,607   471,606                    -     

Work-in- progress 2,112,338      685,000       2,797,338   741,053       2,056,284   1,867,667

TOTAL 12,913,728 741,819 0 1,712,654 11,942,894 1,242,543 10,700,349 10,494,229  
 
At 31 December 2015, goodwill corresponds mainly to consulting activities (Elliance, Bwinner, Exensé).  
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Software bought during the financial period (ú36,819) was transferred to a leasing company at 
acquisition cost.  
 

The increase in fixed assets under construction is due to the acquisition of software development 
services from Group subsidiaries and amounts to ú685,000. 
 

IV.1.2 Tangible fixed assets 
 

Gross 

01/01/15

Universal 

Transfer 

of Assets Acquisition

Transfers, 

scrapping

Gross 

31/12/15

Amort. 

31/12/15 Net 31/12/15 Net 31/12/14

Fixtures, renovations and 

Fittings
1,371,146 533,617 563,694 1,341,069 414,702 926,367 614,955

Transport equipment 2,129 23,664 25,793 6,055 19,738 57

Office and IT equipment 277,199 594,495 863,381 8,313 8,313 0 0

TOTAL 1,650,474 0 1,151,776 1,427,075 1,375,175 429,070 946,105 615,013  
 

ú594,495 worth of IT equipment was acquired and they were transferred to a leasing company at 
acquisition cost. 
 

IV.1.3 Financial assets 
 

Gross 

01/01/15

Acquis. Transfers, 

transfers from 

Gross 

31/12/15

Prov. 

31/12/15

Net 31/12/15 Net 31/12/14

Equity investments (*) 35,937,768 1,802,480 1,270,677 36,469,571 5,775,868 30,693,703 30,455,225

Related receivables 9,835,186 2,157,125 11,992,311 5,000,000 6,992,311 4,835,186

Loans and guarantees
937,690 120,411 51,053 1,007,048 69,485 937,563 865,809

TOTAL 46,710,643 4,080,016 1,321,730 49,468,930 10,845,353 38,623,577 36,156,220  
 

(*) At 30 December 2015, all Presse Média Participation company (holding company of the French daily newspaper 
"Libération") shares had been exchanged for shares of the Altice Média Group SARL (Luxembourg-based company) 
which groups all media and communications interests of Altice Group. 

Details of provisions for 

depreciation
Value 01/01/15 Reclassification

Depreciation 

provisions

Depreciation 

reversals
Value 31.12.15

Equity investments 5,482,543 298,200 4,875 5,775,868

Related receivables 5,000,000 5,000,000

Loans and guarantees 71,881 2,396 69,485

TOTAL 10,554,423 0 298,200 7,271 10,845,353  
 
IV.2 Amortisation 
 

Allowance allocation for the year 

Straight-line Diminishing balance

Intangible fixed assets

Patents 270,708 2,500 243,324 29,884

Software 2,148,788 496,384 1,432,512 1,212,660

Tangible fixed assets

Fittings, renovations and 

fixtures

755,524 222,872 563,694 414,702

Transport equipment 2,071 3,983 6,054

Office and IT equipment 277,865 269,553 8,312

  Total 3,454,956 0 725,740 0 2,509,082 1,671,613

Amort. 

31/12/15

Amort. 

01/01/15

Universal 

Transfer of 

Assets Amort.

Allowances 
Decrease

 
 

IV.3 Receivables due date 
 

All receivables, with the exception of receivables associated with research tax credit, are due within one 
year. 

Total -1 yr +1 yr

Net trade receivables 6,083,083 6,083,083 6,901,134

Other receivables information 19,009,026 17,881,470 1,127,556 16,449,131

Prepayments to suppliers 2,655 2,655 81,644

Government, tax receivable ï tax consolidation * 12,704,799 11,577,243 1,127,556 11,395,333

Government, VAT 292,168 292,168 701,790

Other 34,556 34,556 74,613

Group current accounts 5,974,848 5,974,848 4,195,751

* "Government, tax receivable ï tax consolidation:" see tax credit details below

2015
2014

 
 

Prepayments to suppliers comprise of advance payments and instalments. Accrued invoices are 
recognised, if necessary. 
 

Valuation of the various investment lines, in accordance with the rules defined in § III.4, has led the 
company to recognise at 31 December 2015 a ú1,360,000 depreciation on current accounts and 
receivables in order to account for doubtful recovery of prepayments to the Groupôs subsidiaries. A 
reversal of ú670,761 on depreciation was recognised due to the recognition of bad debt loss for the 
former BD Deutschland subsidiary.  
 

2015 2014

Tax credit details 12,704,799 11,395,333

Research tax credit 11,980,866 10,725,548

CICE (comp. & emp. tax credit) 286,403 389,554
Other tax claims 437,530 280,232

 
 
At 31 December 2015, the Group reports tax loss. No instalments have been paid during the financial 
period.  
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Receivables associated with research and competitiveness and employment tax credit are calculated 
over all of the Groupôs French subsidiaries and escalated to the tax groupôs parent company, as 
stipulated by the tax consolidation agreement. Only the not yet prefinanced share is entered as an 
asset.  
 

IV.4 Information on income to be received 

2015 2014

Information on income to be received 42 268 99 352

Customer Invoices to be prepared 11 420
Trade payables, credit notes 25 283
VAT on invoices to be settled 42 268 62 650  

IV.5 Information on deferred charges 

2015 2014

Pre-paid expenses 283,255               284,493               

Rents 209,411               142,695               

Financial interests -                        71,448                 

Insurance 28,963                 28,655                 

Advertising 40,520                 36,723                 

Other 4,361                   4,972                    
 

IV.6 Cash on hand and marketable securities 

2 015 2 014

Banks 219 380 497 937

Marketable securities (gross value) 2 330 490 2 330 490

Marketable securities (net value) 2 330 490 2 330 490

Treasury shares (net value) 5 608 5 608

TOTAL CASH ASSETS 2 555 478 2 834 035  
 
At 31 December 2015, marketable securities comprise of UCITS shares not depreciated, given their net 
asset value at the end of the reporting period which is ú2,785,469. 
The company holds 735 of its own shares. 
 
IV.7 Currency translation adjustments 
Currency translations adjustments have been made, when necessary, for the accounts of certain 
subsidiaries. 
 

Information on unrealised exchange losses: 
2015 2014

C/C  BD NA PA (USA) 281 933

C/C BD LTD (Great Britain) 478 450 378 880

C/C BD AG (Switzerland) 9 717

Total unrealised exchange losses 478 450 670 530  
 

Information on unrealised exchange gains: 

2015 2014

C/C  BD NA PA (USA) 483 063 39 811

C/C BD Holding (Switzerland) 767 633

Total unrealised exchange gains 1 250 696 39 811

 
 

V. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON BALANCE SHEET LIABILITIES 
 

V.1 Share capital 
 

At 31 December 2015, Business & Decisionôs capital was made up of 7,882,975 shares and amounted 
to ú551,808.25. When the merger of assets leads to favourable variance, the latter is recognised in 
financial income as its proportionate interest in income accumulated by the company, and not 
distributed, since its acquisition, and in shareholdersô equity for any residual amount or if the 
accumulated income cannot be determined in a reliable manner.  
 
Changes in shareholdersô equity : 

Closing Appropriation Results Closing 

01/01/2015 result N-1 31/12/2015 31/12/2015

Share capital 551 808 551 808

Share premium 35 515 229 35 515 229

Legal reserve 61 067 61 067

Retained profit or loss brought forward -494 677 3 448 184 2 953 507

Profit/loss for the financial year 3 448 184 -3 448 184 1 095 460 1 095 460

Accelerated depreciation 0 0

Shareholdersô equity 39 081 611 0 1 095 460 40 177 071  
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V.2 Provisions 

Type
Opening 

01/01/15

Universal 

Transfer 

of Assets

Provision

Carried 

forward 

(used 

prov.)

Carried 

forward 

(Unused 

prov.)

Value at 

31/12/15

Other provisions 68 455 30 000 68 455 30 000

Provisions for currency exchange losses 670 530 478 450 670 530 478 450
Total Provisions 738 984 0 508 450 0 738 985 508 450  

 
V.3 Financial debts 

2015 2014

Micado bond loan 3,500,000 3,500,000

Syndicated credit 2,023,399 3,648,399

Current bank loans 1,321,577 6,409,057

Borrowings and other financial 

debts

26,297,552 17,593,820

TOTAL 33,142,529 31,151,276  
 

Banking Subject
Initial 

amount in úK
Start Date

Guarantees 

issued

Amounts 

owed in úK 

31/12/2015

Hedging 

Arrangements
Rates type

Syndicated 

credit
Subsidiaries' acquisitions          6,500   24/05/13

 Pledging of BD 

Provinces shares 
         2,023   Rate swap

Euribor 3 

months + 

1.7%

Micado
Micado France 2018 bond 

loan
         3,500   16/10/12  N/A          3,500   None Fixed Rate

       10,000            5,523   Total financial liability  
 

Other borrowings and financial liabilities are represented by interest-bearing overdrafts granted to Group 
subsidiaries. 
 

The loan agreement signed on 24 May 2013 with a bank pool, defines three covenants as shown in the 
following table: 
Ratio R1: Net financial debt/Shareholdersô equity 
Ratio R2: Net financial debt/EBITDA 
Ratio R3: EBITDA/Consolidated net financial interest expense 
 

 
Negotiated values per covenant 

R1 < than R2 < than R3 > than 
2015 0.70 2.80 4.00 

2016 0.70 2.80 4.00 

2017 0.70 2.80 4.00 

 
At 31 December 2015, all covenants were met according to the table below: 

2015 2014*

R1 0.43 0.48

R2 2.66 2.69

R3 4.88 4.38  
 
At 31 December 2015, values used to calculate bank covenants are as follows: 

úK 2015 2014*

Net Financial Debt 26,757 28,542

Total of shareholders' funds 61,761 59,491

EBITDA 10,062 10,615

Consolidated financial expense 2,063 2,424  
* See IV.2 Restatement of 2014 consolidated financial statements in compliance with IAS 8 

 
V.4 Payables due date 
 

2015 2014*

R1 0.43 0.48

R2 2.66 2.69

R3 4.88 4.38
 

 

V5. Expenses to be paid included in payables 
2015 2014

Financial debts -16,113 -26,439

- Accrued interests on bank overdrafts 53,521 80,985

- Received deposits -69,634 -107,424

Accrued supplier invoices 255,190 375,798

Tax and social security payables 7,071 24,448

Of which:

- Corporate Social Solidarity contribution 19,327

- Tax on Company car 1,884 2,234

- AAR VAT 2,887

- CVAE 5,187 0  
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VI. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT 
 

VI.1 Turnover 
 

Business & Decision has leased business concerns to some of its subsidiaries.  
The franchise royalties correspond to euros 1,144,946, i.e. 9.8% of turnover. Since 1 January 2007, 
Business & Decision does not have any operational activity; its turnover relates to re-invoicing 
subsidiaries for expenses borne on their behalf and franchise royalties. 
 
 

VI.2 Capitalised production 
 

Capitalised production of ú685,000 was recognised to offset development costs incurred for the 
installation of software meant for sale. 
 

VI.3 Transfer of expenses and write-back of provisions 
 

The transfer of expenses item comprises mostly of ú12,057 of insurance refunds. 
 

VI.4 Financial result analysis 
 

FINANCIAL RESULT 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Related receivables revenues 424,533 443,847

Dividends received from subsidiaries 4,043,840 4,896,480

Net imcome on marketable securities transfer 1,524 7,160

Merger surplus 31,930 1,149,069

Write-back of provisions for currency exhange losses 670,530 1,880,153

Write-back of provisions for equity investments 4,875 400,000

Write-back of provisions for finance receivables 670,761

Write-back of provisions for financial risks 2,396 4,997

Currency exchange gains 302 2,171

Total financial income 5,850,691 8,783,878

Provisions for currency exhange losses 478,450 670,530

Provisions for equity investments 298,200 485,303

Provisions for financial receivables' depreciations 1,360,000 1,980,125

Interests and similar expenses 1,207,006 1,096,213

Investment debt losses 665,636 0

Negative exchange rate effect 21,619 1,230,434

Total financial expenses 4,030,911 5,462,606

FINANCIAL RESULT 1,819,780 3,321,272  
 

VI.5 Exceptional result analysis 

EXCEPTIONAL RESULT 2015 2014

Net book income from financial asset items disposed

of

50,000

Net book income from asset items disposed of 631,983 642,342

Provision reversals 68,455 68,455

Other exceptional income

Total exceptional income 700,438 760,797

Fines and tickets 7,822 2,901

Net book value from asset items disposed of 631,315 641,758

Net book value of financial asset items disposed of 63,053 35,000

Provision allowance 30,000

Total exceptional expenses 732,191 679,660

EXCEPTIONAL RESULT -31,752 81,137  
 
 
VII. NOTE ON OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS 
 

VII.1 Leasing commitment 
 

ENTRY

BALANCE SHEET 

ITEMS

COST NET RESIDUAL 

PURCHAS

E PRICE

-1 For period 

(2)

Cumulative 

(2)

VALUE For period Cumulative Up to 1 yr + 1 yr to 5 

yrs

+ 5 yrs Total 

amount 

due

-3

Land 1,023,596 1,023,596

Buildings 4,320,287 135,688 1,379,989 2,940,298 0

Plant & machinery

Other fixed tangible and 

intangible assets
7,573,149 571,608 5,556,908 2,016,241 937,813 3,226,193 412,494 1,072,617 1,485,111

0

Current assets

TOTAL 12,917,032 707,296 6,936,897 5,980,135 1,339,029 6,608,437 813,710 2,677,481 3,693,047 7,184,238 0

FIXED ASSETS LEASES LEASING COMMITMENTS

AMORTISATION

FEES PAID FEES OUTSTANDING

5,699,127401,216 3,382,244 401,216 3,693,0471,604,864

 
(1) Item value at the time of contract signature 
(2) Amortisation for the period and cumulative amortisation that would have been recorded had these items been bought, straight-line 

amortisation over 5 years for contracts signed since 1 January 2014 according to terms defined in Notes 3.1 and 3.2 
(3) As per contract 

 
VII.2 Guarantees commitment 
 

VII.2.1 Guarantees issued 
 

These guarantees were only issued within the context of corporate financing. 
 

Within the context of a ú6.5M loan from a bank pool (24 May 2013): Senior pledge of 81,520 
Business & Decision France shares as payment guarantee over the whole loan duration (48 months). 
This pledge was released after early repayment of this loan on 31 March 2016. A new similar pledge 
arrangement was set up in favour of all involved banks in the Groupôs new financing programme (see 
Note II). 
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¶ Overdraft facilities granted by the Société Générale. 
BD SA acted as a guarantor for the Société Générale to grant a GBP 65K overdraft facility to 
CASMACO and a USD 1 million overdraft facility to BD NAPA. 
 

¶ Loan granted by BNP 
BD SA stood surety for a ú1,000,000 loan granted to its Business & Decision Interactive Eolas by the 
BNP within the context of an investment programme for the extension of its Grenoble-based Datacentre. 
The principal balance amounts to ú474K at 31 December 2015. 

 
¶ Loan granted by Caisse dôEpargne Rh¹ne Alpes 
The Caisse dôEpargne Rh¹ne Alpes granted two real-estate loans to SCI Green Mangin, a subsidiary in 
which Business & Decision SA owns 66.67% of shares, the principal balances of which amount to 
ú1,696K and ú358K respectively.  
These loans are guaranteed respectively by a first-rank and second-rank mortgage on the Grenoble 
Datacentre building used by the Business & Decision Interactive Eolas subsidiary. 
 

¶ Foreign payment guarantee of USD150K  
Foreign payment guarantee of USD150K by CM-CIC Banques to Banco International del Peru in favour 
of BD Latam. 
 

¶ Performance bond and account pledge  
Arizona Stateôs Department of Corrections has chosen Business & decision and its technological 
platform, Mi-Case, to replace the information system dedicated to adult inmate management (Adult 
Inmate Management System). Within this context, a $16M Performance bond was issued in favour of 
Arizona State by an American insurance company on behalf of the Business & Decision North America 
subsidiary and for a time period ending on 30 November 2017. BNP Paribas, acting on behalf Business 
& Decision Groupôs bank pool, has issued a counter guarantee in the form of a standby letter of credit, 
providing for the payment of $8M and for a period ending on the 30 November 2017, payable on first 
demand to the issuer of the performance bond. To hedge this operation, Business & Decision SA 
pledged, in favour of BNP Paribas still acting on behalf of the bank pool, a securities account as a 
guarantee for the principal sum of $3M until 30 November 2017.  
 
 

VII.2.2 Guarantees received 
None 
 
 

VII.2 .3 Acquisitions and Equity investments contingent payments clauses 
 
CERI MEDICAL. The CERI MEDICAL company's acquisition deed provides for contingent payments 
calculated based on EBIT over four years: 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017. Provision was made for a 
maximum contingent payment of ú225K to be equally spread over the four years. 
At 31 December 2015, no contingent payment has been considered since performance objectives 
contractually agreed upon have not been met. 
 
 

VII.2.4 Other commitments 
 

Å Pledging of a Business & Decision term account, amounting to ú107K, by the CM-CIC in favour of the 
Bank of Central African States (CEMAC). 
 

 

VIII. OTHER INFORMATION 
 
VIII.1 Company workforce 
None 
 
 

VIII.2 Group exposure to market risk (rate, change, shares) 
 

Through its operations, the Group is exposed to different types of financial risks: liquidity risk, credit risk, 
currency risk and interest rate risk. Financial risk management is performed by the Groupôs treasury 
department and refers to minimising the potentially unfavourable effects of these risks on the Groupôs 
financial performance. 
Liquidity risk and credit risk: Liquidity risk management involves maintaining sufficient cash and 
marketable securities and the availability of funding to meet the Groupôs needs through an adequate 
amount of credit facilities. Medium-term credit facilities are subject to financial covenants. At 31 
December 2015, all covenants were met (see Note V.3).  
 

The financial assets that could expose the Group to credit risk are trade receivables. At 31 December 
2015, they amount to ú75,417K as compared to ú74,043K at 31 December 2014. The biggest client 
accounts for approximately 6% of the Groupôs turnover.$$ Exposure to credit risk due to other 
customers is limited because of high diversification. 
 

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The client selection process and related 
credit risk analysis are fully integrated within the global risk assessment process that takes place 
throughout the life cycle of a contract.  
In order to meet its short-term financing needs in France, the Group has set up a factoring agreement 
involving approximately 90% of its French portfolio.  
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¶ Short-term authorisations and factoring agreement: 

Authorised Used-up Authorised Used-up

Short-term credit lines France 4.5 4.5

Short-term credit lines International 1.5 1.5

Factoring agreement 22 17.3 22 17.7

2015 2014
(EUR millions)

 
Cash transactions are limited to high-credit quality financial institutions.  
 

Currency risk: The Groupôs financial performance is materially influenced by fluctuations in the 
exchange rate since a significant portion of business activities takes place outside of the euro zone. 
The main residual exposures are primarily in UK pounds, US dollars and Swiss Francs. The Group's 
exposure to operating currency risks is highly limited by its activity location, since its turnover is 
homogeneously distributed amongst countries, as is its operating expenses. The company has no 
foreign exchange hedging arrangements in place. The sensitivity of euro fluctuations of +/- 10% vis-à-
vis the above-mentioned currencies does not impact in any significant way on the current operating 
income at 31 December 2015. 
 

¶ Exposure to operating and financial exchange rate risks 
 

The Groupôs exposure to currency risks, due to Group subsidiaries recognising internal and external 
operations at 31 December 2015 in a different functional currency, is as follows: 

Keuros Asset (a) Liabilities (b)

Commitments 

in foreign 

currency (c)

Net position 

before hedging 

(d) = (a) -(b) +/-  

(c)

Hedging 

financial 

instruments ú

Net position 

after hedging 

(f) = (d) - (e)

Euro 200,738    137,011    63,728             63,728        

USD 24,501      21,891      2,610               2,610          

CHF 10,469      9,715        753                  753             

UK Pound 5,254        5,014        240                  240             

Other 6,841        7,700        860 -                 860 -            

 
The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of the major USD, GBP and CHF currency fluctuations 
for 2015. 
 

A 10 % increase or reduction of the Euro compared to the following currencies at 31 December would 
result in an increase or reduction in the current operating income by the amounts below indicated. Note 
that the current operating income at 31 December 2015 is ú6,081K. 
 

úK 10% increase 10% decrease

Benchmark current operating income/loss 6,081 6,081

Current operating income/loss after exchange rate 

effect
6,420 5,666

 
 
 

Interest rate risk: Half of Business & Decision Groupôs medium-term bank loan is at fixed rate. The 
company has set up a hedging arrangement for its medium-term syndicated loan to ensure a fixed rate. 
The outstanding credit amount involved is 2 million euros. Apart from this hedging arrangement, the 
Group has never resorted to derivative financial instruments. 
 
VIII.3 Claw-back provisions 
 

Debt write-offs recognised in 2011 and thereafter detailed had been approved by Business and 
Decisions SA under claw-back provision conditions: 

- Write-off of sundry debts amounting to ú2,877,437 in favour of Business & Decision North 
America Inc.  

- Write-off of debts amounting to ú1,271,994 in favour of Business & Decision Israel Ltd 
Write-off of debts amounting to ú300,000 in favour of Business & Decision Spain 

- Write-off of debts amounting to ú620,000 in favour of Cognitis Systems Iberica 
At 31 December 2015, the conditions set for debt write-off claw-back provisions are not met. 
 
 
 

VIII.4 Directorsô remuneration 
None 
 
 

VIII.5 Tax consolidation regime 
 
A tax consolidation regime has been put in place as from 1 January 2006. It provides for neutrality. 
Each company member to the regime incurs its tax expense as if it was being taxed separately. The tax 
consolidation regime does not provide for payment, to unprofitable subsidiaries, of tax savings realised 
due to the use of these subsidiaries' losses by the parent company. 

ú 2015 2014ú ú

Reported taxes -193,392

Taxes without tax consolidation

Taxes for which the Company is jointly liable
Reportable Group losses 23,911,786 14,763,768  

 
 

VIII.6 Reduction in future tax expenses 
None 
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VIII.7 Taxation breakdown current results/exceptional results 

Base Tax

Current result 1,232,020

Exceptional result -31,752

Net results 1,200,268 193,391 1,393,660  
 
VIII.8 Information on affiliated companies or those having a link by virtue of participating interests 

Affiliates Companies having TotalFinancial fixed assets 28,771,731 1,921,471 30,693,202

Related receivables 12,967,158 12,967,158

Trade and accounts receivable 5,170,898 5,170,898

Trade and accounts payables 2,475,278 2,475,278

Financial debts 26,367,286 26,367,286

Reinvoicing and fees 10,993,282 10,993,282

Financial expenses 407,808 407,808

Financial income 4,468,372 4,468,372  
 

 

VIII.9 Information on subsidiaries and holdings 

31-déc-15

Capital

Gross Net

1. Subsidiaries 
(+ 50% of capital owned by 

the company)

BD Holding France 10 000 0 100,00% 10 000 10 000 0 0

CAMONDO 52 000 116 442 100,00% 52 000 52 000 2 500 593 129 993

BD LIFE SCIENCES France 50 000 156 060 100,00% 50 000 50 000 2 364 401 -336 677

BDU 237 725 -106 916 100,00% 1 356 783 484 783 1 398 114 -2 394

BD France 815 200 9 814 960 100,00% 8 100 000 8 100 000 114 245 831 2 049 086

HEREWECAN 37 000 38 042 76,00% 247 500 0 2 196 547 -1 784 219

End of 18-

month 

period 

31/12/15 

EOLAS 228 988 2 264 921 100% 304 511 304 511 11 958 852 879 998

SCI MANGIN 450 000 327 250 66,67% 300 000 300 000 339 050 61 077

METAPHORA 469 543 2 475 028 84,00% 841 289 841 289 2 118 295 4 290

LIFESCIENCES AG 100 000 177 733 100,00% 82 188 82 188 164 088 -29 864

BD LIFE SCIENCES 

Belgium
66 542 1 249 992 100,00% 3 400 000 3 400 000 15 388 785 67 512

BD Espana 113 069 -15 081 100,00% 910 200 455 100 2 334 762 157 756

BD Benelux 218 627 4 692 974 100,00% 3 491 204 3 491 204 21 372 390 -99 648

BD Netherlands 18 000 1 215 908 100,00% 518 000 518 000 3 217 632 149 087

BD UK Holding (GBP) 100 000 619 697 100,00% 142 459 142 459 0 6 806

BD NA (CAD) 100 -107 878 100,00% 72 72 1 111 415 -77 887

BD RUSSIE (RUB) 10 000 18 030 118 100,00% 509 924 509 924 50 694 805 -483 080

BD MAROC (MAD) 300 000 -12 271 444 100,00% 27 273 0 3 652 920 -2 103 758

BD MAURITIUS  ( MUR) 100 000 18 828 562 70,00% 1 621 1 621 29 584 858 523 889

BD SUISSE AG (CHF) 100 000 789 533 100,00% 60 901 60 901 8 697 134 154 258

BD NA PA (USD) 20 350 516 2 812 561 100% 12 589 889 9 871 842 33 771 200 144 384

BD Tunisie (TND) 153 000 289 842 100% 88 337 88 337 13 550 966 468 878

BD PEROU (PEN) 10 000 144 797 90% 130 700 0 5 263 025 -2 280 277

CREATIVE PROBERS 

(INR)
670 000 4 397 237 100% 8 000 8 000 63 389 201 5 033 779

2. Equity investments

(10% to 50% of the capital 

owned by the company)

BEEZEN 100 000 NC 19,00% 54 526 54 526

Frogcast 19,00% 1 520 1 520

FEEDBACK 1 000 0 19,00% 190 190

Detailed information on subsidiaries 

and investments listed below

Previous period 

turnover (before 

tax)

Result (profit or 

loss for previous 

period)

 ( 2 )  ( 3 )

Share capital + 

Reserves and 

amounts c/f 

before results 

appropriation 

Notes 

(closing 

date)

Book value of shares held in ú

INFORMATION ON SUBSIDIARIES AND EQUITY INVESTMENTS in subsidiaries' 

currencies

(Code of Commerce R 123-197-2°)

Share of 

capital held 

(in %)

( 1 )

 
 

(1) Loans & advances made by the company and not repaid: none for all subsidiaries and holdings 
(2) Guarantees issued by the company:  none for all subsidiaries and holdings 
(3) Dividends received: none for all subsidiaries and holdings 
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R E G U L A T O R Y  A G R E E M E N T S  A N D  

C O M M I T M E N T S  

 
 
 
Regulatory agreements and commitments, made or continued, during the financial period ended 
31 December 2015, are presented in detail in the "Statutory Auditorsô reports" chapter found on 
page 76, under the "Statutory Auditors' special report" heading. 

 

C O R P O R A T E  G O V E R N A N C E  

 
Following the death of Patrick BENSABAT on 29 January 2016, Mr. Christophe DUMOULIN, acting in 
his capacity of Deputy Managing Director, assumed the day-to-day management of the Group and an 
Ordinary General Meeting extraordinarily convened was held on 22 March 2016 to appoint new 
Directors Mrs Tova Bensabat, Mr. Jeremy Bensabat, the Business & Decision Ingénierie company and 
Mr. Christophe Dumoulin.  
 

As soon as the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 22 March 2016 was over, the Board of Directors 
met to appoint Mr. Christophe Dumoulin as Company Chairman and Managing Director.   
 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
 

At 31 December 2015, the Board of Directors consisted of the following members: 
- Patrick Bensabat, Chairman and Managing Director 
- Mr. Christophe Dumoulin, Deputy Managing Director and Director 
- Mrs. Tova Bensabat, Director 
 

As from 22 March 2016, the Board of Directors consists of the following members: 
- Mr. Christophe Dumoulin, Chairman and Managing Director 
- Mrs. Tova Bensabat, Director 
- Mr. Jeremy Bensabat, Director 
- The Business & Decision Ingénierie company, Director 

 
Mrs. Tova Bensabat, born Tova Rabinovitsj, is the wife of Patrick Bensabat. 
 

Directors are appointed for a six-year period. During the Ordinary General Meeting held on 22 March 
2016, directors were appointed for a term of six (6) reporting periods, i.e. until the General Meeting 
convened to approve the accounts for the financial period ended 31 December 2021. 
 

During the course of the corporation's existence, directors are appointed, renewed or removed by way 
of the Ordinary General Meeting. They can always be re-elected. 
 

However, a person who is above age seventy cannot be appointed director if his/her appointment will 
result in more than one third of the Board of Directorsô members being more than seventy years of age. 
In which case, the oldest director shall be deemed to have automatically resigned at the close of the 
next Ordinary General Meeting. 
 

It is also noted that the Companyôs Articles of association can only be amended by an Extraordinary 
General Meeting satisfying the quorum and majority requirements laid by the legal provisions and 
regulations governing these meetings. 
 

On this Board, there are no independent directors (as described by the Viénot report: ñone who has no 
relationship of any kind with the Company, its Group or Management, that might prevent them from 
exercising their freedom of judgmentò), directors who are elected by employees, or observers. (see 
Special Report presented at the General Meeting by the Chairman and Managing Director on the 
conditions governing the preparation and organisation of the work of the Board and on Internal control 
procedures). 
 

In terms of Company securities transactions, directors and senior managers must comply with the 
applicable securities law. 
 

Terms governing shareholdersô participation in General Meetings are detailed in the "General Meeting" 
section of the reference document. Provisions pertaining to the terms of shareholder participation in 
General Meetings and to their voting rights are specified in the "Special articles of association" section 
of the reference document and in the Articles of association (Articles 11 and 19).  
Information covered by Article L. 225-100-3 of the Code of Commerce is published in the reference 
document in the "Composition and operation of management bodies" and "General information" 
sections. 
 

MANDATES EXERCISED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEMBERS DURING THE PAST FIVE YEARS  
 

PATRICK BENSABAT 
Mandates exercised until 29 January 2016 

 Companies 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

1 Business & Decision SA Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

2 Business & Decision France Manager Manager Manager Chairman Chairman 
3 

Business & Decision Corporate 
Services Director Director Director Director Director 

4 
Business & Decision Interactive 

Eolas Manager Manager Manager Manager Manager 
5 Business & Decision University Chairman Chairman Chairman Chairman Chairman 
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6 Metaphora Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

7 
Business & Decision Life 

Sciences    Manager Manager Manager 
8 CeriMedical    Chairman Chairman 
9 HereWeCan    Chairman Chairman 

10 
Business & Decision France 

Holding    Chairman Chairman 
11 Business & Decision Ingenierie Chairman Chairman Chairman Chairman Chairman 
12 Business & Decision Paris Manager Manager Manager Manager  

13 Business & Decision PACA Manager Manager Manager Manager  

14 Business & Decision Picardie Manager Manager Manager Manager  

15 
Business & Decision Services 

IDF Director     

16 
Business & Decision Services 

Régions Director     

17 Exens Chairman     

18 Business & Decision CRM Manager     

19 Business & Decision IT Chairman     

20 Business & Decision Espagne Chairman Chairman Chairman Chairman Chairman 
21 Business & Decision Maroc Manager Manager Manager Manager Manager 
22 Business & Decision Benelux Managing 

Director 
Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

Managing 
Director 

23 BD Life Sciences (Belgium) Director Director Director Director Director 
24 Business & Decision AG Director Director Director Director Director 
25 Business & Decision Suisse SA Chairman and 

Director 
Chairman and 

Director 
Chairman and 

Director 
Chairman and 

Director 
Chairman and 

Director 
26 BD Life Sciences AG Director Director Director Director Director 
27 

Business & Decision 
Netherlands Director Director Director Director Director 

28 
Business & Decision UK 

Holding 
Executive 
Director 

Executive 
Director 

Executive 
Director 

Executive 
Director 

Executive 
Director 

29 Casmaco Limited Chairman Chairman Chairman Chairman Chairman 
30 

Business & Decision (UK) 
Limited     

Executive 
Director 

31 Business & Decision UK LTD Executive 
Director 

Executive 
Director    

32 CognitisIberica Chairman     

33 Domino Director     

34 Business & Decision Europ Director     

35 Business & Decision LTD Executive 
Director     

36 Panames Manager Manager Manager Manager Manager 
37 PB Management    Manager Manager 
38 CD Management Manager     

 
CHRISTOPHE DUMOULIN 
Mandates exercised since 2011 
 Companies 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

1 Business & Decision SA Director 
Deputy MD 

Director 
Deputy MD 

Director 
Deputy MD 

Director 
Deputy MD 

Director 
Deputy MD 

2 Business & Decision Benelux Director Director Director Director Director 
3 BZen Management Manager Manager Manager Manager Manager 
4 Raleur.com Manager Manager Manager Manager Manager 
5 PB Management Manager Manager Manager   

6 B&D Net Manager Manager    

7 Sansol & Co Manager     

 
Mandates exercised as from 22 March 2016 

 Companies Mandates 
1 Business & Decision SA Chairman and Managing Director 
2 Business & Decision France Chairman 
3 Business & Decision Corporate Services Director 
4 Business & Decision Interactive Eolas Manager 
5 Business & Decision University Chairman 
6 Metaphora Chairman and Managing Director 
7 Business & Decision Life Sciences Manager 
8 CeriMedical Chairman 
9 HereWeCan Chairman 

10 Business & Decision France Holding Chairman 
11 Business & Decision Benelux Managing Director 
12 Casmaco Limited Director 
13 BZen Management Manager 
14 Raleur.com Manager 
 
TOVA BENSABAT 
Mandates exercised since 2011 
 Companies 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

1 Business & Decision SA Director Director Director Director Director 
2 Business & Decision Benelux Director Director Director Director Director 
 
Mandates exercised as from 22 March 2016 
 Companies Mandates 

1 Business & Decision SA Director 
2 Business & Decision Benelux Director 
3 Business & Decision Ingénierie Chairman 
4 PB Management Manager 
 
JEREMY BENSABAT 
Mandate exercised as from 22 March 2016 
 Company Mandate 

1 Business & Decision SA Director 
 
BUSINESS & DECISION INGENIERIE 
Mandate exercised as from 22 March 2016 
 Company Mandate 

1 Business & Decision SA Director 
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CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AT ADMINISTRATION, MANAGEMENT AND 

SUPERVISORY AND TOP MANAGEMENT LEVEL 
 

The Company entertains the usual relationships with all of its subsidiaries within the context of the 
Groupôs day-to-day management. 
 

At 31 December 2015, Mr. Patrick BENSABAT and Mr. Christophe DUMOULIN, Business & Decision 
Company directors, had management roles and/or were members of the corporate bodies of Business 
& Decision Group companies and as such, were paid remunerations. 
 

As from 22 March 2016, Christophe Dumoulin and Mr. Jeremy Bensabat, Business & Decision 
Company directors, have management roles and/or are members of corporate bodies of Business & 
Decision Group companies and as such, are paid remunerations. 
 

To date, Mrs. Tova Bensabat and the Business & Decision Ingénierie company are not being paid any 
remuneration.  
 

A resolution shall be submitted to the Combined General Meeting to be held on 28 June 2016 to 
establish the directors' fees amount.   
 

Beyond these associations, there exists no conflict of interests between the Board of Directors members 
and Top Managementôs duties towards the Company and their private interests. 
 

Regulatory agreements and commitments entered into between the Company and its Chairman and 
Managing Director, one of the directors or shareholders holding a fraction of the voting rights greater 
than 10 % or, in the case of a corporate shareholder, the company which controls it, and which cannot 
be construed as day-to-day operations performed under normal conditions, are presented in the 
auditorsô special report. As for the commercial leases contracted between Business & Decision and real 
estate investment companies (SCI) Nantalo and Yversaniort in 2006, the residential lease contracted 
between Business & Decision and real estate investment company (SCI) MyPlatine in 2006 and the 
commercial lease contracted between Business & Decision and real estate company (SCI) Livato in 
2008, rent amounts were agreed in compliance with market conditions after consulting independent real 
estate specialists 
 

No loans or guarantees have been granted or set up by the Company for members of the Board of 
Directors. Board members are not subject to any penalties or impediments. 
 

SERVICE CONTRACTS LINKING THE MEMBERS OF ADMINISTRATIVE BODIES 
 

Two directors have an employment contract with the Business & Decision Corporate Services EIG: Mr. 
Christophe DUMOULIN and Mr. Jérémy BENSABAT. 
 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE/GROUP EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  
 

Composition at 31 December 2015 
Patrick Bensabat, Chairman and Managing Director; Christophe Dumoulin, Deputy Managing Director; 
Vincent Rivière, Managing Director, France, Switzerland, Spain, Mauritius; Ada Sekirin, Managing 
Director, Benelux, Russia; Ian Huckle, Managing Director USA, Canada, Africa, Asia. 
 
Composition as from 22 March 2016 
Christophe Dumoulin, Chairman and Managing Director; Vincent Rivière, Managing Director, France, 
Switzerland, Spain, Mauritius; Ada Sekirin, Managing Director, Benelux, Russia; Ian Huckle, Managing 
Director USA, Canada, Africa, Asia.  
 
 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEMBERS ï Executive directorsô investments 
 

The table showing shareholders who have had more than a twentieth, tenth, fifth, third, half or two-thirds 
of the Company's capital over the past 3 years is presented on page 54 in the management report 
included in this reference document. 
 

It is to be noted that Business & Decision company's share capital structure has not changed since the 
end of its last reporting period. Shareholders holding over 1/20th of shares are: Laurent Bensabat, 
Business & Decision Ingénierie, Clémentine Bensabat and Gabriel Bensabat.  
 
DIRECTORS' AND TOP MANAGEMENTôS REMUNERATION 
 

For the French regions, directors are remunerated, since 1 January 2005, by one of the Group's 
subsidiaries, SA Business & Decision Participations. Since 2010, they are remunerated by the Business 
& Decision Corporate Services EIG. 
 

It is to be noted that Board members have waived the allocation of Directorsô fees and that no stock 
options or share purchases have been granted to directors during the financial year.  
 

Remuneration tables are featured on page 52, in the management report: Company Board membersô 
gross direct and indirect remuneration and fringe benefits. 
- A summary of remunerations, options and shares allocated to directors. 
- Table showing a summary of each executive directorôs remuneration. 
- Directorsô fees Table. 
 

STOCK OPTIONS OR SHARE PURCHASE RIGHTS ALLOCATED DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
TO EACH EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
None. 
 

STOCK OPTIONS OR SHARE PURCHASE RIGHTS EXERCISED DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
BY EACH EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  
None 
The Groupôs companies have no other commitments, of any type, towards these directors. 
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I N T E R N A L  C O N T R O L  
 

 
Special Report to be presented at the Combined General Meeting of 28 June 2016 by the Chairman 
and Managing Director on the conditions governing the preparation and organisation of the work of the 
Board (Internal control and risk management) (article L225-37 of the Code of Commerce). 
 

Pursuant to Article L.225-37 of the Code of Commerce, we are hereby presenting our report on the 
conditions governing the preparation and organisation of the work of the Board of Directors and on 
implemented internal control and risk management procedures. 
 

Conditions governing the preparation and organisation of the work of the Board 
 
Composition of the Board of Directors 
 

At 31 December 2015, Business & Decisionôs Board of Directors consisted of three member directors: 
the Chairman and Managing Director and the Deputy Managing Director, who both had operational 
roles in the Company and the Group which they performed on a full time basis, and an external Director 
having no operational role in the Company or the Group and no business relationship with BUSINESS & 

DECISION. As a Business & Decision shareholder, the latter had closely followed the organisationôs 
development as director since her appointment in December 1997. The Board of Directors consisted of 
one woman and two men, and was thus compliant with the principle of equal representation of women 
and men. 
 

As from 22 March 2016, Business & Decisionôs Board of Directors consists of the following members: 
the Chairman and Managing Director and the Deputy Managing Director who both have operational 
roles in the Company and the Group; two external directors who do not have any operational roles in 
the Company or the Group, or any business relationship with Business & Decision. The latter, as 
Business & Decision shareholders, have closely followed the organisationôs development as directors 
since his appointment in March 2016. The Board of Directors consists of one woman and two men, and 
is thus compliant with the principle of equal representation of women and men. 
 

Powers of the parent companyôs Chairman and Managing Director and Deputy Managing Director 
 

Until 22 March 2016, the powers of the Chairman and Managing Director and Deputy Managing Director 
are those provided by law. However, the Articles of association state that the Board of Directors can 
limit those powers by internal order, not enforceable against third parties. During the reporting period 
under review, the Board of Directors has not provided for any other limitations to the powers of the 
Chairman and Managing Director. 
 

As from 22 March 2016, the powers of the Chairman and Managing Director are those provided by law. 
However, the Articles of association state that the Board of Directors can limit those powers by internal 
order, not enforceable against third parties. During the reporting period under review, the Board of 
Directors has not provided for any other limitations to the powers of the Chairman and Managing 
Director. 
 

Frequency of meetings and procedures 
 

Business & Decisionôs Board of Directors met four times during 2015. The financial year ended on 31 
December 2015 and the Board met at the following times: 
 

Date Agenda 
March 
April 

Full and final settlement of annual and consolidated accounts at 31 December 
Full and final settlement of forecast documents and General Meeting resolutions 

  
August 
October 

Full and final settlement of the interim consolidated accounts 
Full and final settlement of the management forecast documents prepared at 30 June  

 

Statutory Auditors are convened to all accounts settlement Board meetings. 
 

In addition to these annual meetings, the Board of Directors will convene as required by specific 
circumstances (external growth operations approval, Extraordinary General Meetings, contribution of 
assets, mergers, prior approval of regulatory agreements, etc.). 
 

Following the death of Patrick BENSABAT, Company Chairman and Managing Director, on 29 January, 
the Board of Directors met on 22 March 2016 to appoint Mr. Christophe DUMOULIN as Company 
Chairman and Managing Director.  
 

Work of the Board of Directors (full and final settlement of accounts) 
 

Accounts (Balance Sheet, Income statement and appendices) are prepared by the Group's financial 
department and are first reviewed and validated by the two operational members of the Board at the 
Business & Decision level. These accounts are then forwarded to the Statutory Auditors who start their 
audit tasks right away. 
 

Following the Statutory Auditors' verification work and at latest, on the eve of the full and final settlement 
of accounts Board meeting, a summing-up meeting is held with the Statutory Auditors. The latter 
communicate their findings and any account adjustments that may be deemed necessary. These 
observations are then discussed and, in agreement with the Statutory Auditors, the accounts are then 
presented to the Board of Directors in the appropriate format to be closed. 
 

Strengthening of corporate governance rules 
 

Since 2014, Business & Decision has been committed to implementing currently prevailing "good 
governance" practices. 
 

Through its governance bodies (Group executive committee, France executive committee, Board of 
Directors), Business & Decision strives to apply and adopt the governance rules recommended by the 
"Corporate governance code for small and medium capitalisation companies" known as Middlenext, 
namely in terms of transparency and risk management. 
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Rules applied to determine board members' compensation and benefits 
 

Directors' compensation and fringe benefits are determined at the beginning of each calendar year by 
the Board of Directors which sets: 

V A lump-sum payment that corresponds to compensation for the calendar year under review. 
This amount is divided by thirteen and distributed over twelve months, with half-payments being made 
against the thirteenth month balance each year, in June and December;  
V The allocation of a fringe benefit pertaining to the use of a motor vehicle. 
 

Moreover, during the course of the year (usually in July), the Board of Directors may decide to grant a 
bonus to the directors, depending on the Group's operating income figures. 
 

A resolution relating to the allocation of directorsô fees shall be submitted for approval at the Combined 
General Meeting to be held on 28 June 2016. 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
Introduction-Review of internal control and risk management objectives  
 

Taking calculated risks is a deliberate and necessary act that is part and parcel of any business venture. 
In order to grow in a reasonably secure operational, legal, financial and accounting environment, 
Business & Decision has opted for a risks management system that is based on procedures, methods 
and tools. 
 

One of the internal control systemôs objectives is to guard against, as well as manage, business activity 
risks and the risk of errors or fraud, particularly as regards accounting and finance. However, like all of 
its counter parts, this management system cannot provide absolute assurance that these risks will be 
fully mitigated. 
 

Risk management and internal control procedures have the following goals: 
V To detect potential risks and assess them (occurrence probability, impacts), whether they be of an 

accounting and financial or operational nature 
V To determine and implement appropriate risk control and management actions 
 

In the accounting and financial realm, the most important control procedures (the ones likely to have an 
impact on accounts) aim at managing the following processes: 

V Turnover recognition (namely: projectsô percentage of completion, overruns and invoices with 
no matching orders) 
V Off-balance sheet commitments (namely, rental agreements) 
V Cash flow 
 

At the operational level, the major potential risks identified by Business & Decision (sales and service 
delivery processes) are the following: 
V Overruns as regards application development packages (and possible resulting financial losses) 
V Late customer dissatisfaction detection with regards to a project or an operation contract 
 

Operational risks are limited de facto due to turnover breakdown (the biggest customer does not 
represent more than 7 % of turnover). 
 

Legal structure and powers 
 

At 31 December 2015, Business & Decision is a Group consisting of a parent company (Business & 
Decision SA) and twenty-six subsidiaries (i) in France and (ii) abroad. 
 
V The French subsidiaries: 
 
Parent company controlling interests: 

- 100%: four French simplified limited liability companies (SAS) (Business & Decision France, 

Business & Decision University, Camondo Consulting and Business & Decision France holding), two 
French Limited Liability Company (SARL) (Business & Decision Interactive Eolas and Business & 
Decision Life Sciences).84%: one French simplified limited liability company (SAS) (Metaphora) 

- 76% : one French simplified limited liability company (SAS) (HereWeCan) 
- 67% : one French real estate investment company (SCI) (SCI Green Mangin) 
- Indirect control: one French simplified limited liability company (SAS) (CeriMedical, through B&D 

Life Sciences) 
 
Besides Paris and surroundings, these companies are located in, amongst others, Grenoble (Isère), 
Lyon (Rhône), Nantes (Loire Atlantique), Marseille (Bouches du Rhône), Amiens (Somme) and 
Toulouse (Haute-Garonne).  
 

Company name Legal form Holding percentage 
Business & Decision France  

SAS 100 % 
 

Business & Decision University 
Camondo Consulting 

Business & Decision France Holding 

Business & Decision Interactive Eolas 
SARL 100 % 

Business & Decision Life Sciences 
Business & Decision Corporate Services EIG 100 % 

Metaphora SA 84 % 

HereWeCan SAS 76% 

CeriMedical SAS Indirect holding through BD Life 
Sciences 

SCI Green Mangin SCI 67% 



2015 Reference Documentï page 45 

V Foreign subsidiaries:  
 
Parent company controlling interests: 
- 100%: Business & Decision AG (Switzerland), Business & Decision Benelux (Belgium), BD Life 

Sciences (Belgium), Business & Decision Netherlands (Netherlands), Business & Decision UK 
Holding (Great Britain), Business & Decision Maroc (Morocco), Business & Decision Canada 
(Canada), Business & Decision North America (USA), Business & Decision Espagne (Spain) and 
Creative Probers (India) 

- 90%: Business & Decision LATAM (Peru), Business & Decision Tunisie (Tunisia), Business & 
Decision Russie (Russia) 

- 70%: Business & Decision Mauritius (Mauritius) 
- Indirect control: Casmaco Limited (Great Britain) through Business & Decision UK Holding 
- Indirect control: Business & Decision Luxembourg (Luxembourg) through Business & Decision 

Benelux 
- Indirect control: Business & Decision Suisse SA (Switzerland) through Business & Decision AG 
- Indirect control: Business & Decision (UK) Limited through Business & Decision UK Holding 
 

Location Company name Holding percentage 
Switzerland Business & Decision AG   

 
 
 

100% 
 
 
 
 

100% 

Belgium Business & Decision Benelux 
BD Life Sciences 

The Netherlands Business & Decision Netherlands 
Great Britain Business & Decision UK Holding 
Morocco Business & Decision Maroc 
Canada Business & Decision Canada 
USA Business & Decision North America 
Spain Business & Decision Espagne 
India Creative Probers 
Mauritius Business & Decision Mauritius 70% 

Great Britain Business & Decision UK 50% 

Peru Business & Decision LATAM 
90% Tunisia Business & Decision Tunisia 

Russia Business & Decision Russie 

Great Britain Casmaco Limited Indirect 100% holding through 
Business & Decision UK Holding  

Luxembourg Business & Decision Luxembourg Indirect 100% holding through 
Business & Decision Benelux 

Switzerland Business & Decision Suisse SA Indirect 100% holding through 
Business & Decision AG 

Great Britain Business & Decision (UK) Limited Indirect 50% holding through 
Business & Decision UK Holding 

 
These foreign companiesô legal forms correspond to the French SA or SARL forms.  
 

Chairmen have the most power vis-à-vis third parties, as stated by law, and the various company 
representatives must first request authorisation at the shareholders' General Meeting regarding all 
decisions that go beyond the scope of regular management activities. 
 
The parent companyôs leases are still entrusted to Business & Decision France and Camondo 
Consulting. These subsidiaries are managed autonomously by agency directors, but fall under the 
supervision of the Groupôs financial and legal department for all financial and legal matters. 
 

V Accounting system structure ï Information System 
 

The Groupôs Finance division works conjointly with the Legal Department (which is in turn backed up by 
various external advisors) and groups most of the accounting-related (accounting, reporting, finance) 
and management audit functions.  
 

¶ Subset 1 ï Foreign subsidiaries: Each foreign subsidiary has a Finance division and calls upon external financial 
auditors to verify that their accounts are true and fair. Subsidiaries report their figures to the Group's Finance division 
on a monthly basis. 

¶ Subset 2 ï French subsidiaries: All French subsidiaries have a management service that is linked to and managed 
by the Groupôs Finance division. 

 

Consolidation of all of the subsidiariesô bookkeeping is done by a team located at the Groupôs 
headquarters (in Paris), managed by the Finance division. The Information System for all of the French 
subsidiaries is supported by market standard software packages. 
 

Roles of those having internal control duties 
 

The Groupôs management audit team is responsible for internal control. 
 

V Internal Control ï Accounting and financial information preparation and processing procedures 
 

¶ Budget/Monthly reporting procedures 
General control procedures are centralised and organised around three major processes: 
- The medium-term forecast and strategic plan preparation process. These are drawn up at the end of the year for a 

4-year period following the budgeted year, and are subject to validation by the Board of Directors. 
 

- The annual "forecast/budget" process. An annual budget that is drawn at the beginning of the year for each legal 
(and operational) entity. A budget review is performed in October, after the interim accounts have been published. 

- The "gross margin ï reporting" monthly process. This process is a monthly one (D + 20). It deals with the monthly 
transfer of turnover, payroll and subcontracting figures. The analysis of various reporting significant indicators, over a 
short period (one month), helps the Group's Finance division analyze gaps between actual and forecasted figures 
and detect significant errors in accounts, if any, by cross-referencing key indicators. 
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These procedures fall under the direct supervision and control of the Group's financial division. 

¶ Turnover recognition 
The major subsidiaries having to deal with progress-based revenue recognition (packages) are equipped with 
analytical management tools for each business case, which can be used to track margin figures per project as well as 
the accounting updates for each monthly statement. 
 
Error or fraud risks as regards invoicing are considered to be limited by the monthly reporting system which would flag 
in a very short time (from 2 to 3 months) any abnormal and unexplained inflation of customer orders for any subsidiary. 
 

¶ Off-balance sheet commitment 
Business & Decision provided guarantees to banks in return for credit lines granted to subsidiaries. 
 

¶ Retirement benefits 
A provision to account for retirement benefits has been made. Retirement benefits estimates are calculated using the 
projected unit credit method for all of the companyôs employees. 
 

¶ Cash flow cycle 
This cycle is historically considered critical. BUSINESS & DECISION has thus decided to set up and 
impose a segregated tasks-based structure. 

-  For the disbursement cycle, the following tasks are performed by different people: payment authorisations/orders to 
pay issuance/orders to pay signature (cheques, transfers)/record keeping/bank reconciliation/bank reconciliation 
control. 

-  Similarly, for collections, the following tasks are performed by different people: Customer chasing/receipt of 
customersô orders to pay/remittance for collection/record keeping/bank reconciliation/bank reconciliation control. 

 

V Internal control - Business operational procedures 
 

¶ Prepurchase service and customer agreements 
Each entity chooses to sell or deliver a project with respect to incurred risks. 
 

Group listings are for at least twelve months and transferred to the Group's Financial division when they involve only 
one subsidiary. Commercial terms and conditions for listings involving the entire Group are validated by the Groupôs 
management. 
Complex best-efforts obligations agreements are drawn up by a central team and directly validated by the legal 
department. These offerings usually involve several business activities and entities. Commitments are thus known, 
measured and centralised. Legal aspects are also reviewed and dealt with centrally by agency directors, conjointly with 
the legal department. All freelancers, employees with contracts for a fixed term and temporary employees have 
personal records that are identical to those of permanent employees. 
 

¶ Service delivery 
Customer dissatisfaction causes must be fed back in time for corrective action plans to be initiated, in order to avoid 
overruns, sanctions or even customer loss. 
 

Projects: the control device relies on a progress-based data entry system that anticipates and provides at the end of 
each month, the best estimate for the foreseen overrun. 
Simple technical support recurring contracts: officers in charge formally channel customer claims. These claims are 
dealt with during the monthly quality session. 
Recurring project management contracts: accountsô operational managers have monthly meetings during which they 
present a formal report. 
 

¶ Equipment inventory 
IT equipment depreciates really quickly. However, the Group only buys equipment for which it already has a firm 
customer order. No storage risk is thus incurred.  
 

¶ Human resources, recruitment, payroll management 
The key recruitment process is handled by the Group's Human Resources division. Applicants sit through at least two 
interviews (personal character and technical assessments). For sales or support positions applicants, recruitment 
processes are also defined. 
 

Payroll adjustment decisions are subject to a guidance note issued by Top Management/HRD at each budgetary 
process as well as annual individual interviews. These commitments are discussed once every year with the 
subsidiaries, during the budget presentation, and are defined for the coming year. Payroll management is supported by 
a unique database that provides a real time view over the complete set of compensation data and can perform on 
demand simulations. 
 

¶ External growth operations 
This process is directly handled and monitored by the Groupôs Top Management. In order to counter any "loss of 
rationality" risks during operations, procedures provide for the formal assessment of each business case in a meeting 
of at least three people. 
 

¶ Internal control development 
Business & Decision is constantly looking for ways in which to improve its internal control device. This control structure 
respects the implementation recommendations of the controlôs reference manual for small and medium values, 
published in January 2008. 
 

Control over the correct application of rules is exerted by direct management and management audit. Depending on 
future developments in size, Business & Decision will strengthen this function (management audit reinforcement, 
organisation and systems improvementé).  
 

Business & Decision improves upon its accounting and financial information processing and preparation internal 

control procedures, particularly as regards the control and centralisation of invoicing terms and conditions for services 

subcontracted to external foreign parties. BUSINESS & DECISION will regularly audit its risk management, either 

internally or externally and regularly formalize improvement action plans. 

The Chairman 
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2 0 1 5  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T  
 

BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND PRESENTED TO THE COMBINED GM ON 28 JUNE 2016 
  
Dear shareholders, 
 

In compliance with the law and Articles of association, we have called this Ordinary General Meeting to 
report on the Company's position and activities for the period ended 31 December 2015 and to submit 
the consolidated annual accounts for said period for approval. 
We will present all additional explanations and information regarding the items and documents provided 
as required by applicable regulations and that have been made available to you within the legal time 
limits. 
The Statutory Auditors' reports will then be read out. 
 

I. CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
 
I.1 Groupôs activities during the financial period 
 

In 2015, BUSINESS & DECISION continued to optimise its legal structure and profitability was restored for 
targeted activities. 
 
I.1.1 Turnover, net income and workforce figures 
 
Turnover rose from ú204.9M at 31 December 2014 to ú224.2M at 31 December 2015. At comparable 
exchange rate, consolidation scope and accounting method, this shows a 5.94% increase when 
compared to 31 December 2014 figures.  
 

In France, turnover reached ú127.2M, a 6.9 % increase when compared to the previous accounting 
period. At the international level, turnover amounted to ú97.0M and is up 13.0% on the previous 
financial period. At comparable exchange rate, growth at the international level is 4.7%.  
 
Average workforce for the period is 2,554 as compared to 2,352 in 2014. At the end of the reporting 
period, the workforce comprises of 2,578 people as compared to 2,382 people at 31 December 2014. 
These figures exclude subcontractors. 
 

Net results of ú0.3M comprise of financial results amounting to -ú2.1M and tax expense amounting to 
ú1.8M. 
 

I.1.2 Operating income 
 
It should be recalled that the Groupôs operational organisation is split into geographical areas and by 
activity. 

¶ Geographical areas: France, Switzerland, Benelux (Belgium/Luxembourg/the Netherlands), North 
America (USA and Canada), United Kingdom, Rest of the world 
(Mauritius/Spain/Russia/Peru/Tunisia/Morocco). 

¶ Activity: Business Intelligence, CRM, e-Business (activities described in the first section of the 
reference document). 
 

Current operating income has dropped from ú8.8M in 2014 to ú5.9M. It is thus down 33% on the 
previous financial period. Investments in innovation activities have weighed on the 2015 results. 
Operating income amounts to ú4.7M as compared to ú8.1M in 2014 and namely integrates ú0.9M of 
transaction costs and ú0.2M of goodwill (for the Herewecan entity). It accounts for 2.2% of turnover for 
the 2015 financial period as compared to 4.0% in 2014. Reported net income (Group share) is ú1M 
whilst in 2014, a net income (Group share) of ú4.1M was reported. 

 

I.1.3 Debt 

Group 

31/12/15

Group 

31/12/14*

Net debt

Cash assets -8,686 -12,152

Cash liability 17,761 20,189

ST Total debt 4,688 4,345

LT Total debt 12,994 16,160

Net debt TOTAL 26,757 28,542

Shareholdersô equity including non-controlling interests 61,761 59,491

Net debt/Shareholdersô equity ratio0.43 0.48

Net debt/Shareholdersô equity (úK)

 
* See IV.2 Restatement of 2014 consolidated financial statements in compliance with IAS 8 
 

The loan agreement signed on 24 May 2013 with a bank pool was repaid on 30 March 2016 and 
defined three covenants as shown in the following table: 
 

Ratio R1: Net financial debt/Shareholdersô equity 
Ratio R2: Net financial debt/EBITDA 
Ratio R3: EBITDA/Consolidated net financial interest expense 
 

 
Negotiated values per covenant 
R1 < than R2 < than R3 > than 

2015 0.70 2.80 4.00 

2016 0.70 2.80 4.00 

2017 0.70 2.80 4.00 

 
At 31 December 2015, all covenants were met according to the table below: 

 

2015 2014*

R1 0.43 0.48

R2 2.66 2.69

R3 4.88 4.38  
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At 31 December 2015, values used to calculate bank covenants are as follows: 

úK 2015 2014*

Net Financial Debt 26,757 28,542

Total of shareholders' funds 61,761 59,491

EBITDA 10,062 10,615

Consolidated financial expense 2,063 2,424  
* See IV.2 Restatement of 2014 consolidated financial statements in compliance with IAS 8 

 
 

I.2 Highlights of the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 

V During the financial periodôs first Half-Year, the Belgian subsidiary Business & Decision 
Consult acquired the business assets of Uchrony, a digital specialist, for ú193K (2015 
turnover: ú816K). 

V During 2015's second Half-year, Business & Decision UK Ltd was created to develop a 
Business Intelligence activity in the United Kingdom. Business & Decision holds 50% of the 
companyôs shares, with company employees owning the rest. 

 
 

I.3 Financial elements 
The Groupôs financial results show a loss of ú2.1M. This item includes:  
- Interest on loans amounting to ú1.1M 
- Currency exchange gains amounting to ú0.2M 
- Bank loans and factoring interest charges amounting to ú0.7M  
- Lease-associated interests amounting to ú0.6M 
 
 

I.4 Prospects  
The Group continues to invest significantly in Big Data, Cloud Computing and digital transformation 

support for customers. Development prospects associated with higher levels of profitability single out 

2016 as a promising year. 
 

1.5 Groupôs Research and Development activities  
The Group has developed software libraries designed to facilitate project management and delivery. A 
sum of ú925K was capitalised with regards to these developments, for the following companies: BD SA 
for ú685K, BD France for ú240K corresponding to expenses incurred for the implementation of software 
intended for sale. 
 
 

1.6 Social and environmental consequences of Business & Decisionôs activities  
This section is dealt with in the Social and Environmental Responsibility Report appended to this 
management report. 
 
 

I.7 Subcontracting 
The Group may find itself needing to subcontract added value intellectual services from other 
companies on an ad hoc basis, in order to satisfy some customer requirements. External subcontracting 
accounts for less than 7% of the Groupôs turnover. 
 
 

I.8 Post-period events 
Governance: 

On 29 January 2016, the founder and Chairman and Managing Director, Patrick Bensabat, passed 
away. Acting in his capacity of Deputy Managing Director and member of the Board of Directors, 
Christophe Dumoulin managed the Group for an interim period.  
At a shareholdersô General Meeting, held on 22 March, a new Board of Directors was elected, which 
met on the same day and appointed Christophe Dumoulin as Chairman and Managing Director. 

Financing: 
The Group negotiated with its banks a restructuring of its medium-term debt as follows: 
- the early repayment on 30 March 2016 of the remaining balance of the syndicated loan granted 

during May 2013 by a pool of banks 
- and the setting up of several medium-term loans amounting to 7.75 million euros, with maturities 

ranging from 2020 to 2022 (contract negotiations currently under way). 
 

The details of these new financing arrangements are described below: 

- 6.5 million euro-loan from a pool of three banks, to be repaid over 4 years, including a CAPEX line of 
2.5 million euros for investments$$.  

- 1.25 million granted by the BPI as a growth loan (prêt de croissance) to be repaid over 7 years with a 
2-year grace period.  

 

These new loans (except for the BPI growth loan) would be secured by a senior pledge of all the shares 
of the Business & Decision France subsidiary, pari passu, in favour of the involved banks. 
 
1.8 Market risks (liquidity, rates, currency, shares, credit) 
Market risk information is described in the consolidated financial statements and namely, in Chapter 
"VII.4 Financial risk management" on page 25.  
 
 

I.10 Legal risks, technological, industrial and environmental risks, risks associated with human 
resources and other specific risks 

 

Legal risks: Business & Decisionôs activities are not subject to legal, regulatory, administrative 
authorisations or approval procedures.  
To guarantee customer information confidentiality, the Group has put in place a deontological charter to 
prevent the risk of project information disclosure.  
Business & Decision's, as well as its subsidiaries', brands, logos and domain names are copyrighted.   
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Technological, industrial and environmental risks: Business & Decisionôs activity does not create 
any particular industrial risk since the services it provides are mostly of an intellectual nature. 
Environmental risks are detailed in the social and environmental responsibility report annexed to the 
management report. 

 
 

Risks associated with human resources: Business & Decision has the highest regard for its human 
capital, i.e. employees. Our human resources policy is based on the human resources team, along 
with operational and line management, appraising and closely following each employeeôs career. 
The Group is constantly recruiting to support activity growth and strives to ensure the successful 
integration of new employees to create loyalty. All information pertaining to personnel recruitment and 
departures, as well as absenteeism and gender equality, is covered in the management report annexed 
to the SER report. 
 
 
In terms of working hoursô organisation, Business & Decision abides by the Compensation time 
(récupération du temps de travail) agreement, signed on 4 August 2000. Business & Decision 
employees have the right to 12 additional days off as compensation time. 
 
 

Other specific risks: 
 

Warranty risks: Warranty risks are mainly due to "flat-rate package" performance obligation 
agreements with customers. When Business & Decision commits to develop a system or an 
application, project deadline and cost overruns may generate losses. This is why Business & Decision 
only agrees to flat-rate package agreements after performing an in-depth study on the following: project 
feasibility (from a technical point of view), risks associated with the technologies to be implemented, 
validation of statutory provisions that may constitute risk exposure, current commitments to the 
customer, relationship with the customer, customer commitment to information availability, availability of 
qualified personnel, and commitment capacity. To date, the Company has never been subjected to any 
third-party claims. 

 
 

Business risks: Business & Decision has over twenty years of experience, more than 1,700 customers 
(mostly corporate groups), and more than 3,000 deployed projects Customers are from the following 
business sectors: Public services and administration, banking and insurance, mass distribution and 
consumer goods, utilities and services, industries and high technology, health and pharmaceutical 
industry. 
 

Business risk is fairly low due to: 
-  The nature of its customer base (mainly comprising of big corporate customers which limits risks of unpaid bills) 

-  The long-term partnership relationship with customers 

-  The type of systems implemented for customers, which include regular service delivery that ensures a certain 
level of turnover 

During the 2015 period, the first, five and ten first customers of the Group respectively represented 7%, 
20% and 30% of consolidated turnover. 
 

Stock exchange risks: Business & Decision is listed on the Eurolist C. Due to its low capitalisation, its 
stock market price is likely to be volatile and subject to fluctuations that are not related to its financial 
performance. The Group applies the regular, permanent or exceptional financial communication rules 
and principles in order to mitigate the types of risks.   
 
 

Insurance and coverage for any risks that may be incurred 
Business & Decision subscribed insurance policies which cover the following: 

- Operational civil liability  
- Several types of professional hazards (fire, water damage, additional perils, natural 

disasters, etc/Property and casualty insurance), covering general risks 
- Machinery breakdowns 
- Motor insurance 
 

Business & Decision does not require Operating loss insurance since due to the type of services it 
provides, employees are often required to work on site, at the customer's location.  
 
The Groupôs IT system is network-based and all the data is stored on servers, located in a dedicated, 
cooled room, with a secure mechanism regularly backing up all stored information.  
 
 

The total amount of insurance premiums for the 2015 financial period is: ú161,044K (borne by 
Business & Decision SA). To the Companyôs knowledge, there are, to this day, no governmental, legal 
or arbitration proceedings that could significantly impact on Business & Decision's financial situation or 
profitability. 
 
 
 

II. ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 
 
II.1 COMPANY POSITION AND ACTIVITY DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
For the period ended 31 December 2015, the companyôs activity was the following: 

¶ A ú11,672,802 turnover excluding taxes for the financial period under review 

¶ Operating expenses increased to ú13,661,735  
¶ Financial income amounts to ú1,819,779 

¶ Exceptional results amounting to ú(31,752) 

¶ A profit of ú1,095,460 for the year 
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II.2 INFORMATION ON CAPITAL 
 

II.2.1 SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 Number of shares Corresponding capital 
Current capital 7 882 975 ú551 808.25 

 

II.2.2 SUMMARY OF ACQUISITIONS AND TRANSFERS OF ITS OWN SHARES 
 
The number of treasury shares held by Business & Decision at 31 December 2015 is 736. 
 

II.2.3 TABLE SHOWING SHARE PRICE EVOLUTION 
 

Share price and volume movements in 2015 
(Source: Euronext) 

(Average share price at close in euros and number of shares traded monthly) 

 

5,18 5,24

5,66 5,75

6,34
6,45

6,94

7,65

6,72

6,33

6,04

5,67

 
 

63 080

33 944

128 323

66 205

145 903

73 984

52 936

79 104

54 771

71 511

58 64956 377

 
 
II.2.4 SUBSIDIARIESô AND ASSOCIATED UNDERTAKINGSô ACTIVITIES 
 

Turnover by country is presented before intercompany elimination. 
 

¶ France 
Turnover, standing at ú134.7M, has increased compared to the previous year (ú123,7M). However 
current operating income at ú3,8M (2.84%) is down (the 2014 current operating income being 3.88%) 
The Group chose to invest in innovation during the financial period by recruiting high-profile people in 
specific fields (Datasciences, Big Data), developing Web Analytics projects and conducting marketing 
actions to promote innovation. 
 

¶ Great Britain 
This two subsidiariesô reported turnover for 2015 was ú3.7 and results from continuing operations was 
ú(1.3)M. A loss attributable to the cost of launching and starting a new IT services activity in the field of 
BI in the United Kingdom. At 31 December 2015, this subsidiary employed 43 people.  
 

¶ Benelux: 
Reported turnover is ú41.6M, up 6.2 %, and reported current operating is ú2.4M. All three countries 
making up this geographical zone are profitable. 
 

¶ Switzerland: 
At ú11.6M, turnover is down 4.8% on 2014.Current operating income amounts to ú0.6 M in spite of the 
decision of the Banque Nationale Suisse to abolish the floor rate. The subsidiary, based in French-
speaking Switzerland, was strongly affected by this decision which resulted namely into customer 
projects being frozen and the loss of business during the first 9 months of the year.  
 

¶ USA: 
Reported turnover is ú30.5M and has increased by 3.4 %, and current operating income is ú0.2M as 
compared to a negative result of ú(0.2)M in 2014 
 

¶ Other countries: 
Development continues in the rest of the world with a turnover of ú12.7M as compared to ú11.1M in 
2014, with a current operating result of ú0.2M. 
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II.3 DEBT 

BD SA 31/12/14 BD SA 31/12/14

Net debt

Cash assets -2 555 478 -2 834 035

Cash liability

Financial debts 6 844 976 13 557 456

Current accounts 26 297 552 17 593 820

Net debt TOTAL 30 587 050 28 317 241

Shareholdersô equity 40 177 071 39 081 611

Net debt/Shareholdersô equity ratio0,76 0,72

Net debt/Shareholdersô equity (ú)

 
 
 

II.4 TRADE PAYABLES 
 

 
2014 

Total Amount 
Scheduled 
payments  

0 to 30 days 

Scheduled 
payments         

30 to 60 days 

Amounts owed > 
60 days (*) 

Trade payables ú3 163,869  ú1,996,626  ú580,885  ú586,358 
 

 
2015 

Total Amount Amounts owed         
0 to 30 days 

Amounts owed         
30 to 60 days 

Amounts owed > 
60 days (*) 

Trade payables ú3 362,191  ú2,267,257  ú335,369  ú759,565  
 
(*) Only intragroup trade payables have a due date that exceeds 60 days. 
 
 

III. RESULTS - APPROPRIATION 
 
III.1 EXAMINATION OF ACCOUNTS AND RESULTS 
 

The 2015 financial period annual accounts are prepared in Euros in compliance with the general rules of 
the French General Chart of Accounts (Plan Comptable Général), introduced by regulation n° 99.03 of 
the Accounting Regulation Committee (CRC), and using the valuation methods described in the notes to 
the annual accounts. 
For the period ended 31 December 2015, turnover amounted to ú11,672,802, as compared to 
ú8,954,691 at 31 December 2014, which represents a 30.3 % increase. 
 

Social contributions and benefits associated with the works committee and occupational healthcare 
amount to ú564,377 as compared to ú660,066 at 31 December 2014. 
 

The company has no employees. 
 

Operating result recorded for the financial year is -ú885,961 as compared to ú327,451 at 31 December 
2014. 
Current earnings before tax, after recognition of a financial income of ú1,819,779, amount to ú933,818 
as compared to ú3,367,045 at 31 December 2014.  
After recognition of exceptional items of -ú31,752 as compared to ú81,138 at 31 December 2014, a 
ú1,095,460 profit is reported for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, as compared to a profit of 
ú3,448,184, at 31 December 2014. 
 
 

III.2 PROPOSED EARNINGS/LOSS APPROPRIATION 
 

We hereby submit the annual accounts for your approval (balance sheet, income statement and notes) 
as presented, and that show a profit of ú1,095,460. 
 

We also submit the following allocation for your approval: 
The whole amount, i.e. ú1,095,460 to the ñRetained profit brought forwardò account, which will, after 
allocation, show a positive balance of ú4,048,967. 
In order to comply with the provisions of Article 243 bis of the General tax code (Code général des 
impôts), note that there has been no dividend distribution over the last three financial periods. 
 
III.3 NON TAX-DEDUCTIBLE EXPENSES 
 

Pursuant to the provisions of Article 223 quarter of the General tax code, we lastly submit for approval 
the expenses and charges mentioned in Article 39-4 of same code, amounting globally to ú7,184 and 
corresponding to the tax on company car. 
 
III.4 INCOME/LOSS TABLE 
 

Please find appended to the present report, as required by the provisions of Article R.225-102 of the 
Code of Commerce, the table showing the Companyôs income/loss figures for the 5 last financial 
periods. 
 
IV. AGREEMENTS MENTIONED IN ARTICLE L.225-38 OF THE CODE OF COMMERCE 
 

We submit for your approval the agreements mentioned in Article L. 225-38 of the Code of Commerce, 
regularly authorised by the Board of Directors. 
 

The Companyôs auditors have been duly informed of these agreements which they describe fully in their 
special report. 
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V. COMPANY ORGANISATION, DIRECTORSô REMUNERATION AND MANDATES EXERCISED, 
CONTROL STRUCTURES 

 
 

V.1 DIRECTORSô ORGANISATION AND REMUNERATION 
V.1.1 DIRECTORSô REMUNERATION 
For the French regions, since 2012 directors are remunerated by the Business & Decision Corporate 
Services EIG. 
 

Board members have waived the allocation of Directorsô fees. No stock options or share purchase 
opportunities have been granted to directors during the financial year. All remunerations and benefits 
allocated to directors, regardless of their type, are included in the following table: 
 
Summary of remunerations, options and shares allocated to directors (directors at 31 December 
2015) 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Tova BENSABAT 

 
For years 2014 and 2015, Tova Bensabat did not receive any kind of remuneration. 
 
 
 
 

Patrick BENSABAT (Owed and paid remuneration) 
(in euros) 

Year 2015 

EIG  
Business &  
Decision  
Services  

Corporate 

Casmaco  
Ltd 

Business &  
Decision NA  

PA 
TOTAL 

Corporate mandate/Salary 
 

325,456 27,698 353,154 
Fringe benefits 
 

0 
Off-cycle bonus 
 

0 
Social security expenses 
 

140,593 140,593 
466,049 0 27,698 493,747 

Valuation of options allocated during the financial year 
 Valuation of performance shares during the financial year 
 

Year 2014 

EIG  
Business &  
Decision  
Services  

Corporate 

Casmaco  
Ltd 

Business &  
Decision NA  

PA 
TOTAL 

Corporate mandate/Salary 325,427 24,839 350,266 
Fringe benefits 0 
Off-cycle bonus 0 
Social security expenses 136,262 136,262 

461,689 0 24,839 486,528 
Valuation of options allocated during the financial year 
Valuation of performance shares during the financial year 

Christophe DUMOULIN (Owed and paid remuneration) 
(in euros) 

Year 2015 

EIG  
Business &  
Decision  
Services  

Corporate 

Casmaco  
Ltd 

Business &  
Decision NA  

PA 
TOTAL 

Corporate mandate/Salary 
 

85,456 248,740 334,196 
Fringe benefits 
 

0 
Off-cycle bonus 
 

0 
Social security expenses 
 

40,683 40,683 
126,139 0 248,740 374,879 

Valuation of options allocated during the financial year 
 Valuation of performance shares during the financial year 
 

Year 2014 

EIG  
Business &  
Decision  
Services  

Corporate 

Casmaco  
Ltd 

Business &  
Decision NA  

PA 
TOTAL 

Corporate mandate/Salary 85,427 242,198 327,625 
Fringe benefits 0 
Off-cycle bonus 0 
Social security expenses 38,267 38,267 

123,694 0 242,198 365,892 
Valuation of options allocated during the financial year 
Valuation of performance shares during the financial year 
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Directorsô fees: 
No directors' fees were allocated to anyone in 2014 or 2015. 
 
Stock options or share purchases allocated during the financial year to each executive director 
None 
 
Stock options or share purchases exercised during the financial year for each executive director 
None 
 

Performance shares allocated to each executive director 
No performance shares were allocated to executive directors. 
 

Performance shares that have become available to executive directors during the financial year 
No performance shares have become available for executive directors during the financial year. 
 
 

The Groupôs companies have no other commitments, of any type, towards these directors. 
 
 

V.1.2 DIRECTORSô ORGANISATION 
 

¶ Executive directors: 
 
At 31 December 2015, the Board of Directors consisted of the following members:  
Patrick BENSABAT, Chairman and Managing Director 
Mr. Christophe DUMOULIN, Deputy Managing Director and Director 
Mrs. Tova BENSABAT, Director 
 
As from 22 March 2016, the Board of Directors consists of the following members: 

- Mr. Christophe DUMOULIN, Chairman and Managing Director 
- Mrs. Tova BENSABAT (wife of Patrick BENSABAT), Director 
- Mr. Jeremy BENSABAT, Director 
- The Business & Decision INGENIERIE company, Director 

 

Directors are appointed for a six-year period. During the Ordinary General Meeting held on 22 March 
2016, directors were appointed for a term of six (6) reporting periods, i.e. until the General Meeting 
convened to approve the accounts for the financial period ended 31 December 2021. 
 
During the course of the corporation's existence, directors are appointed, renewed or removed by way 
of the Ordinary General Meeting. They can always be re-elected. However, a person who is above age 
seventy (70) cannot be appointed director if his/her appointment will result in more than one third of the 
Board of Directorsô members being more than seventy years of age. In which case, the oldest director 
shall be deemed to have automatically resigned at the close of the next Ordinary General Meeting. 
 

It is also noted that the Companyôs Articles of association can only be amended by an Extraordinary 
General Meeting satisfying the quorum and majority requirements laid by the legal provisions and 
regulations governing these meetings. 
 

Mandates exercised during the past five years: 
These mandates are grouped in the documents published for shareholders and General Meetings. 
 

¶ Conflicts of interest and potential conflicts of interest  
 

The Company entertains the usual relationships with all of its subsidiaries within the context of the 
Groupôs day-to-day management. 
 

At 31 December 2015, Mr. Patrick BENSABAT and Mr. Christophe DUMOULIN, Business & Decision 
Company directors, had management roles and/or were members of the corporate bodies of Business 
& Decision Group companies and as such, were paid remunerations. 
 
As from 22 March 2016, Christophe Dumoulin and Mr. Jeremy Bensabat, Business & Decision 
Company directors, have management/consultant roles and/or are members of corporate bodies of 
Business & Decision Group companies and as such, are paid remunerations. 
 
To date, Mrs. Tova BENSABAT and the Business & Decision INGENIERIE company are not being paid 
any remuneration.  
 
A resolution shall be submitted to the Combined General Meeting to be held on 28 June 2016 to 
establish the directors' fees amount.   
Beyond these associations, there exists no conflict of interests between the Board of Directors members 
and Top Managementôs duties towards the Company and their private interests. 
 

Regulatory agreements and commitments entered into between the Company and its Chairman and 
Managing Director, one of the directors or shareholders holding a fraction of the voting rights greater 
than 10 % or, in the case of a corporate shareholder, the company which controls it, and which cannot 
be construed as day-to-day operations performed under normal conditions, are presented in the 
auditorsô special report. 
 
No loans or guarantees have been granted or set up by the Company for members of the Board of 
Directors. During the last 5 accounting periods, none of the Board of Directors members or Top 
managers has been convicted of fraudulent offences, declared bankruptcy, been placed in receivership, 
or been subject to official public incrimination or sanctions. 
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¶ Service contracts linking the members of administrative bodies 
No service contracts link the members of administrative organs. 
 
 

VI. HOLDINGS STATEMENT 
 
VI.1 COMPANYôS EQUITY INVESTMENT DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
See page 9, highlights. 
 

VI.2 SHAREHOLDERS HAVING MORE THAN A TWENTIETH, TENTH, FIFTH, THIRD, HALF OR 
TWO-THIRDS OF THE COMPANY'S CAPITAL 

 

 
 
It is to be noted that BUSINESS & DECISION company's share capital structure has not changed since the 
end of its last reporting period. 
 

Description of B&D Ingénierie company control by shareholding directors and the Bensabat family, at 31 
December 2015:  
 

  BDI shares % of total capital % of voting rights 
 Christophe Dumoulin 42 120   33,42% 33,42% 

        
 Patrick Bensabat 71 106   56,43% 56,43% 

 Clémentine Bensabat 6 815   5,41% 1,56% 

 Gabriel Bensabat 155   0,12% 0,12% 

 Laurent Bensabat 1 960   1,56% 1,56% 

 Tova Bensabat 155   0,12% 0,12% 

BENSABAT FAMILY TOTAL 80 191 63,64% 63,64 

BDI SHARES TOTAL 126 015      

 
The company is controlled as laid out above. However, the company considers that the risk of abusive 
control is nil. 
 
 

VII.  COMPETENCIES AND POWERS DELEGATION STATEMENT 
 

The Chairman presents by means of the following table, the statement of delegation of competencies 
and powers by the General Meeting to the Board of Directors within the context of an increase in capital: 
 

28 June 2016 
(Combined 

General Meeting) 

Competencies 
and powers 
delegation 

Board 
of Directors 

Company shares repurchase for various 
reasons for a maximum amount of 

ú55,180.825  
Share cancellation authorisation for a period of 

24 months 

24 months 
as from the General Meeting 
held on 28 June 2016, and 

until 27 June 2018 
 (*) 

28 June 2016 
(Combined 

General Meeting) 

Competencies 
and powers 
delegation 

Board 
of Directors 

Allocation of free shares to employees of the 
company and/or associated companies and 

group limited to 10% of capital. 

12 months 
as from the General Meeting 
held on 28 June 2016, and 

until 27 June 2017 
 (*) 

 

(*) Note that at the date of registration of the reference document, the Board of Directors has not used any of the 
delegated competencies or powers conferred to it by the above mentioned General Meetings. 
 

VIII. STATEMENT OF EMPLOYEESô EQUITY INVESTMENT IN THE COMPANY 
 

The Chairman presents, by means of the following table, the statement of employeesô equity investment 
in the Company at 31 December 2015, with the list of registered shareholders. It should, however, be 
noted that these shares are not managed collectively, or within a company savings plan (PEE) or 
collective employee shareholding plan (FCPE), or as non-transferable shares, and thus are not covered 
by provisions of Article L. 225-102, paragraph 1 of the Code of Commerce.  
 

NUMBER OF SHARES HELD PERCENTAGE OF CAPITAL 
125,302 1.6 

 

The Board of Directors hereby invites you to adopt the resolutions it submits to your approval after 
having heard the Statutory Auditors' reports. 
 
 
The Board of Directors 
 
 

Companyôs results for the past 5 financial periods ended on 31 December 2015 
 
 

# Shares var. in %  var. % DV var. # Shares in %  % DV # Shares in %  % DV 
Executive shareholders: 

Patrick Bensabat 46 884 0 0.6% 0% 0.7% 0% 46 884 0.6% 0.7% 46 884 0.6% 0.7% 
Christophe Dumoulin 99 000 0 1.5% 0% 1.5% 0% 99 000 1.5% 1.5% 102 494 1.3% 1.6% 

Non-résident shareholders: 
Clémentine Bensabat 1 143 507 0 14.5% 0% 17.5% 0% 1 143 507 14.5% 17.5% 1 143 507 14.5% 17.4% 

Gabriel Bensabat 598 000 0 7.6% 0% 9.1% 0% 598 000 7.6% 9.1% 598 000 7.6% 9.1% 
Michael Laurent Bensabat 1 669 549 0 21.2% 0% 25.5% 0% 1 669 549 21.2% 25.5% 1 669 549 21.2% 25.4% 

B&D Ingénierie: 1 436 140 0 18.2% 0% 21.9% 0% 1 436 140 18.2% 21.9% 1 436 140 18.2% 21.8% 
Incl. Bensabat family share 913 816 0 11.6% 0% 14.0% 0% 913 816 11.6% 14.0% 919 130 11.7% 14.0% 

Incl. Christophe Dumoulin share 479 958 0 6.1% 0% 7.3% 0% 479 958 6.1% 7.3% 479 958 6.1% 7.3% 
Total Bensabat family 4 373 756 0 55.5% 0% 67% 0% 4 373 756 55.5% 66.8% 4 379 070 55.6% 66.6% 

Total Christophe Dumoulin 578 958 0 7.6% 0% 8.8% 0% 578 958 7.6% 8.8% 582 452 7.4% 8.9% 

2015 2014 2013 



2015 Reference Documentï page 55 

Provisions of Article R.225-102 of the Code of Commerce 
(APPENDIX TO THE MANAGEMENT REPORT) 

 

 
 

FINANCIAL PERIODS 31/12/2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 
INDICATION TYPE 
CAPITAL AT END OF PERIOD 
     Share capital 551,808 551,808 551,808 551,808 551,808 
     Number of existing ordinary shares 7,882,975 7,882,975 7,882,975 7,882,975 7,882,975 
     Number of existing preferred shares  
           (bearing no voting rights) 
     Maximum number of shares to be created in the future 
          By  bonds conversion 
          By exercise of rights 

PERIOD OPERATIONS AND RESULTS  
     Turnover exclusive of tax 11,479,768 10,498,460 8,468,807 8,954,691 11,672,802 
     Income/Loss before taxes, employee profit-sharing and  
      provisions for amortisation and others -810,627 -95,561 -1,766,901 2,760,377 2,083,785 
     Profit tax -1,322,523 -676,308 -616,645 0 0 
     Profit-share owed to employees for period 
     Income/Loss after taxes, employee profit-sharing and  
          provisions for amortisation and others 3,955,541 -2,637,984 -603,337 3,448,184 1,095,460 
     Distributed income 
EARNINGS PER SHARE 

     Income/Loss before taxes, employee profit-sharing but  
          before provisions for amortisation and others -0.1 -0.01 -0.22 0.35 0.26 
     Income/Loss after taxes, employee profit-sharing and  
          provisions for amortisation and others 0.5 -0.33 -0.08 0.44 0.14 
     Dividend allocated to each share 
PERSONNEL 
Average workorce ï people employed during financial period 
Payroll amount for period 
Amounts paid as benefits or period (Social security, employee benefits, etc.) 785,206 498,806 420,250 660,066 564,377 
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2 0 1 5  S O C I A L  A N D  E N V I R O N M E N T A L  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  

R E P O R T  

 
(Appendix to the management report)  

 
Context  
 
Business & Decision publishes its Social and Environmental Responsibility Report. Attached to the 
management report and included in its 2015 reference document, this report was prepared following the 
instructions laid out in decree n° 2012-557 of 24 April 2012 on transparency requirements for corporate 
social and environmental reporting, published in n°0099 of the Official Journal of the French Republic 
(OJFR) on 26 April 2012, and relates to the 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2015 financial period. 
Whenever required information or indicators are not available or relevant, namely as regards Group 
activities, details are provided.  
 
Scope 
 
For reporting purposes, a geographic scope that is both significant and representative of Business & 
Decision Group was selected: 
 
France: 59 % of the Groupôs consolidated turnover and 60 % of the workforce as at 31 December 2015 
Belgium: 15 % of the Groupôs consolidated turnover and 11 % of the workforce as at 31 December 2015 
USA: 14 % of the Groupôs consolidated turnover and 6 % of the workforce as at 31 December 2015 
Tunisia: 1 % of the Groupôs consolidated turnover and 7 % of the workforce as at 31 December 2015 
Switzerland: 5 % of the Groupôs consolidated turnover and 2 % of the workforce as at 31 December 
2015 
(For 2015, the Groupôs consolidated turnover amounts to ú224.2M and the workforce at 31 December 
comprises of 2,578 people) 
 
Overall, the selected scope thus represents 95 % of the Groupôs turnover (ú224.2M) and 87 % of its 
workforce. 
 
Selection criteria for undisclosed information indicators   
 
Undisclosed indicators are mainly those pertaining to information that is not applicable to Group context 
or activity. From a social point of view, differences in national regulations across the 5 countries in terms 
of labour law, namely social dialogue, make it difficult to report on the matter in a homogenous and 
shared manner. From an environmental point of view, the focus has been put on the Eolas Datacentre 
with its eco-friendly features and on waste management efforts associated with Group activity.  
Moreover, information on the fight against food waste was deemed not application in light of the 
Company's field of activity. 
 
Indicators and information frame of reference: 
 

.1.1 # Description and indicators ï Headings of Article R.225-105 of 
the French Code of Commerce 

Indicators 

(1) The total workforce and employee breakdown by gender, age 
and geographical area 

Workforce by gender, country, 
occupation, age group 

(2) Recruitment and dismissal Departures, by reason 
Employment, by reason 

(3) Salaries and salary evolution Salary by gender, country, 
occupation 

(4) Working time organisation  

(5) Absenteeism Absences, by type (here, 
unexcused absences) 

(6) Organisation of the social dialogue, namely of the procedures 
for informing, consulting and negotiating with staff personnel 

 

(7) Summary of collective agreements Number of agreements signed, 
entered into 

(8) Health and safety conditions at work Safety related training, number of 
people trained 

(9) Summary of all agreements relating to health and safety signed 
with trade unions or staff representatives 

Agreements by site 

(10) Work accidents, namely frequency and seriousness, as well as 
occupational diseases 

Number of work accidents, 
number of people concerned 
Number of recognized 
occupational diseases 

(11) Implemented training policies Training modules and sessions  
The training plan 

(12) The total number of training hours Number of hours, days by 
category and country 

(13) Measures taken to ensure gender equality  Salary gap by occupation 
(14) Measures taken in favour of disabled persons' recruitment and 

integration 
 

(15) The fight against discrimination policy Recruitment charter 
(16) Respect of freedom of association and effective recognition of 

the right to collective bargaining 
 

(17) Elimination of discrimination in respect of employment and 
occupation 

 

(18) Elimination of forced and compulsory labour  

(19) Effective abolition of child labour  

(20) Organisation in place to cater for environmental issues and, 
where applicable, the assessment and certification initiatives in 
terms of the environment 

Datacentre/principles 
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(21) Measures taken to train and inform employees on matters of 
environmental protection 

Information campaign  
Travel policy  
PDE (Workplace travel plan)  

(22) Means allocated for environmental risks and pollution prevention   Datacentre/energy performance 
indicator 

(23) Amount of provisions and guarantees for environmental risks, 
provided that this information is not likely to cause serious 
damage to the company in a pending litigation 

 

(24) Measures taken to prevent, reduce or repair releases to air, 
water or land that impact heavily on the environment  

Datacentre/consumption 
indicators  

(25) The measures taken to prevent, recycle and eliminate waste.   Paper recycling, Equipment 
recycling, Supplies recycling 

(26) Accounting for noise pollution or any other type of activity-
specific pollution  

 

(27) Water consumption and water supply with respect to local 
constraints 

Datacentre, cooling 

(28) Raw materials consumption and measures taken to make raw 
materials use more efficient  

 

(29) Energy consumption, measures taken to improve energy 
efficiency and the use of renewable energies    

Datacentre/GEG 

(30) Land use  

(31) Greenhouse gas emissions Datacentre 
(32) Adaptation to the consequences of climate change  

(33) The measures taken to preserve or enhance biodiversity  

(34) In terms of employment and regional development Local development 
(35) On local residents Recruitment by site 
(36) Conditions for dialogue with these people or organisations Partnership, local bodies 
(37) Partnership or sponsorship initiatives Support for humanitarian causes, 

sponsorship/budget 
(38) Accounting for social and environmental concerns in the 

procurement policy 
Paper purchases 

(39) The importance of subcontracting and accounting for social and 
environmental responsibility in relationships with suppliers and 
subcontractors 

 

(40) Actions taken to prevent corruption Ethics charter 
(41) The measures taken to ensure customer health and safety   

(42) Other  

 
 
 
1° Corporate information 

 
 
The activity of Business & Decision, Group specialized in Consulting and Systems Integration, mainly 
revolves around delivery of intellectual and human resources services. As such, the Group holds its 
human capital, made up of its employees, in the highest regard. The contractual relationship that binds 
the employees to the various Group companies is a mutual commitment rooted in respect and fairness. 
Since it is essentially an intellectual service provider for businesses, the Groupôs development depends 
on the know-how of its employees.  
 

Human resources management, from recruitment to career management, is thus of paramount 
importance to the Group. 
 
 a) Employment: 
 
(1) ˈ The total workforce and employee breakdown by gender, age and geographical area:  
 
Workforce data is representative of all the employee categories present at 31 December 2015 and only 
excludes short-term unremunerated trainees. 
 

  France Belgium USA Tunisia Switzerland Total 
Male 1077 177 134 121 43 1552 
Female 467 114 31 56 10 678 
Total 1544 291 165 177 53 2230 

 

Women account for 30 % of the staff included in the selected scope, a stable rate as compared to 
previous years 
 

 
France Belgium USA Tunisia Switzerland Total 

26 yrs old or younger  354 56 16 24 0 450 
27 to 44 yrs old, 
inclusive 1043 196 70 152 40 1501 
45 yrs old or older 147 39 79 1 13 279 
Total 1544 291 165 177 53 2230 
 

Young people under 26 account for 20% of the total workforce.  
 
 
Workforce data by occupation indicates considerable disparity as regards women representation. 
Women are under-represented in technical and management positions and over-represented in support 
ones.   

  Total Male Female 
 Top management 4 3 1 25% 

Directors/Operation Managers 89 74 15 17% 
Project leaders/Project directors 416 311 105 25% 
Experts 38 35 3 8% 
Consultants 1444 1046 398 28% 
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Marketing/Sales/Pre-sales 75 50 25 33% 
Support functions (all) 159 36 123 77% 
Others  5 3 2 40% 

Total 2230 1558 672 30% 

 
 
(2) ˈ Recruitment and dismissal  
 

Recruitment in 2015 

  France Belgium USA Tunisia Switzerland Total 
Male 301 53 60 41 12 467 
Female 135 45 13 17 1 211 
Total 436 98 73 58 13 678 

 

Most of the hiring was done amongst engineer and consultant profiles, a job market still largely 
dominated by men in the IT sector. The share of women in the new recruits population is slightly higher 
than the share of women in the whole workforce (31%) 
 

  France Belgium USA Tunisia Switzerland Total 
Permanent emp. recruitment 273 91 72 56 11 503 
in % 63% 93% 99% 97% 85% 74% 

Trainees/Part-timers 
recruitment 163 7 1 2 2 175 
in % 37% 7% 1% 3% 15% 26% 

 

Recruitment of permanent employees (Open-term contract (CDI) or its equivalent in other countries) 
account for 74 % of recruitments included in the considered scope.  In France, namely, 63 % of all 
employees recruited were recruited on an open-term contract basis.  In 2015, the companyôs 
recruitment policy in favour of final year internships or work-study contracts was continued with 163 
trainees or part-timers as compared to 168 during the previous year. 
Most trainees and part-timers are presented with the opportunity to sign an open-ended employment 
contract at the end of their training. 
 

Departures in 2015 

  France Belgium USA Tunisia Switzerland Total in % 
Dismissal 20 10 10 5 5 50 9% 
Resignation 173 51 52 23 8 307 54% 
End of 
internship/CDD 
(fixed-term contract) 92 7 0 0 2 101 18% 
Other reasons 82 5 21 0 0 108 19% 
Total 367 73 83 28 15 566 100% 

 

Departures due to dismissal account for 9% of all departures. Departures resulting from resignation are 
still as high as during previous years. They are proof of the effervescent job market, a shortage of 
specialised resources and that some profiles are extremely sought after by all of the sectorôs 
companies. Moreover, the relative "youth" of both the activity sector (ESN ï Digital services companies) 
and the profiles also favours strong inter-company mobility. 
 
(3) ˈ Salaries and salary evolution  
 

Gross average annual remuneration in euro by gender for the whole scope under review (*) 
 

  Male Female Difference  

Average 48 628 42 117 -13% 

 
(*) Excluding figures for German-speaking Switzerland (not available) employing a total of 32 people 
 

On average, there is a 13% difference between the average salary of men and women, a rate that is 
lower than the one recorded in 2014 (14%). Generally speaking, in cases where the function and skills 
are the same, Business & Decision bases remuneration on education, training and professional 
experience. For operational functions (directors, operations managers, consultants and experts, project 
leaders) this gap is much smaller (between 5 to 10%). 
 

It is to be noted that average remunerations taken into account here are those of permanent employees 
(open-term contract in France, permanent in other countries) and are converted in Euros at the annual 
average rates used in the financial reports. 
 
b) Work organisation:  
 
(4) ˈ Working time organisation  
 

In France, all employees have a right to days off pursuant to the Syntec collective agreement. To these 
must be added 12 RTT (working time reduction) days. Working hours, as per law, are established and 
displayed on all premises of working sites.   
  
In the USA, regulations applied to Business & Decision stipulate 15 days off per year, to which must be 
added a number of days depending on individual years of service, on average 3 days per year. Working 
hours are established by company rules.   
 
In Belgium, according to national legislation, employees are entitled to 20 days of paid leave per year, to 
which must be added another 1 to 11 days depending on personnel category, number of years of 
service and employment contract type. 
On average, the number of additional days off for Belgian employees is 8.  
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In Tunisia, employees have the right to 22 days of paid leave per year, according to sector regulations 
in force. 
 

In Switzerland, companies abide by cantonal legislation in terms of rights to leave. In French-speaking 
Switzerland, the number of paid leave days granted is 25 and in German-speaking Switzerland, the 
number of paid leave days granted is 27. In both areas, the total number of paid leave days per year 
can go up to 32, depending on the number of years of service. 
 

Beyond the regulatory aspects, Business & Decision deployed in France a charter in the form of 15 
commitments to achieve work-life balance.  This charter was drawn up by the human resources 
department and was approved by employee representative bodies.  
 

(5) ˈAbsenteeism 
 

In France, a list of absences by cause, nature and duration is drawn up from the time management 
system and then accounted for in payroll.  
For 2015, the ratio of number of days absent, per employee, to total number of days worked is 4.13.  
Sick leaves and occupational accidents account for 15.5 % of absences, paternity and maternity leaves 
account for 7.0% of absences. "Authorised" absences (paid leave, TOIL, etc.) account for 77.5% of the 
total number of days absent recorded in 2015. Sick leaves, occupational and commuting accidents 
account for 46 % of absences. Paternity, maternity and parental leaves account for 37 % of reasons for 
absence.  
 

For Belgium, the USA, Tunisia and Switzerland, a detailed listing of absences as well as their 
comparability with the French indicators have not yet been done. Extending the analysis scope to 
include one other European country in 2016 is being considered. 
 

 c) Social relationships:  
 
(6) ˈ Organisation of the social dialogue, namely of the procedures for informing, consulting and 
negotiating with staff personnel   
 

The way in which social dialogue is organized and set up varies according to regulations in force in 
each country. 
 

In France, namely, the Group has a dedicated unit known as the economic and social union (ESU) that 
manages social dialogue through four bodies: union representatives, the works committee, staff 
representatives and the hygiene and safety committee. Staff representatives and the hygiene and safety 
committee operate across 4 geographical areas. 
 

Meetings with union representatives are held according to an established calendar to negotiate 
company agreements and conduct mandatory annual negotiations. Within the ESU, 4 union 
representatives act on behalf of the French democratic confederation of labour (CFDT) (2) and of the 
French confederation of management ï general confederation of executives (CFE-CGC) (2). 
 

Meetings with the Works committee are held on a monthly basis to deal with mandatory tasks such as 
personnel consultation or transmission of compulsory information. Also held on a monthly basis, 
meetings with staff representatives help tackle more individual issues in order to, together, make sure 
that the labour code, and the legislation in general, are complied with and that employeesô rights are 
respected. Quarterly meetings are held with the hygiene and safety committee to address issues 
associated with employeesô work conditions and the compliance of machines and premises with 
regulatory standards to ensure employee safety and well-being. 
 

Moreover 2015 saw the professional election of the employee representatives and members of the 
Works Council, as well as, the appointment of the hygiene and safety committee members. 
 

Due to the difference in social dialogue regulations across the 5 countries considered in this report, no 
such project has been undertaken by the Group for all of its international subsidiaries. 
 
(7) ˈ Summary of collective agreements 
 

Business & Decision did not sign any new agreements in 2015. Main agreements signed and in force 
are:  
V Paid leave (upgrade of the terms of calculation for pay in lieu of vacation)  
V Finalization of arrangements for taking compensatory time off 

V Holiday bonus (new terms of calculation and payment for the annual allowance)  
V Meal vouchers (an increase in face value and new terms for regular distribution)  
 

The Economic and Social database was set up in June 2014 in accordance with the legislation in force. 
 

The main agreement projects worked on in 2015 with social partners: 
V Employeesô right of expression 
V Employment of disabled workers 
V Gender equality at the workplace  

V Healthcare and psychosocial risks  
 

The following agreements were signed in 2015:  
- Pre-election agreement for the election of Business & Decisionô Work Council of the Economic and Social 

Unit members and employee representatives 
- Agreement pertaining to the mandatory collective arrangement for the reimbursement of healthcare costs 

 
As far as we know, there are no specific agreements, for 2014, between the Company and 
organisations representing staff in Belgium, the USA and Tunisia. To date, social dialogue 
implementation has not been standardized across all the countries in which Business & Decision has 
operations. Each subsidiary addresses the subject according to applicable regulations. 
 

 d) Health and safety: 
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(8) ˈ Health and safety conditions at work  
Matters of health and safety at work are currently the subject of discussions and studies with the 
hygiene and safety committee (CHSCT) (CHSCT Paris North ï CHSCT Grenoble ï CHSCT South East 
ï CHSCT West).  
 

For 2015, a working group was created to rework the common foundation of the occupational risk 
evaluation document. It will be deployed in 2016 across the 4 regions and will cater for each of the 
areasô specific characteristics. 
 

The hygiene and safety committee was involved in all expansion or relocation projects, especially in 
Paris, Montrouge and Nantes.  
We do not have detailed information regarding procedures and regulations associated with health and 
safety at work for the other countries. This will require information gathering and standardization. 
 
In 2015, 12 employees from all Group sites have been trained regarding workplace first-aid in France. 
 
In 2015, 63 employees, from all Group sites, completed at least one training session on evacuation in 
the case of a fire (fire wardens and/or using fire extinguishers). 

 

(9) ˈ Summary of all agreements relating to health and safety signed with trade unions or staff 
representatives 
 

The main agreement projects worked on in 2015 with social partners: 
V  Employment of disabled workers 
V  Healthcare and psychosocial risks  
 

(10) ˈ Work accidents, namely frequency and seriousness, as well as occupational diseases  
 

In 2015, the total number of days absent because of occupational or commuting accidents amounted to 
223. It concerned 12 people.  
An analysis of occupational or commuting accident frequency and severity was not performed due, on 
the one hand to Business & Decisionôs activity (intellectual services) and on the other hand, to volumes 
at stake. If a significant number of occupational accidents occur, indicators will be implemented and 
analysed. 
No occupational disease was recorded in 2015. 
 

Within the context of the hygiene and safety committeeôs works, actions have been initiated in 2014 to 
assess stress level and psychosocial risks and was continued in 2015. 
 
 e) Training:  
 
 (11) ˈ Implemented training policies 
 

Employee skills and qualifications are at the very heart of Business & Decision's capacity to deliver 
services to customers. Consequently, major training targets are set and renewed each year, in line with 
business activity and market environment developments. Training associated with the companyôs core 
business is top priority: training on technological platform and tools, training on business activities and 
areas within the context of customer projects. 
 

In France, employee training is mostly delivered by Business & Decision University, a subsidiary of the 
Group in France and an authorized specialized training organisation whose objective is to train both 
employees and customers. The 2015 training plan was carried out according to elements intended for 
over 24,000 hours of training. In total, approximately 25,000 hours of training were delivered for the 
considered scope. 
 

One training focus is certification training conjointly with Business & Decisionôs commercial and 
technological partners. Partnerships with software vendors include employee training and certification 
phases in order to ensure that technological and functional integration projects are carried out 
successfully. These training sessions/certification phases are offered by vendors with regards to one 
specific feature or whenever new platform versions or modules are released and form an integral part of 
Business & Decisionôs alliance with its business and technological partners. In 2015, 55 people 
attended one or more certification courses in France.  
 

 (12) ˈ The total number of training hours  
 

Type France Belgium* USA Tunisia Switzerland Total 
Technique and tools 9 863 91 640 1 107 1 848 13 549 

Business area 2 256 40 126 2 28 2 452 

Project management/leadership 1 499 144 0 108 104 1 855 

Other 4 610 466 0 428 80 5 584 
Professional training, work 
experience 1 190 0 0 0 0 1 190 

Total hours 19 418 741 766 1 645 2 060 24 630 

 
It should be highlighted that training tracking and recording procedures vary significantly from one 
country to another and do not meet homogenous standards and rules. In France, until September 2015 
(after which the training tracking tool was changed), the number of training hours recorded was the 
scheduled number of training hours (i.e. unreported absences were not subtracted from total hours).  
 
* Figures published for the Belgian scope only concern the B&D Life & Sciences activity. The number of training hours 
provided by B&D Consulting has not been integrated here as it is recorded according to a different methodology (the 
number of reported hours is essentially the number of training hours reported by the employees themselves in 
SharePoint, and is thus sometimes an overestimation). In total, based on this declarative method, some 6,300 hours of 
training were provided in Belgium. 
Measures to standardize tracking methods across countries are currently being taken. 
 

In total, 63 % of employees benefited from one or more training sessions in 2015.   
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  France Belgium USA Tunisia Switzerland Total 

Number of beneficiaries 1 053 154 82 90 16 1 395 

As a % of workforce 68% 53% 50% 51% 30% 63% 
 

 
 f) Equal treatment:  
 
(13) ˈ Measures taken to ensure gender equality  
 

The Groupôs executive committee consists of 4 members, including 1 woman at 31 December 2015. So, 
women account for 25 % of the members. At 31 December 2015, the Board of Directors was made up 
of 3 members, including one woman, bringing the percentage of female representation to 33%. 
 

In 2015, Business & Decision continued to help its employees combine their family life with their 
professional one and to support women's career development in respect of their family circumstances, 
principles of the Parenthood Charter. 
 

Some concrete procedures were implemented during a first parenthood charter deployment stage: 
- The insurance scheme, renegotiated in 

2015 and which shall be effective as from 1 January 2016, is still very favourable to families 
- Part-time options are studied on a case-

by-case basis on employeeôs request 
- Internal information and communication 

to managers to raise awareness on the subject, namely during annual interviews preparations 
 

In the USA, as is the case every year, an employee training and awareness campaign with respect to 
harassment at the workplace was carried out.  
 
(14) ˈ Measures taken in favour of disabled persons' recruitment and integration 
 

In France, the Group entrusts its IT equipment recycling and buys its paper from companies or 
associations whose activity revolves around the employment and integration of difficult-to-place people. 
 

In France, 2015 was marked by the recruitment of temporary workers under a professional training 
contract (contrat de professionnalisation intérimaire) in partnership with Adecco with a view to 
integrating disabled employees. The Nantes office thus recruited and welcomed 7 people whose 
mission is ongoing in 2016. 
 

(15) ˈ The fight against discrimination policy 
 

For Business & Decision, the fight against discrimination basically starts with behaviour, both at the 
individual and the collective level. We see wealth in diversity, an opening through which talent can 
express itself regardless of differences. In practice, corporate culture and values instil respect and equal 
opportunity at work, which includes employee remuneration, recruitment, training as well as promotion. 
Each employee is appraised on merit and qualification as well as his/her ability to meet set professional 
objectives. These are the only criteria for career advancement and promotions. 
 

Within this context, a Diversity Charter was formalized and communicated to all those involved in the 
recruitment process, starting with the Human Resources Department.  
 

Since the end of 2015, Business & Decision is officially a member of the United Nationsô Global 
Compact and is committed to respecting and deploying its ten human rights, labour, environment and 
anti-corruption principles. 
 

g) Promotion and compliance with associated basic International Labour Organisation 
conventionsô stipulations:  
 
(16) ˈ Respect of freedom of association and effective recognition of the right to collective bargaining 
 (17) ˈ Elimination of discrimination in respect of employment and occupation 
 (18) ˈ Elimination of forced and compulsory labour  
 (19) ˈ Effective abolition of child labour 
 

In each of its countries of operation, Business & Decision scrupulously abides by all basic principles 
associated with labour law, regardless of whether they are governed by national or international 
regulation. 
 
2° Environmental information:  
 

a) General environmental policy:  
 
(20) ˈ Organisation in place to cater for environmental issues and, where applicable, the assessment 
and certification initiatives in terms of the environment  
 

As a Group specialised in IT Consulting and Systems Integration, Business & Decisionôs activities have, 
when compared to that of the industrial sectors, little direct impact on the environment. On premises, 
energy consumption is limited to personal computer and electricity use. 
However, the booming digital sector, namely the ever increasing number of information systems users, 
particularly via the Internet, the cloud and mobile devices, has forced the whole industry to rethink its 
development models. Datacentres, the data processing IT factories, are energy-greedy. According to 
published studies, for a few years now, datacentres may have been the number one source of electric 
consumption of worldwide industrial production.   
In order to control datacentresô environmental impact and best limit their electricity consumption, 
Business & Decision designed and operates an eco-friendly datacentre on a site in Grenoble through its 
Eolas subsidiary (see paragraph 29). 
 
(21) ˈ Measures taken to train and inform employees on matters of environmental protection; 
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The internal sustainable development Charter is the subject of a permanent poster campaign in the 
company's offices. Its aim is to raise employees' awareness of ecological concerns by promoting a 
series of eco-friendly behaviours. In 2014, there was a strong focus on paper consumption through an 
information and poster campaign on how to use printers properly. An action which was continued in 
2015. 
 

Moreover, political incentives have been implemented to restrict travelling needs by favouring 
teleconference tools and to encourage commuting by train. All the sites are equipped with 
teleconferencing hardware. In France, a centralized travel service groups all travelling requests and 
comes up with the most adapted means of transport which is whenever possible the train. 
 
(22) ˈ Means allocated for environmental risks and pollution prevention 
Business & Decisionôs activity does not create any particular environmental risk. As regards pollution 
risks mitigation, the internal sustainable development charter constitutes the bulk of internal 
recommendations and actions.  
 
(23) ˈ Amount of provisions and guarantees for environmental risks, provided that this information is 
not likely to cause serious damage to the company in a pending litigation 
Business & Decisionôs activity does not require any specific guarantee in terms of environmental risk. 
 
 b) Pollution and waste management:  
 
(24) ˈ Measures taken to prevent, reduce or repair releases to air, water or land that impact heavily on 
the environment 
Business & Decisionôs activity does not produce any particularly pollutant release that has serious 
impacts on the environment. However, the heating and electricity systems used to carry out its activity 
are likely to emit CO2. The measurement of CO2 emissions associated with office building occupancy 
has not been the subject of specific studies on its premises/in the offices since nearly all of Business & 
Decision's operating sites are rented office spaces in commercial buildings.  
However, in case of equipment purchase or replacement for offices, particular attention is given namely 
to buying high energy performance coffee machines. 
 
(25) ˈ The measures taken to prevent, recycle and eliminate waste and measures taken in favour of 
circular economy 
IT equipment and associated supplies, the only items that can be considered as waste, are recycled. 
 
In France, IT equipment is collected to be recycled by a specialized company. For 2015:  

- 2
73 items (computers and monitors) were refurbished 

- 0
35 additional tonnes of waste were sent for repacking and reuse, namely from offices located in the south 
of France. 

 

Supplies and other cumbersome items are collected in special bins at building level for recycling.    
 

In Switzerland, waste collection (paper, equipment, toner, supplies and other cumbersome items) is 
organized on the premises through sorting containers. The company hires a specialized company to 
carry out waste collection and recycling. An all-inclusive contract is drawn up for the operation on a 
quarterly basis, without any volume restriction. 
Moreover, the office based in German-speaking Switzerland deployed in 2015 a fully digitized invoicing 
and archiving platform. 
 
(26) ˈ Accounting for noise pollution or any other type of activity-specific pollution 
 

Business & Decisionôs activity does not create any noteworthy noise pollution, except for the one 
associated with normal office activity. Open-spaces were created in 2014 with dedicated, isolated 
informal discussion and meeting areas in order to minimize any discomfort caused by noise. 
 
 c) Sustainable use of resources:  
 
(27) ˈ Water consumption and water supply with respect to local constraints 
 

No specific measure has been taken in terms of water consumption, which is limited to the needs of 
premises and personnel.  
 
(28) ˈ Raw materials consumption and measures taken to make raw materials use more efficient  
 

Business & Decisionôs activity is carried out solely in offices and apart from water and electricity to run 
the offices, does not require any raw material. 
 
In terms of procurement, and namely of paper procurement, in France, Business & Decision has a 
centralized service and buys 42% of its total volume of paper purchases (i.e. 640 reams out of 1,523) 
from "solidarity" adapted companies (companies favouring the employment of disabled people). 
 

The Group uses ñImprim Vertò (Green printing) label printers for its 2 paper publications: 
- T

he annual activity report 
- T

he quarterly magazine (3 per year) 
Publications and documents are usually posted on Business & Decision's sites to limit paper 
publications to a strict minimum.  
 

Apart from these two major publications, electronic and digital formats are favoured, especially 
internally. In order to avoid printing documents at work as much as possible, two document digital 
storage systems are made available to employees: 
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- A
n open technical database (DQM) 

- A
 sales document library (Kayoo) 

- E
lectronic internal newsletters 

 
As regards paper consumption, an information and awareness campaign was launched on the theme of 
"Printing good practice guidelines." 
 

At the same time, dematerialization actions were initiated by Business & Decision or conjointly with 
partners and customers: 

V U
se of digital platforms for invitations to tender (replaces a lot of paperwork); except for a few issuers not 
possessing digital platforms, all invitations to tender are submitted following an electronic, paper-free, 
procedure that can be completed by electronic signatures. 

V H
R documents dematerialization: manuals, welcome booklets and other general documents intended for 
employees are now stored in a digital library that can be accessed in a secure way by all employees. 

V P
ay slips are dematerialized and sent to wage-earnersô free, private and confidential electronic strongbox 
without any viewing time limitation. 

V D

igitized travel documents: the centralized travel and booking service in France only issues e-tickets. 
 
(29) ˈ Energy consumption, measures taken to improve energy efficiency and the use of renewable 
energies 
 

In order to pursue its electricity consumption measurement and limitation actions, Business & Decision 
has deployed the implementation of energy consumption tracking at its main business locations. 
Tracking that is performed using invoices. In 2015, the system extended to include the Tunisian site 
after the teamôs new offices had been set up.   
 

Country Sites: kWh  Workforce kWh/ETP m2 kWh/m2 
France Paris 325 467 601 542 3386 96 

  Lyon 69 517 163 426 975 71 

  Nantes 81 143 212 383 1499 54 

Tunisia Tunis (*) 179 861 177 1016 2270 79 

Total   655 988 1 153 569 8130 81 

 (*) May to December 

 
For the main site in France, located at rue de Courcelles, which groups all headquarters activity and île-
de-France operations, an air-conditioning and heat control system, in terms of temperature setpoints 
and time slots for the 4 platforms and office spaces occupied by Business & Decision was set up.  From 
the buildingôs management system, temperature is stabilized at 22 degrees in open spaces and systems 
are activated on Mondays from 5:30 am to 7:30 pm, and on Tuesdays to Fridays from 6:30 am to 7:30 
pm.  The air extraction system covers the whole building without occupier-based distinction. 
Initial observations indicate that the newest premises (new offices following relocation moves in Nantes 
and Tunis namely) are more energy efficient than those that have been hosting our activities for some 
time (as is the case for the premises located at rue de Courcelles which we have been occupying for 
more than 10 years now). The kWh/ETP indicator has been chosen to measure and compare energy 
performance.  
High consumption in Tunisia is due to the need, throughout much of the year, for air-conditioning for the 
entire building in which the whole of the team has moved since April 2015. 
 
Operational since 2011, Business & Decision Eolasô Datacentre pursues its goals: to optimize 
datacenter consumption, reduce the energy bill, deliver the highest quality of service. Each datacentre 
component was designed to reduce the impact on the environment as soon as possible: 

V It was decided to renovate an old industrial building, instead of building a new site, ideally 
located above a water table used for the cooling system  

V The partnership with Intel guarantees the supply of low-consumption IT equipment and 
servers with optimal virtualization capacity to limit the number of servers required  

V A partnership has been signed with Schneider Electric (APC) for the implementation of a 
selective and adjustable electric system and a natural cooling system that uses Grenoble's water 
table's temperature closest to the heat source, the water used being then sent to heat up 
neighbouring industrial buildings  

V The use of "green" electricity by the supplier (GEG). 
 
Eolas thus contributes to the economic development of Grenoble, considered today as a centre of 
excellence in terms of technological innovation and sustainable development. Moreover, Eolas is a 
member of Minalogic, a Grenoble-based competitive cluster whose scientific worth is recognized 
internationally. 
 

Management 
 

The efficiency of this whole system relies on the implementation of a management system known as 
ADVIZ. Activity indicators are tracked in real time and help establish the efficiency indicators presented 
below. 

 

PUE (Power Usage Effectiveness) is used to assess over one year the total amount of energy 
consumed by the site, with regards to the amount of energy necessary for the operation of IT equipment 
whereas the CUE (Carbon Usage Effectiveness) measures the data centreôs carbon footprint. It 
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corresponds to the ratio of greenhouse gas emitted by the total energy consumed by the data centre to 
the energy consumed by the IT equipment.  
EOLAS used this indicator to estimate the reduction in greenhouse gas emissions that was possible 
thanks to clean energy sources being used to power the server. The negative value indicates that clean 
energy consumption (solar energy produced on-site and fed to the network) is higher than non-
sustainable energy (fuel) consumption. These results single out Eolasô datacentre as one of the most 
efficient in Europe in terms of energy efficiency.  
 
It is to be noted for benchmark indicator determination, Eolas is a Participant & Endorser of the 
European Code of Conduct, a body of the European Union whose work is dedicated to Datacentres. 

 
 

 
 
A comparison of 2015 and 2014 indicators shows a significant PUE improvement, from 1.42 to 1.35. 
 

Datacentre efficiency indicators information:  
- Indicators based on data collected in 2015  
- * PUE based on energy consumption calculations for 2015) (PUE = 862 MWh / 637MWh = 1.35) 
- ** CUE indicates the Datacentre operationôs impact in terms of CO2 emission. The negative value indicates that clean 
energy consumption (solar) is higher than non-sustainable energy (fuel) consumption, and shows the level of CO2 

emission avoided thanks to the injection of solar power into the system. 
- *** null WUE due to zero municipal water supply consumption (the server cooling system running only on ground 
water) 

 
(30) ˈ Land use 
Nearly all of Business & Decisionôs operation sites are rented spaces in office buildings, except for 
Eolasô building, see (29). 
 
 d) Climate change:  
 
(31) ˈ Greenhouse gas emissions 
 

See indicator (29) ï Limited energy consumption by Eolas' datacentre.  
 

(32) ˈ Adaptation to the consequences of climate change 
To date, Business & Decision does not have any particular information regarding the impact of its 
activity on climate change. However, local initiatives have been undertaken to restrict the activity's 
impact on the environment. 
 

In Nantes, an agreement with Nantes Métropole ï Nantes urban community - and a semi-public 
transport company for the Nantes conurbation, was signed to implement a company mobility plan for the 
200 involved employees. The company encourages its employees to use collective modes of transport 
or more sustainable individual ones (public transport, cycling, car pooling, etc.) instead of their private 
cars. In return, its conurbation partners support Business & Decision by providing extremely attractive 
price arrangements to employees (10% on subscriptions), subsidies for the acquisition of e-bikes by 
employees, as well as safe-cycling training. This agreement represents a 4-year mutual commitment. 
 

In Grenoble, within the context of the Rhône-Alpes mobility challenge, Eolas, a Group subsidiary, was 
awarded the second prize in the 50 to 249 employees company category: 95 % of employees use 
alternative means of transport: walking, cycling, public transport, car pooling. 
 

Moreover, Eolas was awarded the Entreprise numérique responsable (ENR ï Responsible digital 
company) label by France IT, the national digital cluster network. Eolas thus shows its determination to 
integrate ethical, social and environmental concerns into its business activities and relationships with all 
stakeholders, from employee to customer, partner and competitor. 
 

In 2015, at the COP 21 Conference in Paris, Business & Decisionôs Datacentre was one of the projects 
published in the Climate Solutions Hub under the following heading: Technological performance and 
energy efficiency 
 
 e) Protection of biodiversity:  
 
(33) ˈ The measures taken to preserve or enhance biodiversity 
The roof of Business & Decisionôs headquarters is home to two beehives maintained and cared for by 
an urban beekeeper. Bee protection is an ecological imperative and the whole staff has been made 
aware of this. 
 

As was the case in 2014, in 2015 approximately 30 kilograms of honey were harvested and distributed 
amongst building occupiers. Business & Decision thus collected some fifty jars of honey.  
 
 3° Information on social commitments to further development 

***  
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a) Company activity impact on territory, economy and society: 
 
(34) ˈ In terms of employment and regional development 
 

In France, Business & Decision operates across the whole national territory to deliver services locally to 
customers. This regional network is based on sites and offices that accommodate employees. In 2012, 
sites across France are organized so as to deliver services to customers who operate locally. 
Recruitment or mobility needs are assessed on a national level. Human resources management, from 
recruitment to career management and training, is implemented locally through an HR organisation that 
has operational responsibility. Business & Decision thus contributes to the development of the regional 
economy and encourages geographic mobility. 
 

The employees included in the reporting scope are spread across the following sites:  
 

Country Sites: Country Sites: 
France Lyon Belgium Brussels 

 France  USA Wayne (PA) 
France Nantes (Gare) USA Scottsdale (AZ) 

(AZ) France Caen (Hypodrome) Tunisia Tunis 
France Caen (Hamelin) Switzerland Geneva 
France Bruz (Rennes) Switzerland Zurich 
France Grenoble (Sevran) Switzerland Ittigen 
France Grenoble (Beaux Tailleurs)   
France Grenoble (Voltaire)   
France Grenoble (Mangin)   
France Amiens   
France Bordeaux   
France Lille   
France Paris (Courcellles)   
France Paris (Montrouge)   
France Paris (Saint-Charles)   
France Marseille   
France Paris (Montrouge)   
France Niort (Rue de Paris)   
France Niort (Marcel Paul)   
France Niort (Parc d'affaires)   
France Blagnac   

 
(35) ˈ On local residents  
Within the context of its development across regions, Business & Decision recruits people with profiles 
adapted to its activity. Each operating unit establishes its recruitment needs and sets up a local 
candidate recruitment and selection system. Moreover, the Groupôs operating organisations endeavour 
to create links with schools and universities that are located nearby. 
 

In 2015, Business & Decision teamed up with Adecco to recruit 10 people under the temporary 
professional training contract (contrat de professionnalisation intérimaire) into its Amiens agency. During 

a part theory, part practice 7-month training period, trainees were offered an open-ended contract job. 
This system, which enables us to team up with experts to recruit entire classes of graduates, gave us 
full satisfaction and should be deployed in other employment areas. 
 

Business & Decision, within the context of this partnership also signed the Chaîne du oui (yes chain) 
agreement: a commitment to employ people from vulnerable groups, namely young people, and to long-
term employment.    
 
b) Relationships with people or organisations having an interest in the company's activity, 
namely integration associations, educational institutions, environmental protection 
associations, consumer associations and local residents: 
 
(36) ˈ Conditions for dialogue with these people or organisations. 
 

Under certain programs, Business & Decision sometimes builds relationships with academic or research 
organisations.  For example: 
 
The EnergeTIC project continued in 2014 with the Université Joseph-Fournier and Grenoble-based 
research laboratories. This research program brings together seven partners (Bull, Business & Decision 
Eolas, Schneider Electric, UXP, the G2ELAB based in Grenoble, G- SCOP and the Université Joseph 
Fourier) who work on finding the optimal approach to datacentre energy and operational efficiency in 
order to reduce consumption, and hence cost.   
 

Datalyse, project launched in 2013 within the context of Big Data-related investments for the future, with 
Eolas leading the way, continued into 2014 with both academic and business partners: the Les 
Mousquetaires Group, the Grenoble IT laboratory (LIG) with its SLIDE (ScaLable Information Discovery 
and Exploitation), ERODS (Efficient and Robust Distributed System) and TYREX (TYpes and 
REasoning for the Web) teams, the Lille Computer Science Laboratory (LIFL) with the SPIRALS project-
team, the Inria Saclay with the OAK team, and the Montpellier Laboratory of Informatics, Robotics and 
Microelectronics (LIRMM).  
After the second year of research work, a second report about the Big Data prototypes was presented in 
2015 to the General Directorate for Competitiveness, Industry and Services (DGCIS).  
 

In 2015, Business & Decision teamed up with the Université Bretagne Sud to create and drive a Chair of  
Data Science and customer knowledge.   
 

As part of the Cap Digital competitive cluster, Business & Decision is also a partner of the approved 
Presidio project and has teamed up with Kappa Sant®, TEMIS, Digital Ethics, SNIPS, lôINSERM and the 
CNAM to find ways of adapting Big Data- and Cloud Computing-based methods to the e-healthcare 



2015 Reference Documentï page 66 

field.  The aim of the project is to design a new, innovative digital model to explore and support chronic 
diseases through Big Data. 
 
In France, paper is mostly purchased through the centralized procurement service. In 2015, 
approximately 36 % of paper purchased, i.e., 640 reams, is bought from companies employing 
personnel with special needs or facilitating social integration through work (i.e. employing officially 
disabled workers). (SODIPA, Atelier de CASTILLE, PEP64 Jean GENEZE, LôARLEQUIN). 
 
(37) ˈ Partnership or sponsorship initiatives 
 
In France, Business & Decision supports humanitarian, sports or cultural efforts directly or through 
support to its employees.  
In 2015, Business & Decision allocated a total amount of ú93K to donations and sponsorship programs, 
the main ones being: 

- S
ports sponsorship: Paris Levallois basketball club in France   

- E
ducation sponsorship: Université Technion 

- S
ports sponsorship: Hockey club in Switzerland 

 
c) Subcontracting and suppliers   
 
(38) ˈ Accounting for social and environmental concerns in the procurement policy.  
Business & Decisionôs subcontractors and suppliers comply, for the most part, with social and 
environmental commitments. Such is the case of its IT equipment (for example Dell), paper 
(environmental standards), printer (seal of approval) suppliers. Business & Decisionôs business partners 
are key international market players who are strongly committed to these types of initiative (SAP, 
Oracle, Microsoft, IBM to name only a few). 
 

(39) ˈ The importance of subcontracting and accounting for social and environmental responsibility in 
relationships with suppliers and subcontractors  
 
For its core business activity, Business & Decision essentially calls on internal resources.  
As regards suppliers, equipment is bought from internationally renowned companies that are involved in 
eco-friendly initiatives. Business & Decision does not currently have a list of all social and environmental 
projects undertaken by its suppliers. 
 
d) Fairness of practices:  
 
(40)  ̍  Actions taken to prevent corruption 
 

A Business ethics charter has been deployed by the Group in all of its subsidiaries. This Charter is 
based on four fundamental principles: ethical relationships with customers, suppliers and partners, 
compliance with resource protection, prevention of conflicts of interest and protection of the corporate 
image. 
 
(41)  ̍  The measures taken to ensure customer health and safety  
Business & Decisionôs activity essentially targets companies and does not create any particular health 
or safety hazard for service users. 
 
 e) Other actions taken in respect of section 3°, to promote human rights.  
 
(42) ˈ Others  
 
Business & Decision's activity does not require, in light of its practices, the implementation of other 
actions to promote human rights. All of the Groupôs subsidiaries, in all countries, comply with applicable 
human rights laws and regulations. 
 
In 2015, Business & Decision signed the United Nationsô Global Compact. 
 
 
 
 

 
G E N E R A L  M E E T I N G  T O  B E  H E L D  O N  2 8  J U N E  2 0 1 6  

 
RESOLUTIONS SUBJECT TO ORDINARY MEETINGSô QUORUM AND MAJORITY REQUIREMENTS 
 

FIRST RESOLUTION 
APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS FOR PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

The shareholders, having heard the Board of Directorsô report and the Statutory Auditorsô report on annual accounts, 
the special report of the Statutory Auditors on the non-existence of an audit committee, approve the Companyôs annual 
accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 as presented, as well as the operations reflected or 
summarised in those accounts and reports, which lead to the recognition of a ú1,095,460 profit (one million ninety-five 
thousand and four hundred and sixty euros). 
 

SECOND RESOLUTION 
ALLOCATION OF INCOME/LOSS FOR PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

A profit of ú1,095,460 was recorded for the period ended 31 December 2015. 
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As proposed by the Board of Directors, the shareholders resolve to thus allocate the profit made during the period 
ended 31 December 2015: Global dividend:  ú0  

Retained earnings brought forward:       ú1,095,460 
Legal reserve:  ú0  
Other reserves:  ú0  

The Retained profit brought forward account will have, after allocation, a positive balance of ú4,048,967. 

 
THIRD RESOLUTION 

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS FOR PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
The shareholders, having heard the Board of Directorsô report and the Statutory Auditorsô report on the consolidated 
statements, approve the Companyôs consolidated statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 as presented, as 
well as the operations reflected or summarised in those accounts and reports, which lead to the recognition of a net 
profit of ú1,095,460 (one million ninety-five thousand and four hundred and sixty euros). 
 

FOURTH RESOLUTION 
APPROVAL OF AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS COVERED BY THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLES L.225-38 

ET SEQ. OF THE CODE OF COMMERCE 
The shareholders, having heard the Statutory Auditorsô special report on the agreements and commitments covered by 
the provisions of Articles L.225-38 et seq. of the Code of Commerce approve the agreements and commitments 
therein. 
 

FIFTH RESOLUTION 
COMPANYôS SHARE BUY-BACK PROGRAMME 

The shareholders, having heard the Board of Directorsô report and in accordance with provisions of Articles L. 225-209 
et seq. of the Code of Commerce, authorise the Board of Directors to buy the Companyôs shares to: 
(i) Cover the stock purchase and/or option plans granted to employees and board members in compliance with Articles L. 

225-177 et seq. of the Code of Commerce, as well as any other savings or shareholding schemes 
(ii) Allocate shares without consideration to employees and corporate officers pursuant to the clauses of articles L. 225-197-1 

et seq. of the Code of Commerce. 
(iii) Award shares under the employee profit-sharing scheme 
(iv) Attribute shares upon the exercise of rights attached to investment securities, giving entitlement by reimbursement, 

conversion, exchange, presentation of a warrant, or in any other manner, to the Company's existing shares 
(v) Keep and later remit shares (as an exchange or settlement) in connection with possible external growth transactions, in 

compliance with market practices approved by the AMF 
(vi) Ensure dynamism of the Companyôs share market pursuant to any liquidity agreement entered into with an investment 

services provider, in compliance with the ethics charter that is drawn by the French Association for Investment Firms (AFEI 
- Association Française des Entreprises d'investissement) and recognised by the AMF 

(vii) Cancel a maximum number of shares not exceeding 10% of the Company's share capital, over a twenty-four-month period 
and in case of a reduction in the Company's share capital 

 

The maximum unit purchase price is of ú35. 
 

However the Board of Directors reserves the right to adjust the above-mentioned purchase price in the following cases: 
the share's par value changes, the capital increases as a result of reserves capitalisation and shares without 
consideration allocation, there is a division or grouping of shares, capital depreciation or reduction occurs, there is a 
distribution of reserves or other assets, or any other transaction pertaining to shareholders' equity takes place. 
 

This authorisation can by no means be used to increase the number of shares held by the Company to more than 10 
% of the actual share capital and this 10 % threshold needs to be evaluated on the effective buy-back date. 
Consequently, the maximum amount that can be allocated to these acquisitions must not exceed ú55,180.825 (fifty-five 
thousand and one hundred and eighty euros and eight hundred and twenty-five cents). 
 

The acquisition, sale, transfer or exchange of these shares may be made by any means and at any time, on the stock 
market or over-the-counter, by mutual agreement, including the acquisition or sale of share blocks, or by the use of 
derivative instruments, namely through the purchase of call options. 
 

The maximum capital share that can be transferred through the purchase of share blocks is equal to the entire buy-
back programme amount. 
 

In compliance with Articles L. 211-22 et seq. of the French monetary and financial code, shares can also be subject to 
loans. 
 

This authorization has been given for a period not exceeding eighteen (24) months as from the date of this General 
Meeting and expires on 27 June 2018. 
 

The shareholders resolve that the Company will be able to pursue its buy-back programme, even during public 
offerings or exchanges of shares or securities issued by the Company or initiated by the Company. 
 

To ensure the exercise of this resolution, the shareholders confer full powers, which may in turn be delegated, to the 
Board of Directors to: 
- effectively perform operations and determine any related terms and conditions 
- file documents with the Autorité des marchés financiers 
- submit orders to the stock market, conclude agreements, namely with an eye to keeping share sales and purchases records 
- adjust sharesô purchase price to take into account the impact of aforementioned operations on share value 
- carry out all formalities and declarations and generally take any steps necessary. 
 

The Board of Directors shall inform shareholders at each annual Ordinary General Meeting of the operations carried 
out in exercise of this resolution. 
 

SIXTH RESOLUTION 
ESTABLISHMENT OF DIRECTORSô FEES 

Shareholders at the General Meeting set the directorsô fees amount to 100,000 euros, to be distributed amongst 
directors for the current financial period and all previous periods, until further decision by the shareholders.  
 

RESOLUTIONS SUBJECT TO EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGSô QUORUM AND MAJORITY REQUIREMENTS 
 

SEVENTH RESOLUTION 
AUTHORISATION FOR THE BOARD TO REDUCE SHARE CAPITAL BY THE CANCELLATION OF SHARES 

PURCHASED UNDER THE BUY-BACK PROGRAMME 
Shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting, having heard the Board of Directorsô report and the Statutory 
Auditorsô special report, authorise the Board of Directors, in accordance with Article L. 225-209 of the Code of 
Commerce, and for a period of twenty-four (24) months, to reduce share capital by cancelling shares repurchased 
under the above-mentioned fifth resolution "Company shares buy-back programme," by a maximum of 10% per twenty-
four-month (24) period.  
 

Therefore, the shareholders grant the Board of Directors full powers to complete all operations associated with this 
capital reduction, namely to determine a final capital reduction amount and define any related terms and conditions, 
ascertain its execution, alter articles of association accordingly, carry out all formalities and declarations with relevant 
bodies and, more generally, do all things necessary. 

EIGHTH RESOLUTION 
DELEGATION OF COMPETENCIES TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO ALLOCATE FREE SHARES TO 

EMPLOYEES OF THE COMPANY AND/OR ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND GROUP  
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The shareholders, acting in accordance with the quorum and majority requirements for Extraordinary General 
Meetings, having heard the Companyôs Board of Directorsô report and the Companyôs Statutory Auditorsô special 
report, and pursuant to provisions of Articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the Code of Commerce: 
1. Authorise the Board of Directors to, in one or more stages, allocate existing or to-be-issued Company ordinary 

shares free of charge to (i) Company staff members (or some categories of staff members) and/or (ii) staff members 
of companies and economic interest groups associated with the Company under conditions laid down in Article L. 
225-197-2 of the Code of Commerce (or some categories of these staff members)  

2. Decide that such allocations shall not involve a number of shares, existing or to-be-issued, that exceeds 10% of the 
Company's share capital as it stands on the date on which the allocation decision by the Board of Directors was 
made 

3. Decide that existing shares available for allocation under this authorisation can be bought by the Company within the 
context of the "Company shares buy-back programme" authorised namely by the above-mentioned Fifth resolution 

4. Decide that new shares allocated under this authorisation may be issued by the Company within the context of one 
or more increases in capital, by issue of new ordinary shares, by capitalizing reserves, profits or share premiums 

5. Decide that: 
(i) Allocation to beneficiaries shall only be deemed definitive after a minimum acquisition period of one year 

(ii) the minimum required term for shares to be held by beneficiaries is set at one year as from the date of definitive 
share allocation  

 

6. Decide that in the event of the incapacity of a beneficiary falling into the second or third categories provided by 
Article L. 341-4 of the French Social Security Code, the shares shall be definitively granted to such beneficiary and 
immediately transferable  

 

7. Take note that this authorisation automatically implies the shareholders' waiver of their (i) preferential rights to 
subscribe for ordinary shares issued under this authorisation (ii) and also, when applicable, of their rights to any 
fraction of reserves, profits or share premiums that may be capitalised following an issue of new shares, in favour of 
the beneficiaries of the shares that are granted, subject to the definitive allocation to the beneficiaries of said shares 
at the end of the acquisition period. 

 

8. Set to twenty-four (24) months as from the date on which the General Meeting was held, the deadline for the 

application of such authorisation by the Board of Directors 
 

9. Grant full powers, within the limits provided for above, to the Board of Directors to implement this authorisation and 
namely to: 

- Determine whether shares allocated free of charge are existing shares or shares to be issued and if necessary, to 

buy back shares or issue new shares by capitalizing reserves, profits or share premiums according to procedures set 

by the Board of Directors 

- Determine the category(ies) of beneficiaries and/or the identity of beneficiaries for share allocation as well as the 

number of shares to allocate to each one of them 

- Determine the share allocation criteria, the terms and conditions for share allocation, in compliance with this 

authorisation 

- Take note of definitive allocation dates and dates as from which shares will become freely transferable 

- If necessary, set the dividend-bearing date, even retroactively, of the new shares to be issued 

- Allow for the possibility of temporarily suspending the right to allocate shares in accordance with applicable laws and 

regulations 

- Place allocated shares in a registered account in one personôs name after the acquisition period, indicating, if 

necessary, that they are blocked and their blocking period, and deblock shares due to any circumstance for which 

this resolution or applicable regulation allows deblocking 

- Allow for the possibility of, if it so deems necessary, adjusting the number of shares allocated free of charge to 
protect beneficiariesô rights, with regards to any operation involving Company capital that might be carried out during 
the acquisition period, according to procedures set up by the Board 

- In the issue of new shares, if appropriate debit to the reserves, profits or share premiums the sums necessary to pay 
up the shares in question, note the realisation of any corresponding capital increases following the application of this 
resolution, modify the By-laws accordingly, and generally do everything necessary 

- And, more generally, enter into any agreements, draw up any documents, carry out any formalities and make any 
declarations to any organisations and otherwise do everything that may be necessary 

 
NINTH RESOLUTION 

POWERS 
The shareholders hereby confer full powers on the bearer of a certified true copy or extract of the minutes of this 
meeting to complete all publication and other formalities required by law relating to the above-mentioned adopted 
resolutions. 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORSô R E P O R T  A T  2 8  J U N E  2 0 1 6  
 

Dear shareholders, 
 

We have called this Extraordinary General Meeting mainly to submit the following proposals for approval: 
 

I. Delegation of competencies to the Board of Directors to reduce share capital by the cancellation of shares 
purchased under the buy-back programme 

II. Delegation of competencies to the Board of Directors to allocate free shares to employees of the company and/or 
associated companies and group  

 

I. DELEGATION OF COMPETENCIES TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO REDUCE SHARE CAPITAL BY 

CANCELLATION OF SHARES PURCHASED UNDER THE BUY-BACK PROGRAMME 
 

The Board of Directors requests shareholdersô authorisation to, within the limits provided for by law, decrease share 
capital, in one or more stages, in proportions that will be determined by the Board and through the cancellation of a 
number of treasury shares, also to be determined by the Board, in compliance with provisions of Articles L.225-209 et 
seq. of the Code of Commerce. 
 

This authorisation will be granted for a period of twenty-four (24) months as from the date of the present meeting. 
The maximum number of shares that can be cancelled by the Company under this authorisation is ten per cent (10%) 
of the Company's share capital per period of twenty-four (24) months, it being understood that this limit is applied to a 
Company capital amount that will be, if necessary, adjusted to account for operations that may impact on the share 
capital after the present General Meeting. 
 

The Board of Directors also requests full powers to complete all operations associated with this capital reduction, 
define any related terms and conditions, ascertain its execution and alter Articles of association accordingly, and do all 
things necessary. Terms and conditions for these operations will be subject to a special report by the Statutory 
Auditors. 
 

II. DELEGATION OF COMPETENCIES TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO ALLOCATE FREE SHARES TO 

EMPLOYEES OF THE COMPANY AND/OR ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND GROUP  
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In order to bring closer together the Groupôs operational activities management teams, the Board of Directors requests 
the shareholders' authorisation to, in one or more stages, allocate existing or to-be-issued Company ordinary shares 
free of charge to (i) Company staff members (or some categories of staff members) and/or (ii) staff members of 
companies and economic interest groups associated with the Company under conditions laid down in Article L. 225-
197-2 of the Code of Commerce (or some categories of these staff members) for a period of twenty-four (24) months 
as from the date of this Meeting. 
 

Such allocations shall not involve a number of shares, existing or to-be-issued, that exceeds 10 % of the Company's 
share capital as it stands on the date on which the allocation decision by the Board of Directors was made. 
 

This authorisation should allow the Board of Directors to, alternately or concurrently, within the set limits: 

- Allocate shares obtained through buy-back operations by the Company under conditions set forth in Articles L. 225-
208 and L. 225-209 of the Code of Commerce, and/or 

- Allocate shares to be issued in respect of one or more capital increases, by issuing new ordinary shares and 
capitalisation of reserves, profits or share premiums 

 

Allocation to beneficiaries shall only be deemed definitive after a minimum acquisition period of one year as from the 
date on which the allocation rights were granted by the Board of Directors; period during which the rights shall not be 
transferable, except in the event of the incapacity of a beneficiary falling into the second or third categories provided by 
Article L. 341-4 of the French Social Security Code in which case the shares shall be deemed definitively granted to 
such beneficiary and become immediately transferable. 
 

The minimum required term for shares to be held by beneficiaries is set at one year as from the date of definitive share 
allocation 
 

This authorisation automatically implies the shareholders' waiver of their (i) preferential rights to subscribe for ordinary 
shares issued under this authorisation (ii) and also, when applicable, of their rights to any fraction of reserves, profits or 
share premiums that may be capitalised following an issue of new shares, in favour of the beneficiaries of the shares 
that are granted, subject to the definitive allocation to the beneficiaries of said shares at the end of the acquisition 
period. 
 

We thus ask that you grant the Board of Directors full powers, within limits provided for above, to: 
- Determine whether shares allocated free of charge are existing shares or shares to be issued and if necessary, to buy back 

shares according to procedures set by the Board of Directors 

- Determine the category(ies) of beneficiaries and/or the identity of beneficiaries for share allocation as well as the number of 

shares to allocate to each one of them 

- Determine the share allocation criteria, the terms and conditions for share allocation, in compliance with this authorisation 

- Take note of definitive allocation dates and dates as from which shares will become freely transferable 

- If necessary, set the dividend-bearing date, even retroactively, of the new shares to be issued 

- Allow for the possibility of temporarily suspending the right to allocate shares in accordance with applicable laws and 

regulations 

- Place allocated shares in a registered account in one personôs name after the acquisition period, indicating, if necessary, that 

they are blocked and their blocking period, and deblock shares due to any circumstance for which this resolution or applicable 

regulation allows deblocking 

- Allow for the possibility of, if it so deems necessary, adjusting the number of shares allocated free of charge to protect 
beneficiariesô rights, with regards to any operation involving Company capital that might be carried out during the acquisition 
period, according to procedures set up by the Board 

- In the issue of new shares, if appropriate debit to the reserves, profits or share premiums the sums necessary to pay up the 
shares in question, note the realisation of any corresponding capital increases following the application of this resolution, 
modify the By-laws accordingly, and generally do everything necessary 

- And, more generally, enter into any agreements, draw up any documents, carry out any formalities and make any 
declarations to any organisations and otherwise do everything that may be necessary 

 
 

The Board of Directors 

B O A R D  O F  D I RECTORSô SPECIAL RE P O R T  A T  2 8  J U N E  
2 0 1 6  

 
 
 
 
Dear Shareholders, 
 
We would like to remind you that the Company benefited from a treasury shares buy-back programme 
and an authorisation granted to the Board of Directors by the Combined General Meeting held on 25 
June 2015, to purchase shares under the provisions of Articles L.225-209 to L.255-212 of the Code of 
Commerce. 
 
It is to be noted that during the 2015 financial period, BUSINESS & DECISION Company has not 
directly purchased or sold any Business & Decision shares. 
 
We would like to remind you that the fifth resolution of the Combined General Meeting held on 25 June 
2015 stipulated that Business & Decision share purchases could be carried out in compliance with the 
instructions of the aforementioned information prospectus, having the following objectives in decreasing 
order of priority: 
 

Å Cover the stock purchase and/or option plans granted to employees and board members in 
compliance with Articles L. 225-177 et seq. of the Code of Commerce, as well as any other 
savings or shareholding schemes 

Å Allocate shares without consideration to employees and corporate officers pursuant to the 
clauses of articles L. 225-197-1 et seq. of the Code of Commerce. 

Å Award shares under the employee profit-sharing scheme 
Å Attribute shares upon the exercise of rights attached to investment securities, giving 

entitlement by reimbursement, conversion, exchange, presentation of a warrant, or in any 
other manner, to the Company's existing shares 

Å Keep and later remit shares (as an exchange or settlement) in connection with possible 
external growth transactions, in compliance with market practices approved by the AMF 

Å Ensure dynamism of the Companyôs share market pursuant to any liquidity agreement 
entered into with an investment services provider, in compliance with the ethics charter that is 
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drawn by the French Association for Investment Firms (AFEI - Association Française des 
Entreprises d'investissement) and recognised by the AMF 

Å Cancel a maximum number of shares not exceeding 10% of the Company's share capital, 
over a twenty-four-month period and in case of a reduction in the Company's share capital 

 
The Board of Directors has not used, during the financial period just ended, the powers it was delegated 
by the Combined General Meeting held on 25 June 2015 pertaining to the shares buy-back programme. 
 
 
The Board of Directors 
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G E N E R A L  I N F O R M A T I O N   

 
COMPANY NAME AND HEADQUARTERS: Business & Decision; 153, rue de Courcelles, 75817 Paris cedex 17. 
 

LEGAL FORM 
Public Limited Company (Société anonyme ï SA) with a Board of Directors, governed by the 24 July 1966 law. 
First founded as a French Limited Liability Company (société à responsabilité limitée ï SARL), the Company's legal 
form was changed to Public Limited Company by a ruling of the shareholders' General Meeting held on 1 December 
1997. Nationality: French. 
 

DATE OF INCORPORATION AND DURATION: 11 February 1992, for a period of 99 years, as from its date of 
registration in the Business Register. The Company will cease to exist on 19 February 2091, except in case of 
extension or early dissolution by way of an Extraordinary General Meeting. 
 

OBJECTS OF THE COMPANY (ARTICLE 2 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION) 
Business & Decisionôs purpose is, directly or indirectly, in all countries: 
V IT and namely research, creation, development, distribution, information, initiation, application, utilisation, marketing of all 

methods or software, as well as consulting services activities and developments for big systems, namely for Internet/Web 
networks 

V And, generally, all industrial, commercial, financial, securities or real estate operations which can be can be directly or 
indirectly related to the object of the company or any similar or related purposes, or that are likely to facilitate growth and 
development 

V Company investment in all French or foreign enterprises or companies, created or to be created, that can be directly or 
indirectly associated with the object of the company or any similar or related purposes, namely in enterprises or companies 
whose purpose is likely to aid in the performance of the object of the company, and to do so by any means, namely by capital 
contribution, subscription or purchase of shares, membership shares, or founderôs shares, merger, undeclared partnership, 
strategic alliance or partnership  

V To this effect, the Company can namely create, acquire, manage, outsource and use all establishments, even in favour of 
third parties, in accordance with legal provisions for all operations that are directly or indirectly linked to its purpose. 

 

AMENDMENTS TO ARTICLES 6 AND 7 OF THE COMPANYôS ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

ARTICLE 6 - CONTRIBUTIONS 
When the SARL was created, a contribution of 100,000 French Francs in cash was made. It was equivalent to 1,000 
fully subscribed and paid up company shares, worth 100 francs each. 
The total amount paid by the partners, i.e. 100,000 French Francs, was duly deposited in a bank account carrying the 
name of the created Company. 
By decision of the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 February 1995, share capital was increased to 300,000 
French Francs by capitalisation of a sum of 200,000 French Francs from retained earnings. 
By decision of the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 20 July 2000: 
- Capital was increased by 2,455,019.40 French Francs (fully paid up) and amounted to 2,755,019.40 French Francs: 
- Capital was converted into Euros and amounted to ú420,000 
- Sharesô par value was initially increased to ú140 and then cancelled 
- Capital amount was divided into 6,000,000 shares having no par value, and the new shares were distributed amongst 

shareholders, with 1 old share worth 1,999 new ones 

Following the Companyôs stock market listing on the PARIS Nouveau March® stock exchange, the companyôs share 
capital was increased by ú84,000 through the issue of 1,200,000 new shares subscribed by the public, in compliance 
with the decisions of the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 20 July 2000. 
Following the public exchange offer filed for COM6 company shares, the companyôs share capital was increased by 
ú24,309.74 through the issue of 347,282 new shares to finance 1,562,769 COM6 shares, as per decisions of the 
Extraordinary Combined General Meeting held on 21 November 2001. 
Following the reopening of the public exchange offer for COM6 company shares, the companyôs share capital was 
increased by ú3,606.26 through the issue of 51,518 new Company shares to finance 231,831 COM6 shares, as per 
decisions of the Extraordinary Combined General Meeting held on 21 November 2001. 
Following an increase in capital on 7 April 2006, share capital was increased in cash by ú40,697.72, from ú563,104.92 
to ú603,802.64, through the issue of 581,396 new shares, fully paid up, each worth ú0.07. 
Following an increase in capital observed on 4 December 2006, after the exercise of BSPCEs (bons de souscription de 
parts de cr®ateurs dôentreprise), capital was increased in cash by ú6,860.63 from ú603,802.64 to ú610,663.27, through 
the issue of 98,009 new shares, fully paid up, each worth ú0.07. 
Following an increase in capital observed on 30 June 2008, after the exercise of BCEs (bons de cr®ateur dôentreprise) 
and stock options (SOs), capital was increased in cash by ú2,310 from ú610,663.27 to ú612,973.27, through the issue 
of 33,000 new shares, fully paid up, each worth ú0.07. 
Following an increase in capital observed on 18 December 2008, after the exercise of BCEs (bons de créateur 
dôentreprise) and stock options (SOs), capital was increased in cash by ú147 from ú612,973.27 to ú613,120.27, 
through the issue of 2,100 new shares, fully paid up, each worth ú0.07. 

The Board of Directors has reduced share capital by ú61,312.02 by way of cancellation of 875,886 treasury shares 
worth ú0.07 each on 30 June 2009, pursuant to the authorisation granted by the Annual Combined General Meeting 
held on 22 June 2009. Business & Decisionôs capital is now made up of 7,882,975 shares and amounts to ú551,808.25 
as compared to ú613,120.27 previously.  

ARTICLE 7 - SHARE CAPITAL 
Share capital amounts to ú551,808.25. 
It is divided into 7,882,975 fully subscribed and paid up shares, all belonging to the same class. 
 

REGISTRATION: Registered with the Paris Trade Register under number: n° B 384 518 114. APE Code: 620 2A. 
 

COMPANYôS FINANCIAL YEAR 
Following the General Meeting held on 16 December 2004, the financial periodôs starting and ending dates have 
been modified. The financial period now starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December of each year. 
 

SPECIAL ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

STATUTORY DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS (ARTICLE 22 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION) 
After the accounts have been approved, the financial period's balance may show a distributable profit, as defined by 
law, i.e. a profit figure from which previous yearsô losses and the legal reserve fund have been deducted and to which 
has been added retained earnings carried forward.  
 

As a priority, dividends are paid from the financial period's distributable profit. Any surplus is available to the Ordinary 
General Meeting which may, in all or in part, carry it forward, distribute it, or allocate it to one or more reserve lines for 
which it decides assignment and use. 
 

Dividends for all shares are paid to their holders or to any other person bearing a valid authorisation. Dividend 
payments are made in compliance with legal provisions, applicable regulations and terms and conditions defined by 
the Board of Directors. They can, as per General Meeting decisions, be paid in cash or through the allocation of 
security holdings.  The General Meeting may also, in compliance with legal and regulatory provisions in effect, allocate 
to each shareholder, for all or part of the dividend or dividend instalments distributed, the option of receiving the 
dividends or dividend instalments in cash or Company shares. 
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GENERAL MEETINGS (ARTICLE 19 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION, MADE COMPLIANT WITH THE 15 MAY 2001 FRENCH LAW 

ON NEW ECONOMIC REGULATIONS (LOI NRE)) 
 

Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meetings give decisions subject to quorum and majority requirements outlined by 
legal and regulatory provisions and exercise the powers conferred to them by law. 
 

Meetings are chaired by the Board of Directorsô Chairman or, failing that, by a Director duly appointed to do so by the 
Board. If neither is available, the Meeting may itself appoint its Chairman. Vote teller roles are performed by the two 
members of the Meeting who are in attendance, agree to do so, and who get the greatest number of votes.  
 

The executive committee appoints the Secretary, who can be someone who does not hold any shares in the Company. 
An attendance sheet is kept as required by law. Meetings are held at the head office or any other place indicated in the 

notice to attend. Summons to attend General Meetings and all preceding formalities (notice of meeting, draft 

resolutions, etc.) are made in the manner and within the time limits requested by the law in effect. 
 

The agenda is determined by the notice of meeting author. The Meeting cannot rule on matters that are not included in 
the agenda, which cannot be modified on the second notice of meeting. It can however, under all circumstances, 
remove one or more directors and replace them. 
 

All shareholders can attend Meetings, personally or by proxy, under the provisions of the law, upon proof of 
identity and share ownership, either by a certificate witnessing the registration of the relevant Shareholder in the share 
register of the Company or by providing in one of the locations mentioned in the notice of meeting, a certification 
issued by an authorised financial intermediary, complying with regulations in effect, stating that the bearer shares have 
been placed in a blocked account until the date of the Meeting. The deadline by which these formalities must be 
completed is five (5) days prior to the date of the Meeting. 
However, the Board of Directors has the power to accept share registration proofs and the above-mentioned 
certificates, even after the previously cited allotted timeframe as a general measure benefiting all shareholders. 
 

A shareholder can be represented by another shareholder or by his/her spouse. All shareholders can accept the 
powers transferred to them by other shareholders to act as their representatives at a Meeting, with no other limitations 
than those resulting from legal provisions that determine the maximum number of votes that can be cast by one and 
same person, both personally and as proxy.  
 

The proxy form by which a shareholder appoints a proxy holder to represent him/her at a Meeting must be signed by 
the shareholder and indicate his/her surname, name and address. It can particularly appoint as proxy holder someone 
who does not have the power to act on behalf of someone else. For all shareholder proxies that have no designated 
proxy holders, the Meeting's Chairman will cast a favourable vote for the adoption of all resolutions presented and 
approved by the Board of Directors and an unfavourable vote for the adoption of all other resolutions.  
Proxies are given for only one Meeting. They can however be given for two Meetings, one Ordinary and the other 
Extraordinary, held on the same day or within a fifteen (15) days period. Proxies given for one Meeting are valid for all 
successive convened Meetings having the same agenda.  
 

Shareholders may vote by post using a relevant form that is addressed to the Company, in accordance with legal 
and regulatory provisions. This form must reach the Company at least three (3) days before the Meeting, to be taken 
into consideration.  
 

Shareholders may also take part and vote in the Meeting by means of videoconferencing or any other form of 
telecommunications that allows their identification, in accordance with the conditions set out in applicable legislations.  
 

Holders of undivided shares are represented at the General Meeting by one of the owners or by a unique proxy holder 
appointed, in case of disagreement, by the Presiding Judge of the Commercial Court, ruling in emergency proceedings 
at the request of the party who first takes action. 
 
In Ordinary and Extraordinary Meetings, each shareholder has as many voting rights as the number of shares he/she 
owns or represents without any limitations, except for the double voting rights attached to fully paid-up shares which 
are assigned if proof of share registration in the same shareholder name for at least the last two years is made, in 
compliance with the provisions of Article 11-2 of these Articles of association. Voting shall be by a show of hands or by 
roll-call. However, shareholders representing at least a quarter of the share capital may request a vote by secret ballot. 
 

DOUBLE VOTING RIGHTS (ARTICLE 11-2 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION) 
 

A double voting right is granted to each fully paid-up share that has been held in a nominative form by the 
same shareholder for a minimum of two years (as from 20 July 2000).  
 

CROSSING OF STATUTORY SHAREHOLDING THRESHOLDS (ARTICLE 11-3 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION) 
 

All shareholders must comply with the information obligations covered by Articles L 233-7 to L 233-12 of the French 
Code of Commerce if, acting individually or in concert, they come into possession of a number of shares or voting 
rights that represent more than a twentieth, tenth, three-twentieths, fifth, quarter, three-tenths, third, half, two-thirds, 
eighteen-twentieths or nineteen-twentieths of the Company's capital. 
 

If not properly reported, shares in excess of the threshold that should have been reported may be deprived of voting 
rights at all General Meetings held until expiry of the two-year timeframe following the notificationôs regularization date. 
Similarly, voting rights attached to these shares and that have not been properly reported cannot be exercised or 
transferred by the defaulting shareholder.  
 

Failure to abide by this obligation may lead to the defaulting shareholder being deprived of voting rights for those 
shares in excess of the threshold that should have been reported, upon a request entered in the minutes of meeting 
from one of more shareholders possessing 5% of the capital or voting rights.  
 

All shareholders must also, in the same terms, inform the Company within a fifteen-day period, whenever their capital 
investment drops below any of the above-mentioned thresholds.  
TRANSFERABILITY OF SHARES 
The transfer of shares is not restricted by any statutory provisions. 
 

COMPANY TREASURY SHARES BUY-BACK PROGRAMME 
 

To ensure development of its chosen strategy, Business & Decision Company must ensure dynamic management of 
its capital. The implementation of a shares buy-back programme is one of the means used to meet this objective. The 
buy-back programme authorised by the Combined General Meeting held on 25 June 2015, has not been set up since 
this date. 
 
 
 
IDENTIFIABLE BEARER SHARES (ARTICLE 8 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION) 
 
As regards identifiable bearer shares, the Company may at any time and in exchange of consideration to be paid by 
the Company, ask the securities clearing institution to disclose the name, or in the case of a legal entity, the business 
name, the nationality and the address of holders of shares that confer, immediately or in the future, the right to vote in 
its own General Meetings, as well as the number of shares held by each holder, and the restrictions that may apply to 
these shares, if any. 
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COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE HOLDING OF REGISTERED SHARES (ARTICLE 223-1 OF AMF GENERAL REGULATIONS) 
  

Due to the holding of registered shares through CM-CIC Market Solution (organisation holding registered share 
accounts) a brokerage commission is applied according to a regressive scale by bracket as follows: 

Gross selling price bracket Brokerage rate 
Up to 2,000 euros* 0.80% 

From 2,001 to 7,500 euros 0.60% 

Beyond 7,500 euros 0.40% 

  
*with a minimum of 13.50 euros 
  

Custody and management fees must be paid by Business & Decision (record keeping commissions). 
 
SHARE CAPITAL  
 

The companyôs capital is ú551,808.25, divided into 7,882,975 shares, fully paid up. 
 

CHANGES TO SHARE CAPITAL SINCE THE CREATION OF BUSINESS & DECISION 
 

Date Type of operation 

Increase/De
crease in 

capital 
(in F or ú) 

Share 
premium 

And 
contributi
on (in F 
or ú) 

Quantity 
of shares 

issued/can
celled 

Cumulative 
share 
capital 
figure 

(shares and 
capital) 

February 1992 Company creation - - 1,000 1,000 F100,000 
17 February 
1995 

Capitalisation of 
retained earnings 200,000 - 2,000 3,000 F300,000 

20 July 2000 

Capitalisation of 
retained earnings 

and retained 
earnings brought 

forward 

2,455,019 - - 3,000 F2,755,019 

20 July 2000 Capital conversion to 
ú - - - 3,000 ú420,000  

20 July 2000 Shares division - - - 6,000,000 ú420,000  
6 February 
2001 

Increase in capital 
(stock market listing) ú84,000  ú16,116,000 

(gross)  1,200,000 7,200,000 ú504,000  

19 January 
2002 

Increase in capital 
(following public offer 
for the exchange of 

COM6 shares) 

- - 844,356 8,044,356 ú563,104  

7 April 2006 Increase in capital ú40,698 ú9,959,313 581,396 8,625,752 ú603,802 

4 December 
2006 

Increase in capital 
(exercise of 

BSPCEs) 
ú6,860  ú1 182 629 98 009 8 723 761 ú610 623 

30 June 2008 
Increase in capital 

(exercise of 
BSPCEs) 

ú2,310  ú165 580 33 000 8 756 761 ú612 973  

18 December 
2008 

Increase in capital 
(exercise of BSPCEs 

and SOs) 
ú147  ú10 542 2 100 8 758 861 ú613 120  

30 June 2009 Reduction in capital ú61,312.02  -  875,886 7 882,975 ú551,808.25 
2010 None  -    ú551,808.25 
2011 None  -    ú551,808.25 
2012 None  -    ú551,808.25 
2013 None  -    ú551,808.25 
2014 None  -    ú551,808.25 
2015 None  -    ú551,808.25 

 
CAPITAL POTENTIAL 
At 31 December 2015, since there are no BSPCEs and stock options to exercise, the number of potential capital 
shares is the same as the number of actual capital shares. 

BSPCE and stock option plans authorised by the EGM held on 16 December 2003 expired on December 2008. 
Consequently, no allotments or subscriptions are likely to occur.  
 

SHAREHOLDERSô AGREEMENT 
There is no shareholdersô agreement. 
 

DIVIDENDS 
The Company has not distributed any dividends during the past three financial periods. Business & Decision 
intends to use all available funds to finance its activities and growth and has, thus, no intention of distributing any 
dividends in the near future.  
 

GROUP ACTIVITIES AND PARENT-CHILD RELATIONSHIPS 
Business & Decision subsidiaries all perform economic activities that fall within the scope of one of the six 
Group business activities: Business Intelligence, Customer Relationship Management (CRM), e-Business, 
Enterprise Information Management (EIM) consulting and systems integration, Management Consulting and Enterprise 
solutions. Consequently, the Groupôs companies sometimes subcontract tasks to each other or even exchange 
consultants, depending on needs and required skills. In those cases, tasks are re-invoiced according to the profile of 
ñloanedò consultants and subcontracted agreements. Moreover, cash advances can be made between subsidiaries or 
between subsidiaries and the parent company in order to decrease financial costs borne by the Group. During the 
2015 financial period, these advances earned interest at a +200 points Euribor rate.  
Information on subsidiaries and equity investments are featured in the "consolidated statements" section about the 
Groupôs consolidation scope and simplified organisation chart. 
 

 

STATUTORY AUDITORSô R E P O R T S  

 

Statutory auditorsô report on the consolidated accounts for the period ended 
31 December 2015 
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To the shareholders, 
 
In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us in your General Meeting, we are hereby presenting 
to you our report regarding the financial year ended 31 December 2015 on: 
- The closing consolidated statements for Business & Decision, as appended to the present report 
- The justification of our assessments  

- Specific verification required by law. 
 

The consolidated statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. Our role is to express an 
opinion on those accounts, based on our audit. 
 

I - Opinion on the consolidated statements 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the professional standards prevailing in France; these 
require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance that these consolidated 
accounts are free from material misstatements. Audits are verifications, by means of audit tests or other 
selection means, of the elements that support the amounts and information disclosed in the 
consolidated statements. They also include assessing the accounting principles used, the significant 
estimates made by management, and the overall financial statements presentation. We deem the 
collected information sufficient and appropriate for the expression of an opinion. 
In our opinion, the consolidated accounts, under the IFRS as adopted in the European Union, are 
accurate and give a true and fair view of holdings, financial position and results of the group formed by 
the persons and entities included in the consolidation. 
Without calling into question the opinion expressed above, we draw your attention to the 2014 
consolidated financial statements restatement mentioned in note IV.2 of the appendix to the 
consolidated accounts and performed in accordance with IAS 8 "Accounting policies, changes in 
accounting estimates and errors." 
 

II - Justification of assessments 
 
Pursuant the provisions of Article L. 823-9 of the Code of Commerce governing the justification of our 
assessments, we are informing you of the following:  
 

Accounting estimates 
Every year, the Company tests goodwill and assets for impairment and depreciation in order to 
determine whether there is any loss in carrying value, according to the terms described in section IV. 
Accounting principles, rules and methods at paragraphs IV.8.1 and IV.8.5 of the consolidated financial 

statements. We have examined the methods used for impairment and depreciation testing, as well as 
the data and assumptions chosen to perform these tasks. We have reviewed calculations made by the 
Group and verified that note 9 of the notes to the consolidated statements gives appropriate information.  
The Company recognises the turnover and related costs associated with long-term contracts whose 
production volumes are based on operational assumptions. We have ensured that these contractsô 
turnover and margin were correctly reported, in compliance with rules described in note IV. Accounting 
principles, rules and methods at paragraphs IV.7.14 of the consolidated financial statements. 
Balance sheet provisions, namely those pertaining to retirement commitment, have been evaluated 
according to the rules and methods described in note IV. Accounting principles, rules and methods at 
paragraphs IV.8.14 of the consolidated financial statements. We have assessed the basis used to make 
these provisions and verified that the information contained in note 14 of the notes to the consolidated 
statements is appropriate. 
 
Comparative information restatement 
Note IV.2 of the appendix to the consolidated accounts describes the impact of the correction of the 
error made with regards to the Peruvian subsidiary B&D Latam and the restatement of the comparative 
information relating to the financial period ended 31 December 2014, performed in accordance with IAS 
8 "Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors." We have examined the 
restatement elements and assessed the suitability of information provided on that subject.  
The assessments were part of our audit of the consolidated accounts, considered overall, and therefore 
contributed to the opinion expressed in the first part of this report. 
 
III ï Specific verifications and information 
 
In accordance with the professional standards prevailing in France, we have also performed the 
specific  verification of information pertaining to the Group in the management report, as required by 
law.  

We do not have any comments on their fairness and consistency with the consolidated accounts. 
 
Paris La Défense and Paris, 18 April 2016  
 

The Statutory Auditors 
 

MAZARS - Jean-Luc BARLET 
ADN PARIS- Régis LAPOY 

 

Erreur  ! Source du renvoi introuvable. on annual accounts 
Financial period ended 31 December 2015 

 
 
 
To the shareholders, 
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In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us in your General Meeting, we are hereby presenting 
to you our report regarding the financial year ended 31 December 2015 on: 
- The closing annual accounts for Business & Decision, as appended to the present report 
- The justification of our assessments  
- The specific verifications and information provided for by the law 
 
The annual accounts have been approved by the Board of Directors. Our role is to express an opinion 
on those accounts, based on our audit. 
 
I - Opinion on the annual accounts 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the professional standards prevailing in France; these 
require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance that these annual accounts 
are free from material misstatements. Audits are verifications, by means of audit tests or other selection 
means, of the elements that support the amounts and information disclosed in the company statements. 
They also include assessing the accounting principles used, the significant estimates made by 
management, and the overall financial statements presentation. We deem the collected information 
sufficient and appropriate for the expression of an opinion. 
 
We certify that the annual accounts are, with respect to French accounting rules and principles, 
accurate and provide a true and fair view of the periodôs activities as well as of the companyôs financial 
position and holdings at the end of the period. 
 
II - Justification of assessments 
 
Pursuant the provisions of Article L. 823-9 of the Code of Commerce governing the justification of our 
assessments, we are informing you of the following: 
 

- Note III.1.1 of the notes to the annual accounts details the rules and accounting 
methods applied for the net asset value of goodwill. Our task involved an assessment of the 
methodologies and assumptions chosen to estimate value in use for goodwill as well as the 
verification that note IV.1.1of the notes to the annual accounts contained appropriate information.  

- As specified in note III.3.1 of the notes to the annual accounts, the carrying value for 
equity investment is reduced to value in use if the latter is lower than acquisition value. Within the 

context of our assessment of the significant estimates made by management, we have reviewed the 
data and assumptions upon which are based value in use, and where applicable, we have verified 
depreciation calculation. We have also verified that note IV.1.3 of the notes to the annual accounts 
contains appropriate information. 
 

The assessments were part of our audit of the accounts, considered overall, and therefore contributed 
to the opinion expressed in the first part of this report. 
 
III ï Specific verifications and information 
 
We have also performed, in accordance with the professional standards prevailing in France, specific 
verifications as required by law. 
 
We do not have any comments on the fairness and consistency with the annual accounts of the 
information laid out in the management report of the Board of Directors and in the documents sent to 
the shareholders regarding the financial position and the annual accounts. 
 
With respect to the information provided under the provisions of Article L.225-102-1 of the Code of 
Commerce on remuneration and benefits to board members, as well as commitments agreed upon in 
their favour, we have verified their consistency with the accounts or the data used to prepare these 
accounts and, where applicable, with all elements gathered by your company from companies 
controlling or controlled by your company. After having conducted these tasks, we certify these 
informationôs accuracy and fairness. 
 
In accordance with the law, we have verified that the various information pertaining to ownership of 
capital and voting rights have been communicated to you in the management report. 
 
Paris La Défense and Paris, 18 April 2016  
 

The Statutory Auditors 
 

MAZARS - Jean-Luc BARLET 
ADN PARIS- Régis LAPOY 
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MAZARS 
61, rue Henri Regnault, 92400 Courbevoie 

Public limited company with a capital of 
ú8,320,000 RCS NANTERRE                              

784 824 153 

ADN Paris 
109, rue de Courcelles - 75017 PARIS 

Limited liability company with a capital of 
ú100,000 

RCS PARIS 428 911 275 
 

  
    
 
 
BUSINESS & DECISION 

153, rue de Courcelles 
75817 PARIS 

Registered at RCS PARIS under number 384 518 114  
 

 
STATUTORY AUDITORSô SPECIAL REPORT 

ON REGULATORY AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS  
 
 

General Meeting to approve the accounts for the reporting period ended 31.12.2015 
 
 
To the shareholders, 
 
As your appointed company auditors, we hereby submit to you our report on regulatory 
agreements and commitments. 
Our task lies in presenting to you, based on information given to us, the major characteristics and terms 
of - as well as the reasons justifying the Companyôs interest in - the agreements and commitments of 
which we have been informed, or which we have come across whilst carrying out our mission, without 
offering an opinion on their use or merit, or looking for any other agreement or commitment that may 
exist. It is for you, in accordance with the terms of Article R.225-31 of the Code of Commerce, to 
evaluate the benefits associated with these agreements and commitments with a view to approval.  
 
 

Moreover, it is incumbent upon us, wherever appropriate, to present you with information, as per Article 
R.225-31 of the Code of Commerce, pertaining to fulfilment, during the reporting period, of agreements 
and commitments already approved by the General Meeting. 
 
 

This mission has been carried out in accordance with the national company of auditors' 
professional guidelines. Our tasks involved verification of information consistency between the 
information provided to us and the information contained in the original documents from which 
they were obtained. 
 
 
AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS SUBMITTED FOR APPROVAL AT THE GENERAL MEETING 
 

Agreements and commitments authorised during the financial period 
 

We were not informed of any agreement or commitment authorised during the period under review to be 
submitted for approval at the General Meeting in accordance with provisions of Article L 225-38 of the 
Code of Commerce.  
 
 
AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS ALREADY APPROVED BY SHAREHOLDERS 

 
Agreements and commitments approved during previous periods and still in effect during the financial 
year under review 
 

Pursuant to Article L.255-30 of the Code of Commerce, we have been informed of the continued 
fulfilment of the following agreements and commitments (already approved by the shareholders during 
previous periods) during the reporting period under review. 
 
 
AGREEMENT WITH MYPLATINE REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY 
 
Involved Director Mr. Patrick BENSABAT, BUSINESS & DECISION Chairman and 

Managing Director and SCI MYPLATINE partner. 
 

Type and purpose  Residential lease contracted on 1 January 2006 with MYPLATINE by your 
Company for the occasional lodging of Group employees during missions. 
This transaction was authorised by the Board of Directors on 1 January 
2006. 

 

Amount At 31 December 2015, annual rent charges amount to ú23,640 with 
additional annual tenancy costs of ú4,000. 

 Guarantee deposit: ú5,910. 
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AGREEMENT WITH LIVATO REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY 
 
Involved Directors Mr. Patrick BENSABAT, BUSINESS & DECISION Chairman and 

Managing Director and SCI LIVATO partner. 
 Mr. Christophe DUMOULIN, BUSINESS & DECISION Deputy Managing 

Director and SCI LIVATO partner. 
 

Type, purpose and terms Commercial lease contracted on 1 July 2008 with LIVATO by your 
company for premises located at 69006 LYON, 45, quai Charles de 
Gaulle.  

 This transaction was authorised by the Board of Directors on 30 June 
2008. 

 

Amount At 31 December 2015, annual rent charges amount to ú109,680 with 
additional annual tenancy costs of ú12,000. 

 Guarantee deposit: ú20,945. 
 
 
 
 
AGREEMENT WITH YVERSANIORT REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY 
 
Involved Director Mr. Patrick BENSABAT, BUSINESS & DECISION Chairman and 

Managing Director and SCI YVERSANIORT partner. 
 

Type, purpose and terms Residential and commercial leases contracted on 1 September 2006 with 
YVERSANIORT by your company for premises located at 79000 NIORT, 
17, rue Yver, for the occasional lodging of Group employees during 
missions and for commercial premises located at 129, avenue de paris. 

   

Amount At 31 December 2015, annual rent charges for the residential lease 
amount to ú14,400 with additional annual tenancy costs of ú3,600. 

  Guarantee deposit of ú3,600. 
 

 At 31 December 2015, annual rent charges for the commercial lease 
amount to ú25,200 with additional annual tenancy costs of ú2,520. 

 Guarantee deposit of ú4,800. 
 
 
 
AGREEMENT WITH NANTALO REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY 
 
Involved Directors Mr. Patrick BENSABAT, BUSINESS & DECISION Chairman and 

Managing Director and SCI NANTALO partner. 
 Mr. Christophe DUMOULIN, BUSINESS & DECISION Deputy Managing 

Director and SCI LIVATO partner. 
 
Type, purpose and terms Commercial lease contracted on 1 January 2006 with NANTALO by your 

company for premises located at 44320 SAINT SEBASTIEN SUR LOIRE, 
"Parc de la Gibraye" 13, rue de la Loire.  

  
Amount At 31 December 2015, annual rent charges amount to ú13,502 with 

additional annual tenancy costs of ú2,310. 
 Guarantee deposit: ú9,270. 
 
 
 

 
Paris La Défense and Paris, 18 April 2016 

 
 

The Statutory Auditors 
 

 
MAZARS 

represented by 
Jean-Luc BARLET 

ADN Paris 
represented by  
Régis LAPOY 
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Statutory Auditors' report drawn up pursuant to Article L. 225-235 of the 
Code of Commerce, on the report of the Business & Decision Company 

Board of Directorsô Chairman 
Financial period ended 31 December 2015 

 
 
 
To the shareholders, 
 
As the statutory auditors for Business & Decision Company and pursuant to the provisions of Article L. 
225-235 of the Code of Commerce, we are hereby submitting our report on your Company Chairmanôs 
report, in compliance with provisions of Article L. 225-37 of the Code of Commerce for the period ended 
31 December 2015. 
 
It is for the Chairman to prepare and submit to the Board of Directorsô approval, a report on the internal 
control and risk management procedures set up within the Company and including all other information 
required by Article L.225-37 of the Code of Commerce regarding namely, the corporate governance 
structure. 
It is for us to: 
 

- Communicate to you our observations based on the information included in the Chairmanôs 
report, about the internal control and risk management procedures regarding the preparation 
and processing of accounting and financial information, and  

- Certify that the report contains all the other information required by Article L.225-37 of the 
Code of Commerce, being understood that it is not for us to check the fairness of these other 
information.  
 

We have performed these tasks in accordance with the professional standards prevailing in France. 
 
Information on the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information pertaining to 
internal control and risk management procedures 
 
Prevailing professional standards require the use of due diligence in ascertaining the fairness of all 
information as regards internal control and risk management procedures for the preparation and 
processing of the financial and accounting information contained in the Chairman's report.  
 
Due diligence consists in: 
 

- Reviewing the internal control and risk management procedures for the preparation and 
processing of accounting and financial information, that underlie all information included in the 
Chairmanôs report as well as existing documentation 

- Reviewing the work undertaken to prepare these information and the existing documentation 
- Determining if any identified major deficiencies regarding internal control for the preparation 

and processing of accounting and financial information are presented in an appropriate 
manner in the Chairmanôs report 
 

After having conducted these tasks, we have no comments to make on the information relating to the 
Companyôs internal control and risk management procedures for the preparation and processing of 
accounting and financial information included in the Board of Directors Chairmanôs report, drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37 of the Code of Commerce. 
 
Other information 
 
We hereby certify that the Board of Directors Chairmanôs report contains all the other information 
required as per the provisions of Article L. 225-37 of the Code of Commerce. 
 
 
 

 
Paris La Défense and Paris, 18 April 2016  
 

The Statutory Auditors 
 

MAZARS - Jean-Luc BARLET 
ADN PARIS- Régis LAPOY 
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BUSINESS & DECISION 
Public limited company with a capital of ú551,808.25 

Headquarters: 153 rue de Courcelles, 75817 Paris cedex 17 
RCS Paris: 384 518 114 B 

 

Statutory Auditorsô report on the capital reduction 
 

Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 June 2016   
Resolution n°6 

 
 
 
 
 

To the shareholders, 
 
In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of the your Company accounts and in accordance with 
Article L. 225-209 of the French Code of Commerce regarding reductions in capital through 
Company share cancellation, we present below our report setting out our opinion on the 
grounds for, and the terms and conditions of, the proposed reduction of share capital. 
 
Your Board of Directors proposes that you delegate to it, for a period of 24 months as from 
the date of this Meeting, all powers to cancel, within the limit of 10% of its capital, for a 
period of 24 months, shares bought under the treasury share purchase authorisation 
granted by your Company in accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned article. 
 
We have conducted our review in compliance with professional standards issued by the 
national auditing body (Compagnie nationale des commissaires aux comptes) relating to this 
operation. Those standards require that we assess the lawful nature of the reasons for, and 
the terms and conditions of, the proposed reduction in the Companyôs share capital which 
does not undermine the equality of shareholders.  
 
We have no comments on the reasons for, and terms and conditions of, the proposed 
reduction in capital. 
 
 
 
Paris La Défense and Paris, 18 April 2016  
 
 

The Statutory Auditors 
 

MAZARS - Jean-Luc BARLET 
ADN PARIS- Régis LAPOY 
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BUSINESS & DECISION 

Public limited company with a capital of ú551,808.25 
Headquarters: 153 rue de Courcelles, 75817 Paris cedex 17 

RCS Paris: 384 518 114 B 
 
 
 

Statutory Auditorsô report on the allocation of existing or to-be-issued shares free of 
charge to Company staff members and/or staff members of associated companies 

and groups 

 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 June 2016  

Resolution n° 7 
 

 
 

To the shareholders, 
 
In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of the your Company accounts and in accordance with 
Article L. 225-197-1 of the French Code of Commerce, we present below our report on the 
project to authorise the allocation of existing or to-be-isssued shares free of charge to 
Company staff members (or some categories of staff members) and/or staff members of 
companies and economic interest groups associated with the Company under conditions 
laid down in Article L. 225-197-2 of the Code of Commerce, an operation upon which you 
are called to vote. 
Such allocations shall not involve a number of shares, existing or to-be-issued, that exceeds 
10% of the Company's share capital as it stands on the date on which the allocation decision 
by the Board of Directors is made. 
 
Your Board of Directors proposes that, on the basis of this report, you authorise, for a period 
of 24 months as from the date of this Meeting, the allocation of existing of to-be-issued 
shares free of charge.  
 
It is for the Board of Directors to prepare a report on this proposed transaction.  It is for us to 
report on the information provided on the proposed transaction. 
 
We have conducted our review in compliance with professional standards issued by the 
national auditing body (Compagnie nationale des commissaires aux comptes) relating to this 
operation. These standards required namely that we verify whether methods proposed and 
included in the Board of Directorsô report were in accordance with the law. 
 
We have no comments on the information provided in the Board of Directors' report 
regarding the proposed authorisation of allocation of shares free of charge. 

 

 

 

 

 
Paris La Défense and Paris, 18 April 2016  
 
 

The Statutory Auditors 
 

MAZARS - Jean-Luc BARLET 
ADN PARIS- Régis LAPOY 
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BUSINESS & DECISION 
Public limited company with a capital of ú551,808.25 

Headquarters: 153 rue de Courcelles, 75817 Paris cedex 17 
RCS Paris: 384 518 114 B 

 

Report of the independent third-party body on consolidated social, environmental and 
corporate information presented in the management report 

Financial period ended 31 December 2015 

 
 
 

To the shareholders,  
 
As an independent third-party body, the admissibility of the accreditation application of which has been 
approved by COFRAC under number 3-1058 (1) and a member of the Mazars, statutory auditor of 
BUSINESS & DECISION Company, we hereby present our report on the consolidated social, 
environmental and corporate information (hereinafter referred to as "SER information") disclosed in the 
management report for the financial period ended 31 December 2015, pursuant to provisions of Article 
L.225-102-1 of the Code of Commerce. 
 
Managementôs responsibility 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing a management report including SER Information as 
required by Article R.225-105-1 of the French Code of Commerce, presented in accordance with the 
procedures and definitions used by the Company (hereinafter the "Guidelines"); a summary of which 
appears in the management report. 
 
Independence and quality control 
 
Our independence is defined by regulations, our professional code of ethics and provisions of Article 
L.822-11 of the French Code of Commerce. In addition, we have established a system of quality control 
including documented policies and procedures to ensure compliance with rules of conduct, professional 
standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 
 
Independent auditorôs responsibility  
 
Our role, based on our work, is to: 
 
­ certify that the required SER Information is present in the management report or, if not, that an 

appropriate explanation is given in accordance with the third paragraph of Article R.225-105 of the 
French Code of Commerce (attestation of presentation of SER Information) 
 

­ draw a conclusion expressing limited assurance as to whether the SER Information, as a whole, has 
been fairly provided, in all material aspects, in accordance with the Guidelines (reasoned opinion on 
the accuracy of the SER Information) 

 
Our work was conducted by a team of 6 people between 24 February and 25 April over 4 weeks. 
 
We conducted the work described below in accordance with the professional standards applicable in 
France and the Order of 13 May 2013 which sets the conditions and procedures governing the way in 
which the independent body should perform its tasks and, as regards the sincere and reasonable 
opinion, with international standard ISAE 3000.(2). 
 
 
I - Attestation of presentation of SER Information 
 
We examined, based on interviews with the heads of departments concerned, the presentation of 
guidelines for sustainable development based on the social and environmental consequences of the 
Companyôs activities and its corporate commitments and, where appropriate, activities or programs 
arising therefrom. 
 
We compared the SER Information provided in the management report against the list set out in Article 
R.225-105-1 of the French Code of Commerce. 
 
Where certain consolidation information was not provided, we verified that an appropriate explanation 
was given in accordance with provisions contained in paragraph 3 of Article R.225-105 of the French 
Code of Commerce. 
We have verified that the SER Information covered the consolidated scope, i.e., the company and its 
subsidiaries within the meaning of Article L. 233-1 of the French Code of Commerce and the companies 
that it controls within the meaning of Article L. 233-3 of the French Code of Commerce, subject to the 
limits set forth in the methodological note of chapter I.6 "Accounting for the social and environmental 
consequences of BUSINESS & DECISIONôs activity" of the management report. 
 
Based on this work and considering the limitations mentioned above, we attest that the required SER 
Information is presented in the management report.  
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II - Reasoned opinion on the accuracy of SER Information 
 
Nature and scope of work  
 
We conducted some ten interviews with the people responsible for preparing the SER Information in the 
departments in charge of the SER Information collection process and, when appropriate, those 
responsible for internal control and risk management procedures, in order to: 
 
­ assess the suitability of the Guidelines with respect to their relevance, completeness, reliability, 
neutrality and understandability, taking into consideration, when relevant, the sectorôs best practices 
 

­ verify that a data collection, compilation, processing and control procedure has been implemented to 
ensure the completeness and consistency of the SER Information and review the internal control and 
risk management procedures used to prepare the SER Information 
 

We determined the nature and scope of the tests and controls according to the nature and significance 
of the SER Information with regard to the companyôs characteristics, the social and environmental 
challenges of its activities, its sustainable development strategies and the sectorôs best practices. 
 
 
Concerning the SER Information that we have considered to be most important (3):  
 
­ for the consolidating entity, we consulted the documentary sources and conducted interviews to 

corroborate the qualitative information (organisation, policies, actions), we performed analytical 
procedures on the quantitative information and verified, using sampling techniques, data calculations 
and consolidation, and we verified their consistency with the other information presented in the 
management report 
 

­ for a representative sample of entities  that we have selected (4) according to their activity, 
contribution to consolidated indicators, location and a risk analysis, we held interviews to verify the 
correct application of the procedures and performed substantive tests using sampling techniques, 
consisting in verifying the calculations made and reconciling the data with supporting evidence. 
 

The selected sample represented, on average, 85% of the workforce and 100% of the environmental 
quantitative information. 
 
Regarding the other consolidated SER Information, we have assessed its consistency in relation to our 
understanding of the Group. 
 
Finally, we have assessed the relevance of the explanations relating to, where necessary, the total or 
partial omission of certain information. 
 
We believe that the sampling methods and sizes of the samples we have used in exercising our 
professional judgment enable us to express limited assurance; a higher level of assurance would have 
required more in-depth verifications. Due to the use of sampling techniques and the other limits inherent 
to the operations of any information and internal control system, the risk that a material anomaly in the 
SER Information may remain undetected cannot be totally eliminated. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
 
Based on our work, we did not identify any material anomalies likely to call into question the fact that the 
SER Information, taken as a whole, is presented fairly, in accordance with the Guidelines. 
 
 
Paris La Défense, 11 April 2016 
 

The third-party independent body 
MAZARS SAS 

 
 
 

Jean-Luc BARLET 
Partner 

Emmanuelle RIGAUDIAS 
SER & Sustainable Development Partner 

  
 

 

 

 

(1) 1  For its scope, please visit www.cofrac.fr 
(2) 2  ISAE 3000 ï Assurance engagements other than audits or reviews of historical financial information 
(3) Workforce and its distribution; Recruitments for the year by gender; Departures for the year (resignations 

and dismissals); Number of training hours; Produced waste 
(4) Corporate information: France, Belgium and Switzerland; Environmental information: France 
 

S T A T E M E N T S  F R O M  T H E  P E R S O N  R E S P O N S I B L E  F O R  
T H E  R E F E R E N C E  D O C U M E N T  

 

http://www.cofrac.fr/
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NAME AND POSITION OF THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REFERENCE 
DOCUMENT 

 
 
Christophe Dumoulin, Business & Decision Chairman and Managing Director 

 
 
 
I certify, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, that all the 
information contained in this reference document is, to the best of my knowledge, accurate 
and that no information likely to affect its import was omitted from the reference document.  
 
 
I certify, to the best of my knowledge, that the annual and consolidated accounts, at 31 
December 2015, have been drawn in compliance with applicable accounting standards and 
give a true and fair view of holdings, financial position and income/loss for the company and 
group of companies included in the consolidation, and the management report presented on 
page 47 contains a table showing faithful information on business, income/loss and financial 
position evolution for the company and the group of companies included in the 
consolidation, as well as a description of the main risks and uncertainties to which they are 
confronted.  
 
 
I received a letter from the accountsô statutory auditors upon completion of their work, in 
which they stated having verified all information pertaining to the financial position and 
accounts contained in the present reference document, as well as having read the whole 
document. 
 
Historical financial information presented in the financial reports was subject to reports by e 
statutory auditors. These reports are annexed to said documents.   
 
 
 
Christophe Dumoulin 
Chairman and Managing Director  
 
Paris 25 April 2016 
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P E R S O N S  R E S P O N S I B L E  F OR THE ACCOUNTSô AUD I T   

 
 

STATUTORY AUDITORS 
 
 
 
 

 
STATUTORY AUDITORS 

 
Mazars SA, represented by Jean-Luc Barlet 

61, rue Henri Regnault, 92400 Courbevoie 
Public limited company with a capital of ú8,320,000 RCS NANTERRE                              784 

824 153  
 

- Beginning of mandate: appointed during the Ordinary General Meeting held on 23 June 
2011. 

- End of mandate: at the end of the Ordinary General Meeting convened to approve the 
accounts for the period ended 31 December 2016. 

 
 

ADN Paris, represented by Régis Lapoy 

109, rue de Courcelles - 75017 PARIS 
Limited liability company with a capital of ú100,000 

RCS PARIS 428 911 275 

- Beginning of mandate: appointed during the Combined General Meeting held on 22 June 
2009. 

- End of mandate: at the end of the Ordinary General Meeting convened to approve the 
accounts for the period ended 31 December 2014. 

- Renewed mandate at the Combined General Meeting held on 25 June 2015  
- End of mandate: at the end of the Ordinary General Meeting convened to approve the 

accounts for the period ended 31 December 2020. 
 
 
 
 
ALTERNATE AUDITORS 

 
Audit Synthèse SARL, represented by Thibault de Lembeye 

Place de Narvik, 11 rue de Téhéran, 75008 Paris 
 

- Beginning of mandate: appointed during the Combined General Meeting held on 22 June 
2009. 

- End of mandate: mandate that will expire at the end of the Ordinary General Meeting 
convened to approve the accounts for the period ended 31 December 2014. 

- Renewed mandate at the Combined General Meeting held on 25 June 2015  
- End of mandate: at the end of the Ordinary General Meeting convened to approve the 

accounts for the period ended 31 December 2020. 
 

 
David Chaudat 

34, boulevard Voltaire, 75011 Paris 

- Beginning of mandate: appointed during the Combined General Meeting held on 23 June 
2011 

- End of mandate: at the end of the Combined General Meeting convened to approve the 
accounts for the period ended 31 December 2016. 
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C R O S S - R E F E R E N C E  T A B L E  W I T H  T H E  C O M M U N I T Y  

R E G U L A T I O N  N °  8 0 9 - 2 0 4  L A Y - O U T  
 

 
 
This document serves as reference document. For ease of reading, the summary below directs to the main 
topics of the AMF general regulationôs application instructions (position ï recommendation n° 2009-16 
updated on 13 April 2015). 
 
 

1 Persons Responsible 83 

2 Statutory Auditors 84 

3 Selected Financial Information 5 

4 Risk Factors 25, 48 

5 Information about the issuer 71 

6 Business Overview  
6.1 Main Activities 3 
6.2 Main Markets 26 

7 Organisational Structure 10, 38 

8 Property, Plants and Equipment  
8.1 Information regarding any existing or planned material tangible fixed 

assets 
18, 31 

8.2 A description of any environmental issues that may affect the issuerôs 
use of these assets 

52  

9 Consolidated Operating and Financial result Review 9 

10 Cash flow and Capital 7, 37 

11 R&D, patents and licences 18, 32 

12 Trend information 46 

13 Profit forecasts or estimates 46  

14 Administrative, Management, and Supervisory bodies and Top 
Management 

 

14.1 Information on members  38 
14.2 Conflicting interests  40 

15 Remuneration and benefits 48 

16 Operation of administration and management bodies 38 

17 Employees 15 

18 Major shareholders 50 

19 Related party transactions 36, 76 

20 Financial information on the Companyôs assets and liabilities, 
financial position and profits and losses 

 

20.1 Historical Financial Information 5, 29 
20.2 Pro forma Financial Information  
20.3 Financial Statements - Annual Accounts 29 
20.4 Auditing of historical annual financial information  74 
20.5 Age of latest financial information 0 
20.6 Interim and other financial information  

21 Additional Information  
21.1 Share capital 71 
21.1.5 - information about terms of any acquisition rights and/or obligations 

oversubscribed but not fully paid capital or any undertaking to 
increase capital 

72 

21.1.6 - Information about any capital of any member of the Group which is 
under option or agreed conditionally or unconditionally, to be put 
under option and details of such options including those persons to 

whom such options relate. 

72 

21.1.7 - A history of share capital, highlighting the information about any 
changes, for the period covered by the historical financial information. 

73 

21.2 Memorandum and Articles of Association 71 
21.2.3 A description of the rights, preferences and restrictions attached to 

each class of existing shares. 
72 

22 Material contracts  

23 Third-party information, statements by experts and declaration of 
interests 

 

24 Documents accessible to the general public 3 

25 Information on holdings 39 

 


